SBAPP%WIZZL

MONDAY, MAY 18, 2020
CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA
Regular meeting 7:00 p.m.
Scappoose Council Chambers
33568 East Columbia Avenue

ITEM AGENDA TOPIC Action
Call to Order

Pledge of Allegiance
Roll Call
Approval of the Agenda

Public Comments ~ Please note: Due to COVID19 the City of Scappoose will only be
accepting public comments by email. Please email City Recorder Susan Reeves at
sreeves@cityofscappoose.org. We appreciate your understanding with this matter. Thank
you!

1. Consent Agenda ~ May 4, 2020 City Council meeting minutes
New Business First Reading/Public Hearing
2. Ord No. 890: An Ordinance Approving Annexation of Property to the City of

Scappoose and Amending the Zoning Map
Staff: City Planner Laurie Oliver

3. Resolution No. 20-08: A Resolution Adopting Cybersecurity Approval
Policies within the City of Scappoose
Staff: City Manager Michael Sykes

4. Resolution No. 20-09: A Resolution Adopting Red Flag Policies Approval
within the City of Scappoose
Staff: City Manager Michael Sykes

5. Stormwater Master Plan Agreement Approval
Staff: Public Works Director Dave Sukau and Assistant City Manager Alexandra Rains

6. Miller Road Wells Maintenance Approval
Staff: Public Works Director Dave Sukau and Water Superintendent Darryl Sykes

Announcements ~ information only
7. Calendar
City Manager, Councilors, and Mayor
Adjournment
**PLEASE NOTE: IF YOU WOULD LIKE TO SPEAK WITH CITY STAFF ABOUT A PARTICULAR
AGENDA ITEM, PLEASE CALL CITY RECORDER SUSAN REEVES 503-543-7146, EXT. 224, NO
LATER THAN 5:00 P.M. ON MONDAY, MAY 18, 2020**
This meeting will be conducted in a handicap accessible room. If special accommodations are needed,
please contact City Recorder, Susan Reeves at (503) 543-7146, ext. 224 in advance.
TTY 1-503-378-5938


mailto:sreeves@cityofscappoose.org

Call to Order

MONDAY, MAY 4, 2020
CITY COUNCIL MEETING
Regular meeting 7:00 p.m.
Scappoose Council Chambers
33568 East Columbia Avenue

Mayor Burge called the City Council meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

Pledge of Allegiance

Roll Call (present/in person)

Scott Burge Mayor
Michael Sykes City Manager
Susan M. Reeves City Recorder
Laurie Oliver City Planner

Remote/on the phone:
Council President Patrick Kessi
Councilor Megan Greisen
Councilor Joel Haugen
Councilor Josh Poling -
Councilor Brandon Lesowske
Councilor Pete McHugh

Assistant City Manager Alexandra Rains

Legal Counsel Peter Watts

Approval of the Agenda

Councilor Haugen moved. and Council President Kessi seconded the motion to approve the

agenda. Motion passed (7-0). Mayor Burge. ave: Council President Kessi, aye: Councilor

Greisen, aye; Councilor Haugen, aye; Councilor Poling, aye; Councilor Lesowske, aye and

Councilor McHugh, ave.

Public Comments

There were no emails/public comments received.

New Business
Proclamations ~

VFW Buddy Poppies

Mayor Burge read the VFW Buddy Poppies Proclamation.

City Council meeting minutes

May 4, 2020




National Small Business Month

Mayor Burge read the title of the National Small Business Month Proclamation.

National Law Enforcement Week

Mayor Burge read the title of the National Law Enforcement Week Proclamation.

National Public Works Week

Mayor Burge read the title of the National Public Works Week Proclamation.

Consent Agenda ~ April 6, 2020 City Council meeting minutes

Councilor Haugen moved, and Councilor McHugh seconded the motion to approve the Consent
Agenda ~ April 6, 2020 City Council meeting minutes. Motion passed (7-0). Mayor Burge, aye:

Council President Kessi, aye; Councilor Greisen, aye; Councilor Haugen, aye; Councilor Poling
aye; Councilor Lesowske, aye and Councilor McHugh, aye.

Peace Candle Easement Agreement

City Planner Laurie Oliver went over the staff report. She explained the FY 2019 - 2020 and FY
2020 - 2021 Council Goals included a goal to “Protect and Restore” the Peace Candle. The
current owner of the property, VW I PDX LLC, has cooperated with staff’s request to grant an
easement around the candle (Peace Candle Site Easement) and a separate easement that provides
access from SE 27 Street to the candle (Peace Candle Access Easement). The purpose for two
separate easements is to ensure that each easement correctly states what the City is and is not
responsible and/or liable for; e.g., within the site easement the City is responsible for repairing
and maintaining the Peace Candle, the landscaping within the retaining walls, the retaining walls
themselves, and lighting. Within the access easement, the City is not responsible/liable for the
maintenance of the owner’s pavement, striping, curbs or crosswalks. The owner has applied for
Site Development Review for a proposed 80-unit apartment complex to be located on SE 2"
Street, just north of Les Schwab and south of Goodwill, on the land where the Peace Candle is
located. Prior to land use approval, the owner has agreed to sign the Peace Candle Easement
Agreement. The Easement Agreement lays out the terms and conditions of the easements and
demonstrates that the owner intends to record the easements after land use approval and building
permit issuance. The site layout may change slightly so the final location of the access easement
is still being determined. Staff has included a conceptual location of the easements (see last page
of this packet); however, the final locations would be determined once the site layout is finalized.
The owner has reviewed and approved the Peace Candle Easement Agreement, Peace Candle
Site Easement, and Peace Candle Access Easement drafts. Since the recording of the easements
will have a fiscal impact in FY 20- 21 and beyond, staff seeks City Council approval to direct the
City Manager to enter into the Peace Candle Easement Agreement, thereby obligating the City to
assume the maintenance and repair of the Peace Candle moving forward. Fiscal Impact: For FY
2020 — 2021, the proposed budget includes $50,000 to perform initial repairs to the Peace
Candle, including: structural repair to the top of the Peace Candle where the flame is attached,

City Council meeting minutes May 4, 2020 2



replacement of the flame, new signage, electrical work, lighting, paint, and landscaping (within
the existing retaining walls). For FY 2021 — 2022 and beyond, the fiscal impact is unknown. The
initial repairs are expected to bring the Peace Candle up to standards so that minimal
maintenance would be required moving forward. The Easement Agreement specifies that the
City would complete minor landscaping within the retaining walls on a bi-monthly basis and
would inspect the Peace Candle annually. Based on the annual inspection, staff would determine
how much to include in that year’s budget for ongoing maintenance. Staff recommends that the
Council direct the City Manager to sign the Peace Candle Easement Agreement, as presented.

Council President Kessi asked does this easement obligate the City to maintain the candle if at
some point it was cost prohibitive, could we not maintain it and maybe place it in a different area
in the City. ~

City Planner Laurie Oliver replied on page four of five of the easement agreement, number 11
states ~ Termination Upon City’s Removal. “Notwithstanding mutual agreement requirements in
any other section of this Agreement, the City has the unilateral right to remove the Peace Candle,
or parts thereof, from the Property, and is not obligated to rebuild it”.

Councilor Poling stated he wants to make sure we handle this properly and we maintain the
candle and he feels this is a good plan moving forward.

Councilor Lesowske asked if there are any liabilities that they should be made aware of by taking
on the candle, especially with the property owner being so adjacent to the candle?

Legal Counsel Peter Watts replied that is one of the many issues that we had to go through, and
we actually added this property owner as an additional insured on the City’s general insurance
policy. He explained if there is an event, like an earthquake, that would cause the candle to come
down the City would be covered by any damage that it causes. He explained that is one of the
reasons that they wrote the maintenance in the way that they did because if there were to be a
natural disaster or something like that then at that point there could be a determination made of
whether it made sense to rebuild it on that site or if it made sense to rebuild it on a City owned
site or if it makes sense not to rebuild it at all. He explained they built that flexibility into the
agreement.

Councilor Lesowske asked if there is a possibility to get an idea of what a maintenance operating
budget would look like.

City Planner Laurie Oliver replied her understanding is the only thing staff would be maintaining
on a monthly basis would landscaping inside the retaining walls. She explained the idea is to
have really low maintenance. She stated ideally staff would be going out twice a month to look at
the area, not necessarily spending hours on site.

Councilor Haugen moved, and Council President Kessi seconded the motion that Council direct
the City Manager to sign the Peace Candle Easement Agreement as presented.

Mayor Burge explained this is one of the priorities of the Council and it is saving a bit of history.
He stated unfortunately, we aren’t able to save both the barn and the candle. He believes in

City Council meeting minutes May 4, 2020 3




discussions, the developer wanted to try to use the barn but the cost of upgrading the barn to
current standards was too high. He stated we are saving what we can of our history, and he thinks
that is a good thing.

Motion passed (7-0). Mavor Burge. aye: Council President Kessi, aye: Councilor Greisen, aye:
Councilor Haugen. ave: Councilor Poling, aye; Councilor Lesowske, aye and Councilor

McHugh. aye.

Resolution No. 20-07: OWRD Water Project Grant

Assistant City Manager Alexandra Rains went over the staff report. She explained Over the past
several years, City Council has identified local economic development as a priority and goal for
the City. Within that goal, Council has also identified several objectives including support of
OMIC and PCC, promotion of local businesses and support for development of the industrially
zoned property in the NE portion of the City. In furtherance of that goal and its associated
objectives, City Staff has worked to ensure that all master planning documents are up to date and
that the infrastructure identified in those plans is available to support both the City’s residents
and development. Specifically, a comprehensive update to the City’s Water Master was recently
completed and the Plan identified the need for new sources of water in the near term, a need that
staff hopes to be able to fulfill in significant part with the addition of a new basalt well near the
Miller Rd. Treatment Plant. In order to help cover the cost of said well, Staff has identified the
Oregon Water Resources Department’s (OWRD) Water Project Grant Program and, with
Council’s approval, would like to submit an application for this grant cycle which closes on May
28%®2020. Additionally, should Council wish to move forward with an application, Staff
requests a letter of support from Council, a copy of which has been provided along with this
report. Fiscal Impact: The City estimates that the Basalt Well at the Miller Rd. Treatment Plant
will cost a total of $1.7 million. The Water Project Grant has a match requirement of 25%, or
$425,000, in the case of this project. Those funds will be budgeted for FY 2020-2021. Staff
recommends City Council approve Resolution No. 20-07, thereby authorizing the City Manager
to submit an application to OWRD’s Water Project Grant program and delegating authority to
the Mayor to sign a letter of support on behalf of Council.

Councilor Haugen asked, going ahead with the grant, if things take a turn for the worst and
economic development comes to a complete halt, are we going to be obligated to drill a well at
some point?

Assistant City Manager Alexandra Rains replied, as far as the recommendations in the water
master plan, we will need new sources of water in the not too distant future, regardless. She
stated it is important that we do locate new sources of water and this particular well would
actually be drilled into the basalt aquifer, which we haven’t accessed yet.

Councilor Greisen moved, and Councilor Haugen seconded the motion that Council approve
Resolution No 20-07, thereby authorizing the City Manager to submit an application to OWRD’s
Water Project Grant program and delegating authority to the Mayor to sign a letter of support on
behalf of Council. Motion passed (7-0). Mayor Burge, aye: Council President Kessi, aye;

City Council meeting minutes May 4, 2020 4




Councilor Greisen, aye; Councilor Haugen, aye: Councilor Poling, ave; Councilor Lesowske, ave
and Councilor McHugh, ave.

COVID-19 Hardship Program

City Manager Michael Sykes went over the staff report. He explained the Scappoose community,
like many communities across America and the World are suffering from the social, mental,
health and economic hardships that are being triggered by the battle with the COVID-19
pandemic. Due to the devastating impact that the COVID-19 pandemic has had on our
community, the City of Scappoose is considering offering a program that will help those
affected. The City is proposing to assist those individuals who have recently lost their jobs, or
who own a small business that has had to close their doors to the public because of the
Governor’s Executive Order No. 20-12. Our plan is to offer a onetime credit of up to a $100
applied to their Utility bill for any individuals who after March 13, 2020, lost their job, or to
small business that has had to close due to the virus. Citizens can download an application from
our website or contact the City at 503-543-7146 x221 for an application to be mailed to them.
Once received, the City will determine if the applicant is eligible and notify them of our decision.
This program is not available to reimburse any payments that have already been received. Each
applicant who is approved will have a onetime credit of up to a $100 applied to their Utility Bill.
This program expires on June 30, 2020. Fiscal Impact: The City will appropriate $25,000 from
water and sewer revenues to fund this program. Staff recommends that City Council authorize the
City Manager to implement the COVID-19 Hardship program effective immediately.

Councilor Poling asked, how do people apply for this?

City Manager Sykes replied, we will have an application online that they will fill out and submit
to City Hall. =

Councilor Poiing stated he thinks this is a good idea.

Councilor Lesowske stated he wants to applaud City Manager Sykes and his team for putting this
together for our citizens and thinking about the hardship that some citizens are currently facing
and that others will be facing potentially in the near future. He stated we are seeing an
unprecedented number of people who are on unemployment and he knows we are all excited to
see an opportunity to see people go back to work here shortly but it doesn’t look like all of those
people will have that opportunity, so he thinks having the $100, one-time credit is a great step
forward. He stated he is concerned about the long-term impact that this may have on our citizens.
He stated he would also think about what we are planning to do in a future scenario if this is a
long-term situation for them.

Mayor Burge explained he has had a lot of discussions with City Manager Sykes about this and
what they decided to do is a program through the end of this fiscal year and then see where we
are. He explained they wanted to do something quickly that was for the rest of this fiscal year
and see where it goes, and then reassess.

Councilor Lesowske asked is there a program where people can round up and contribute a
portion of their utility bill for grants, is that something we can implement?

City Council meeting minutes May 4, 2020 5



Mayor Burge replied currently we don’t have a program like that. He is not sure if it is a software
issue with our billing system, but it is something we can look into.

Councilor Lesowske replied he thinks that would be a fantastic opportunity for those who could
also support others with payments.

Councilor McHugh stated he thinks that is a good idea.

Councilor Lesowske moved, and Councilor Poling seconded the motion that Council adopt the
COVID-19 Hardship program and direct the City Manager to implement the provisions as
proposed. Motion passed (7-0). Mayor Burge, aye; Council President Kessi, aye; Councilor

Greisen, aye; Councilor Haugen, aye; Councilor Poling, aye:; Councilor Lesowske, aye and
Councilor McHugh, ave.

Announcements ~ information only
Calendar

Mayor Burgé went over the calendar.
City Manager, Councilors, and Mayor

City Manager Sykes explained even though City Hall is closed to the public, things are still very
busy. He mentioned the Grabhorn property is now City of Scappoose property and there should
be some design work in the next couple of weeks. He wanted to let Council know that since the
sidewalk program was created, we have had three individuals sign up for that program. He
explained we have also used some of those funds to fix City sidewalks. He explained Columbia
Avenue by the Treatment Plant has been repaired. He explained there will be an informational
brochure about the City coming out soon. He explained we are in the midst of putting an ad in
the Spotlight that basically lets the community know what local restaurants are open for
business. He explained the City hired Chrissy Marquardt and the ad is something she worked on.
He explained the walls at PCC are going up. He explained we are in the process for advertising
for a lateral Police Officer and lateral Police Sergeant.

Council President Kessi thanked City Manager Sykes for the candle because two years ago
Council mentioned it at the goal setting meeting, and he appreciates Michael following up on
that and preserving the peace candle. He explained he had a neighbor suggest a picnic table
being placed at Creekview Park and so he would like to pass that along to the Park Committee
and the Council Liaison to the Park Committee.

Councilor Haugen stated he just wants to remind everyone to be safe and wear a mask when you
are in proximity to others.

City Council meeting minutes May 4, 2020 6



Councilor Poling stated he would like to say everybody has done a phenomenal job and we are in
unprecedented times. He explained everyone has stepped up and he would like to thank everyone
for what they have done during this time to make this as easy of a process as possible.

Councilor Lesowske explained he would like to highlight the heroic work of our citizens that are
on the frontlines; our health care workers, our first responders, our police officers and also the
teachers that have been giving so much at this time. He knows there is a lot of additional stress
on families right now. He is asking everyone to take the time to be kind to one another and work
with each other. He stated it is nice to see small businesses looking like they potentially could
start reopening some of their operations. He stated it looks like we are taking some strides to
move forward through of all of this and keep optimistic that we will all work through it together.

Councilor McHugh stated he wanted to second what all the other Councilors said, he agrees with
all of that. He would like to express a concern about the Scappoose Spotlight because business
has changed there, and we lost our editor and he is a little concerned that we are strongly losing
our identity as a town. He stated a newspaper is a very big part of who we are and right now we
are pretty much sharing the paper with other communities. He explained he did send an email to
the managing editor of the Pamplin Media Group and he responded back very promptly and
professionally, and he is hopeful that the layoffs are temporary. He explained the managing
editor did explain that it is their goal to at some point to return to business as usual and he is
hopeful that will be sooner than later. He explained we have lost Darryl, who knows for how
long, but he does think he has done a terrific job for us over the years. He would encourage
anybody to send him a note of support. ~

Mayor Burge explained he has been busy doing lots of things. He has been working closely with
City Manager Sykes on issues regarding COVID, including sitting in on the League of Oregon
Cities calls every Friday getting updates. He has been getting updates and responding to the
Governor’s Office regarding the reopening guidance, especially when it comes to the City. He
explained one thing he responded to was regarding reopening public spaces and some of the
guidance they were giving was having staff members observe public spaces to make sure people
are obeying the social distancing and his response was that is a heavy lift for a small city to do
with parks and we are just going to have to do signage and trust that people are going to do the
right thing because we can’t constantly monitor them. He stated reopening could happen sooner
than we think just based on the numbers and what the criteria are. He is hopeful that we can start
moving forward to start help the businesses. He is grateful that we have the utility bill program
that we passed tonight. He asked if there is a way to program the fountain to come on and loop
through the songs in a way to honor the frontline workers? He stated that would be neat to do
this at night to have the lights going to get the full effect to honor people and show we are doing
everything we can to support them and our community. He reminded Council to respond to the
housing survey that went out from City Planner Laurie Oliver.

Adjournment

Mayor Burge adjourned the meeting at 7:56 p.m.

City Council meeting minutes May 4, 2020 7




Mayor Scott Burge
Attest:

City Recorder Susan M. Reeves, MMC

City Council meeting minutes May 4, 2020




City of Scappoose

Council Action & Status Report

Date Submitted: 5/15/2020

Agenda Date Requested: 5/18/2020

To: Scappoose City Council
Through: Scappoose Planning Commission
From: Laurie Oliver, CFM

Planning Department Supervisor

Subject: Request by OHM Equity Partners LLC to annex
approximately 1.6 acres of vacant land at the
eastern terminus of SE Maple Street with a
corresponding zone change to R-4 and request
for concurrent subdivision approval for the first
12-lot Cottage Housing Development.

Type of Action Requested:

[ ] Resolution [ X ] Ordinance
[ ] Formal Action [ ] Report Only

Issue:

OHM Equity Partners LLC requests approval to annex 1.6 acres of vacant land at
the eastern terminus of SE Maple Street with a corresponding zone change to R-
4 and requests concurrent approval for a 12-lot subdivision utilizing the Cottage
Housing Development Code. The subdivision proposal involves 4 cottages
clustered north of the eastern extension of SE Maple Street through the subject
site, and 12 cottages clustered south of SE Maple Street.

Analysis:
The applicant is requesting approval of three separate applications. Planning

Commission provides a recommendation to City Council for both the annexation
application and the zone change application, and Council is the decision
authority on both. While the Planning Commission would normally be the
approval authority for the proposed subdivision and associated cottage housing
development, due to consolidation of proceedings, the City Council will decide
the subdivision application as well (based on Planning Commission’s
recommendation).



The Planning Commission staff report, revised May 13, 2020 (attached as Exhibit
B to Ordinance 890) contains the approval criteria for each application and the
findings related to how the applications meet the applicable criteria.

The Planning Commission held a public hearing on this application on May 14,
2020, during which time the Commissioners unanimously voted to forward a
recommendation of approval of all three applications to the City Council.

An ordinance to approve the annexation, zone change, and cottage housing
subdivision is attached for the Council’s review. Approval of the ordinance would
constitute a final decision since an election is not required for annexation in the
City of Scappoose.

Options:
1. Approve the annexation, zone change and subdivision application, adopt

the findings in ANX1-19/ZC1-19/SB1-19 Planning Commission staff report
revised May 13, 2020 and adopt proposed Ordinance 890, as presented.

2. Approve the annexation, zone change and subdivision application, adopt
the findings in ANX1-19/ZC1-19/SB1-19 Planning Commission staff report
revised May 13, 2020 and adopt proposed Ordinance 890, as amended.

3. Adopt findings demonstrating that the application does not comply with the
Scappoose Municipal Code and deny the application.

Recommendation: Staff recommends that the Council approve the annexation,
zone change and subdivision applications and adopt Ordinance 890, as
presented.

Suggested Motions:

1. I move that Council approve the annexation, zone change and subdivision
applications and adopt the findings in the ANX1-19/Z2C1-19/SB1-19
Planning Commission staff report revised May 13, 2020, as presented.

(if the first motion passes, make the second motion below)
2. | move that the Council adopt Ordinance 890 as presented.
Please find attached:
Ordinance 890 - with attachments

e Exhibit A — Legal description of annexation boundary
e Exhibit B — Planning Commission staff report, revised May 13, 2020




ORDINANCE NO. 890

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING ANNEXATION OF PROPERTY TO THE CITY OF
SCAPPOOSE AND AMENDING THE ZONING MAP

WHEREAS, an application was filed by OHM Equity Partners, LLC to annex property
described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein, to the City of Scappoose; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 17.136.070 of the Scappoose Municipal Code, the
property described in Exhibit A would automatically be zoned Low Density Residential (R-1)
upon annexation due to the property’s “Suburban Residential” Comprehensive Plan designation;
however, the applicant has requested Moderate Density Residential (R-4) zoning; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to ORS 222.120 notice was given and the City held public
hearings pursuant to Scappoose Municipal Code Chapters 17.22, 17.136 and 17.162; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a hearing on the application on May 14,
2020 and the City Council held a hearing on the application on May 18, 2020; now therefore,

THE CITY OF SCAPPOOSE ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:
Section 1. The application to annex the property described in Exhibit A is hereby approved.

Section 2.  The City of Scappoose Zoning Map is hereby amended, for the property described
in Exhibit A, to Moderate Density Residential (R-4);

Section 3. In support of the above annexation and zone change, the City Council hereby
adopts the findings, conclusions and recommendations of the Planning Commission Staff Report
revised May 13, 2020, attached as Exhibit B.

Section 3. The annexation approved by this Ordinance shall take effect 30 days after
passage.

Section 4. Upon the effective date of this ordinance, the City Planner is directed to conform
the Zoning Map to the provisions of this ordinance.

Section 5. Upon the effective date of this Ordinance, the City Recorder is directed to provide
all notices of annexation required under state law, including but not limited to providing notice to
the Columbia County Clerk and Assessor, the Secretary of State, and the Department of
Revenue.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council this day of June 2020 and signed by
the Mayor and City Recorder in authentication of its passage.

CITY OF SCAPPOOSE, OREGON

Page 1 - ORDINANCE NO. 890



Scott Burge, Mayor

First Reading: May 18, 2020
Second Reading:

Attest:

Susan M. Reeves, MMC
City Recorder

Page 2 - ORDINANCE NO. 890



EXHIBIT A

BOUNDARY LEGAL DESCRIPTION
LOCATED IN THE SE 1/4 OF

SECTION 12, T3N, R2W, WM,
COLUMBIA COUNTY, OREGON
APRIL 18, 2020

A TRACT OF LAND LOCATED IN THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 12, T3N, R2W, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN,
COLUMBIA COUNTY, OREGON, BEING THE LAND DESCRIBED IN DEED BOOK 245, PAGE 818 (1983),
COLUMBIA COUNTY DEED RECORDS, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT A 5/8" IRON REBAR AT THE SE CORNER OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN DEED
INSTRUMENT NO. 2015—-003988, COLUMBIA COUNTY DEED RECORDS, SAID POINT OF BEGINNING IS ALSO
ON THE WEST LINE OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN DEED BOOK 213, PAGE 628, (1977), COLUMBIA
COUNTY DEED RECORDS; THENCE S03'33'54’E ALONG SAID WEST LINE, 398.78 FEET TO A POINT ON
THE NORTH LINE OF PARTITION PLAT NO. 1998-24, COLUMBIA COUNTY PLAT RECORDS, SAID POINT IS
S86°48’40”W, 0.37 FEET FROM A 5/8" IRON REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC CAP INSCRIBED "MARTINEZ
PLS 2536”; THENCE S86°48'40"W ALONG SAID NORTH LINE OF PARTITION PLAT NO. 1998—24, 174.30
FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF "STONEGATE”, COLUMBIA COUNTY PLAT RECORDS, SAID POINT IS
S86°48'40"W, 0.36 FEET FROM A 1/2” IRON PIPE; THENCE NO03°34'29"W ALONG SAID EAST LINE OF
"STONEGATE”, THE EAST LINE OF SE MAPLE STREET, AND THE EAST LINE OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN
DEED INSTRUMENT NO. 2012-002750, COLUMBIA COUNTY DEED RECORDS, 397.61 FEET TO A POINT AT
THE SW CORNER OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN DEED INSTRUMENT NO. 2015-003988, COLUMBIA
COUNTY DEED RECORDS, SAID POINT IS S03°34°08"E, 32.58 FEET FROM A 5/8” IRON REBAR; THENCE
N86°25'31"E ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE LANDS DESCRIBED IN SAID DEED INSTRUMENT NO.
2015-003988, 174.36 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

THE LAND DESCRIBED ABOVE CONTAINS 1.59 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, AND IS SUBJECT TO AND
TOGETHER WITH ALL EASEMENTS AND RESERVATIONS OF RECORD.

( REGISTERED )
PROFESSIONAL
LAND SURVEYOR

LA, Yo

OREGON

JuLy 29, 1995 JSOINSON LAND SURVEYING NV
ROBERT ALAN JOHNSON
#2725 J 10185 SW HOODVIEW DR, TIGARD, OR 97224

EXPIRES 6/30/21 503—407—-9966 jsurvey@frontier.com jlsurvey.com


AutoCAD SHX Text
503-407-9966  jsurvey@frontier.com  jlsurvey.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOHNSON LAND SURVEYING, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10185 SW HOODVIEW DR, TIGARD, OR 97224

AutoCAD SHX Text
OREGON

AutoCAD SHX Text
REGISTERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROFESSIONAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND SURVEYOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROBERT ALAN JOHNSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
#2725

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXPIRES 6/30/21

AutoCAD SHX Text
JULY 25, 1995

AutoCAD SHX Text
A TRACT OF LAND LOCATED IN THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 12, T3N, R2W, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, COLUMBIA COUNTY, OREGON, BEING THE LAND DESCRIBED IN DEED BOOK 245, PAGE 818 (1983), COLUMBIA COUNTY DEED RECORDS, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A 5/8" IRON REBAR AT THE SE CORNER OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN DEED INSTRUMENT NO. 2015-003988, COLUMBIA COUNTY DEED RECORDS, SAID POINT OF BEGINNING IS ALSO ON THE WEST LINE OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN DEED BOOK 213, PAGE 628, (1977), COLUMBIA COUNTY DEED RECORDS; THENCE S03°33'54"E ALONG SAID WEST LINE, 398.78 FEET TO A POINT ONTHE NORTH LINE OF PARTITION PLAT NO. 1998-24, COLUMBIA COUNTY PLAT RECORDS, SAID POINT IS S86°48'40"W, 0.37 FEET FROM A 5/8" IRON REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC CAP INSCRIBED "MARTINEZPLS 2536"; THENCE S86°48'40"W ALONG SAID NORTH LINE OF PARTITION PLAT NO. 1998-24, 174.30FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF "STONEGATE", COLUMBIA COUNTY PLAT RECORDS, SAID POINT IS S86°48'40"W, 0.36 FEET FROM A 1/2" IRON PIPE; THENCE N03°34'29"W ALONG SAID EAST LINE OF"STONEGATE", THE EAST LINE OF SE MAPLE STREET, AND THE EAST LINE OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN DEED INSTRUMENT NO. 2012-002750, COLUMBIA COUNTY DEED RECORDS, 397.61 FEET TO A POINT AT THE SW CORNER OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN DEED INSTRUMENT NO. 2015-003988, COLUMBIA COUNTY DEED RECORDS, SAID POINT IS S03°34'08"E, 32.58 FEET FROM A 5/8" IRON REBAR; THENCEN86°25'31"E ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE LANDS DESCRIBED IN SAID DEED INSTRUMENT NO.2015-003988, 174.36 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. THE LAND DESCRIBED ABOVE CONTAINS 1.59 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, AND IS SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH ALL EASEMENTS AND RESERVATIONS OF RECORD. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOUNDARY LEGAL DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMBIA COUNTY, OREGON

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATED IN THE SE 1/4 OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRIL 18, 2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXHIBIT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION 12, T3N, R2W, WM,


EXHIBIT B

ANX1-19/ZC1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision REVISED May 13, 2020

CITY OF SCAPPOOSE STAFF REPORT

Request: Approval of an application for Annexation (ANX1-19), Zone Change (ZC1-19),
and Subdivision (SB1-19) for a 1.6-acre parcel proposed for a 12-lot Cottage
Housing Development. The property is identified as Columbia County Assessor
Tax Lot 3212-DA-04400. Based on the requirements of the Scappoose
Development Code, if this property is annexed it would automatically receive Low
Density Residential (R-1) zoning since the site has a “Suburban Residential”
Comprehensive Plan Map designation; however, the applicant proposes to rezone
the property to Moderate Density Residential (R-4).

Location: The site is located at the eastern terminus of SE Maple Street. See attached Vicinity
Map (Exhibit 1).

Applicant: OHM Equity Partners LLC
Owner(s): OHM Equity Partners LLC
EXHIBITS

Vicinity Map & Columbia County Assessor Map (pg. 67)
Application Forms (pg. 69)

Applicant’s Narrative (pg.77)

Legal Description (pg. 162)

Preliminary Civil and Landscape Plans (pg. 164)

Cover Sheet, Sheet P-1

Existing Conditions Plan, Sheet P-2
Existing/Proposed City Limits and Zoning Map, Sheet P-3
Aerial Photograph/Future Streets Plan, Sheet P-4
Preliminary Plat, Sheet P-5

Preliminary Site Plan, Sheet P-6

Preliminary Grading Plan, Sheet P-7
Preliminary Maple St./Utility Profile, Sheet P-8
Preliminary Section Views, Sheet P-9
Preliminary Storm Plan, Sheet P-10

Preliminary Storm Profile, Sheet P-11
Preliminary Sewer & Water Plan, Sheet P-12
Preliminary Sewer Profile, Sheet P-13
Preliminary Landscape Plan, Sheet P-14
Preliminary Irrigation Plan, Sheet P-15

e Preliminary Franchise Utilities Plan, Sheet P-16
Floor Plans, Elevations, and Color Palette (pg.180)

7. Residential Density Calculations (pg.183)

Nk W=
e © 06 6 06 06 0 0 0 o o

o

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 8 of 278


Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 67)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 69)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 77)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 162)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 164)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg.180)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg.183)


ANX1-19/ZC1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision REVISED May 13, 2020

8. Vehicle Turning Diagrams (pg. 185)

9. Preliminary Stormwater Report, dated April 18,2019 (pg.189)

10. Geotechnical Engineering Report, (appendices available upon request), dated March 27,
2019 (pg-211)

11. Traffic Analysis Report (appendices available upon request), dated April 2019 (pg.233)

12. Traffic Analysis Memorandum, dated November 7, 2019 (pg.250)

13.  Preliminary Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (pg.254)

14.  Service Provider Letters (pg. 259)

15.  Comments from Public Works Director, dated March 30, 2020 (P9-264)

16. Comments from Scappoose School District, dated March 30, 2020 (pg.265)

17. Comments from Columbia County Land Development Services Department, dated March
31,2020 (9. 266)
18. Comments from Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development, dated April

1,2020 (pg. 267)
19. Columbia River PUD referral comment, dated April 9, 2020 (pg. 268)
20. Comments from Scappoose Rural Fire Protection District, dated April 20, 2020 (9. 269)
21. Comments from the Scappoose Drainage Improvement Company, dated April 10, 2020 (pg. 270)
22.  Public comment from Vicki Mason, dated May 7, 2020 and responses by Charbonneau
Engineering, Public Works Director, and City Engineer (revised May 13, 2020) (pg. 271)
23. Public comments from Noparat Davis, two emails, both dated May 13, 2020 (revised May
13, 2020) (pg. 275)
SUBJECT SITE
e The subject site consists of one parcel with an area of 1.6 acres. The parcel is located at the
eastern terminus of SE Maple Street, east of SE 4™ Street, and is identified as Columbia County
Assessor Tax Lot 3212-DA-04400. See Exhibit 1.

e The subject site is designated as Suburban Residential (SR) on the Comprehensive Plan map.
The site is adjacent to City Limits on the west and south sides. Adjoining properties within the
City are zoned Low Density Residential (R-1) to the west and Medium Density Residential (R-
4) to the south (see Exhibit 5, Sheet P-3). The subject site and adjoining properties outside
City Limits are zoned Single Family Residential, 10,000 square foot minimum lot size (R-10)
by Columbia County. All the abutting properties are in residential use.

e The site is within the boundaries of the Scappoose Rural Fire Protection District and the
Scappoose Public School District. The site is currently under the police protection of the
Columbia County Sheriff’s Department.

e According to Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) 41009C0463D, dated 11/26/10, the property
is located outside the Special Flood Hazard Area. The southeastern corner of the site (totaling
approximately 25 square feet) is located in the Scappoose Drainage District and is protected
from the one percent annual chance (100-year) flood by a dike. The Scappoose Local Wetlands
Inventory Map does not depict wetlands within or near the property.

e The site is currently vacant and is vegetated with grasses plus trees along the southern and
eastern boundaries. The site slopes gently downward from west to east, with an overall grade
difference of only 4-5 feet.

2

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 9 of 278


Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
 (pg. 185)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg.189)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg.211)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg.233)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg.250)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg.254)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 259)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 264)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg.265)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 266)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 267)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 268)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 269)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 270)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 271)

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
(pg. 275)


ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020

Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision
OBSERVATIONS

CONSOLIDATED LAND USE APPLICATIONS

The applicant is requesting approval of three separate applications. Planning Commission
provides a recommendation to City Council for both the annexation application and the zone
change application, and Council is the decision authority on both. While the Planning
Commission would normally be the approval authority for the proposed subdivision and
associated cottage housing development, due to consolidation of proceedings, the City Council
will decide the subdivision application as well (based on Planning Commission’s
recommendation).

As the development proposal is dependent upon the annexation and zone change, the
observations below are divided into two groups: (1) Annexation and Zone Change, and (2)
Cottage Housing Subdivision.

Annexation and Zone Change Observations

CONCURRENT ANNEXATION AND ZONE CHANGE APPLICATIONS

The site is currently zoned Single-Family Residential (R-10) by Columbia County and the
applicant has requested annexation into city limits. According to Section 17.136.070 of the
Scappoose Development Code, since the parcel has a Suburban Residential (SR)
Comprehensive Plan designation, upon annexation the land shall automatically be zoned Low
Density Residential (R-1). However, the applicant has also applied to have the City re-zone
the property to Moderate Density Residential, or R-4 (see Exhibit 5, Sheet P-3). The applicant
has not requested an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan map. As the re-zone is dependent
upon annexation, which would typically result in R-1 zoning based on the SR plan designation,
this report and the applicant’s narrative discuss the impacts of moderate density (R-4)
development in comparison to low density (R-1) development.

TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS

As required by Scappoose Municipal Code 17.22.050, proposals to amend the zoning map
must be reviewed to determine whether they significantly affect a transportation facility
pursuant to Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-012-0060 — Transportation Planning Rule
(TPR). The applicant’s transportation report (Exhibit 11) and supplemental memo (Exhibit
12) analyzed a reasonable worst-case scenario under the R-4 zone to address the Transportation
Planning Rule. The report estimates that if the site were developed with 18 residences (the
most intense development under the R-4 zone), the site could be expected to generate
approximately 170 average daily trips, including 18 PM Peak Hour trips and 13 AM Peak Hour
trips.

While the applicant is proposing a 12-unit Cottage Housing Development, the R-4 zone also
permits duplexes, tri-plexes, and four-plexes. In case the property is annexed but is instead
later developed with multi-family housing, the applicant’s transportation engineer analyzed
not only the anticipated 12 units but also a scenario with up to 18 units.

3

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 10 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020

Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

In accordance with TPR requirements, the applicant’s transportation engineer examined traffic
operations in the year 2035 (corresponding to the planning year in the Scappoose
Transportation System Plan, or TSP). This analysis indicates that both the E. Columbia
Avenue/SE 4" Street/NE West Lane Road and SE Maple Street/Highway 30 intersections
would have LOS “F’ in 2035 either under the proposed 12-residence scenario or the worst-case
18-residence scenario, while the other intersections would operate at LOS “C’ or better. The
analysis demonstrated that for the failing intersections, the v/c ratio in 2035 is the same for
both the proposed 12-residence scenario or the worst-case 18-residence scenario. The
supplemental traffic memo (Exhibit 12) demonstrates that the SE Maple Street/Highway 30
intersection would meet ODOT’s alternative mobility targets.

Since the SE Maple Street/Highway 30 intersection is under the Oregon Department of
Transportation’s jurisdiction, ODOT was provided the opportunity to comment on the
annexation and zone change. ODOT staff declined to provide written comments. In verbal
communication with ODOT staff on March 30, 2020, ODOT indicated that unless the rezone
involved more than 400 trips daily, they did not need to provide a comment on the application
(the worst case scenario of 18-residences would only be expected to generate 170 daily trips).

Cottage Housing Subdivision Observations

PROPOSED COTTAGE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

In addition to the annexation and rezone request, the applicant has requested approval of a
Cottage Housing Development as part of the same application. If the annexation were denied,
then the cottage housing development application would also be denied as it would be outside
the City’s jurisdiction. If the annexation were approved but the re-zone were denied, then the
cottage housing development application would also be denied as it would not be following
the proper approval procedure (if the site were zoned R-1, the cottage housing would require
a conditional use permit).

As described in the applicant’s narrative (Exhibit 3) the proposed Cottage Housing
Development would consist of a cottage cluster on the north side of SE Maple Street with 4
cottages and a cluster on the south side with 8 cottages. Each cottage is located on an individual
lot with private open space in the rear and front yards of the parcel. Both cottage clusters
include a commonly maintained tract with a minimum of 2 parking spaces for each unit. The
tracts provide a variety of common open space amenities including lawn areas, benches, picnic
tables, barbeque grills, and a covered structure. The proposed walking paths lead from each
cottage to public sidewalks along SE Maple Street, on-site parking lots, and the proposed
common open space amenities.

PROPOSED SUBDIVISION, STREET SYSTEM, AND RIGHT-OF-WAY DEVELOPMENT

The applicant proposes to subdivide the property into 12 lots and two tracts, as illustrated in
Exhibit 5, Sheet P-5. As part of the subdivision, the applicant would extend SE Maple Street
through the site, terminating at the eastern property line, which would accommodate a future
street layout on neighboring properties similar to that shown in Exhibit 5, Sheet P-4. The City
has not required the applicant to connect to the SE 6" Street right-of-way stubbed to the

4

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 11 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020

Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

southern boundary of the site, since that segment of 6™ Street does not align with the existing
improved 6" Street and would result in an unsafe offset intersection at SE EIm Street.

North of the proposed street extension, Lots 1 through 4 would have sizes ranging from 1,681
to 2,624 square feet, while south of the street, Lots 5 through 12 would range from 1,664 to
2,630 square feet. Tracts A and B would accommodate the required common open space and
the parking areas.

Access to the site will occur via the eastern terminus of SE Maple Street, which at this location
is designated as a local street in the City’s Transportation System Plan (TSP), for which the
standard right-of-way width is 54 feet (Maple Street is a collector from SE 4th Street to SW
4th Street). To be consistent with the existing right-of-way width to the west, the applicant
proposes to dedicate a 60-foot right-of-way width. The street extension must be improved to
meet the City’s local street standards, including a 32-foot paved width with curb and gutter, 5-
foot planter (excluding curb) with street trees, and 6-foot sidewalks. The applicant’s
preliminary plans (Exhibit 5, Sheets P-6 and P-7) depict a 36-foot paved width, 5-foot planter
(excluding curb), and 6-foot sidewalks; while narrower than the existing 44-foot paved section,
it complies with the City’s collector standard since the street will be extended to the east in the
future and provide access to the signalized intersection at Highway 30. The applicant also
proposes an 8-foot public utility easement to accommodate franchise utilities as required
(Exhibit 5, Sheet P-5).

TRANSPORTATION ANALYSIS

The subdivision application requires analysis of traffic impacts in the buildout year (assumed
to be 2021). The applicant submitted a Traffic Analysis Report (Exhibit 11) and supplemental
memo (Exhibit 12) to analyze traffic impacts.

The applicant’s transportation engineer estimates that the 12 new cottages in the proposed
subdivision would generate approximately 113 average daily trips, including 12 PM Peak Hour
trips and 9 AM Peak Hour trips, using Institute of Transportation Engineers standard trip
generation ratios for single-family detached residences.

The Traffic Analysis Report analyzed the effect that these additional trips would have on the
local street network. The study focused on five nearby intersections: SE Maple Street/SE 3
Street, SE Maple Street/SE 4™ Street, SE Maple Street/Highway 30, SE Elm Street/SE 6th Elm
Street, and E. Columbia Avenue/SE 4" Street/NE West Lane Road. The SE Maple Street
/Highway 30 intersection is under Oregon Department of Transportation jurisdiction while the
remaining intersections are under City jurisdiction.

The traffic analysis examined the effect of the proposed subdivision and other approved and
pending developments and concluded that all of the study intersections will operate at a LOS
(level of service) of ‘E’ or better through the year 2021 buildout period. The study also
concluded that all intersections meet or exceeds the City of Scappoose’s level of service
standards with the exception of the E. Columbia Avenue/SE 4" Street/NE West Lane Road
intersection (the 2016 Transportation System Plan (TSP) specifies that all-way stop-controlled
intersections have a target of LOS ‘D’ or better). The study submitted by the applicant also

5

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 12 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020

Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

asserts that the E. Columbia Avenue/SE 4™ Street/NE West Lane Road intersection would have
the same Level of Service ‘E’ in 2021 with or without the proposed development. The SE
Maple Street/Highway 30 intersection would have a year 2021 volume-to-capacity (v/c) ratio
of 0.63 with or without the development, which the applicant’s traffic analysis indicates meets
ODOT’s mobility standards.

The traffic analysis indicates that the E. Columbia Avenue/SE 4" Street/NE West Lane Road
intersection meets signal warrants in the year 2021, even without the proposed development.
The TSP identifies project #14 for this intersection, consisting of a traffic signal or roundabout,
with an estimated cost of $500,000 in 2015 dollars. However, the project is labeled as
‘aspirational’ in the TSP, which means that it “likely would not have city or state funding by
2035.” Staff has not proposed any conditions of approval requiring mitigation since the
intersection improvements would not be proportional to the impact from the proposed
development.

UTILITIES

The proposed water system improvements consist of an eight-inch public main in Maple Street,
connecting to the existing pipe immediately west of the site. The new water main is proposed
to extend to the east end of the site (Exhibit 5, Sheet P-12). Hydrants must meet the standards
of the Scappoose Rural Fire Protection District and Public Works Design Standards. The
applicant proposes 12 individual services with separate connections to the water main but
Public Works staff has requested that larger stubs be provided north and south of Maple Street,
with services connecting to those stubs rather than the new main in Maple Street (Exhibit 15).

The applicant has proposed an 8-inch public gravity sanitary sewer line in Maple Street,
connecting to the existing 8-inch line stubbed immediately west of the site (Exhibit 5, Sheet
P-12). Laterals from individual houses would connect to private 6-inch lines which would then
discharge to the new public line in Maple Street. As the parcel to the east is not yet developed
at urban densities, the applicant is required to stub a sewer extension to the eastern site
boundary for future development.

A preliminary drainage (stormwater) report is included as Exhibit 9. As there is no public
stormwater system adjacent to the site, the applicant proposes to collect stormwater from SE
Maple Street and from within the site via catch basins and convey it to a series of drywells,
similar to nearby streets. The applicant proposes 3 private drywells north of Maple Street, 6
private drywells south of Maple Street, and 5 public drywells in Maple Street. The appendices
to the stormwater report include infiltration test results per the Public Works Design Standards.
A final stormwater report would be required prior to approval of subdivision construction
plans.

Public Works staff has requested that the public stormwater system utilize horizontal
infiltration facilities rather than drywells (Exhibit 15); this would allow for easier excavation
and maintenance.

Franchise utilities are provided to adjacent residential developments and could be made
available through the extension of nearby lines and public service infrastructure.

6

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 13 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

STREET TREES

e The Scappoose Development Code requires street trees along all street frontages. The
Preliminary Landscape Plan (Exhibit 5, Sheet P-14) indicates that Blireiana Plum Street Trees
are proposed to be planted approximately 15 feet apart. Trees are proposed to be planted in the
landscape strip between the curb and sidewalk, within the right-of-way.

PUBLIC & PRIVATE AGENCIES AND PUBLIC NOTICE

e The City of Scappoose City Manager, Police Chief, Engineering, Public Works, and Building;
Scappoose Rural Fire Protection District; Columbia River PUD; the Scappoose School
District; Scappoose Drainage Improvement Company; Department of Land Conservation and
Development; ODOT; and Columbia County Land Development Services have been provided
an opportunity to review the proposal. Staff did not receive any objections from these agencies.
Comments from these agencies have been incorporated into this staff report as Exhibits 15-19.
The comments received were as follows:

0 The Public Works Director submitted comments (Exhibit 15) on the public stormwater
and water design. These comments have been incorporated as conditions of approval.

0 The Scappoose School Superintendent submitted comments (Exhibit 16) indicating
that the School District had no objection to the application.

0 The Columbia County Planning Manager submitted comments (Exhibit 17) observing
that the proposed development was contingent upon annexation since it would not be
permitted under County zoning. County staff had no objection to the application.

0 The Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development regional
representative submitted comments (Exhibit 18) supporting the proposal and the City’s
cottage housing development code in general.

0 Columbia River PUD staff submitted comments (Exhibit 19) indicating that the PUD
did not object to the proposal and concurring with City staff’s request to extend services
from Cypress Court rather than from the unimproved SE 6" Street right-of-way south
of the site.

0 The Scappoose Rural Fire Protection District submitted comments (Exhibit 20)
indicating that the District did not object to the proposal and identifying areas where
the design would need to be modified during the permitting phase to comply with the
Oregon Fire Code.

0 The Scappoose Drainage Improvement Company submitted a comment (Exhibit 21)
indicating that the SDIC hopes that the applicant continues to use the high safety factor
of 4 in their storm system design and continues to design to the 100-year storm event’.

¢ Notice of this request was mailed to property owners located within 300 feet of the subject site
on April 29, 2020 and published in the local newspaper on May 1, 2020. Notices were posted
on site on March 30, 2020. As of May 7, 2020 no comments were received from the public.

1 While the applicant has initially designed their storm drainage system to infiltrate the 100-year storm event with a
factor of safety of 4 in all basin areas, the PWDS require they design it to the 25-year storm event with a safety
factor of at least 2. Since no downstream conveyance system exists to accept overflows greater than the 25-year
design storm event, the developer has provided a design to infiltrate the post developed 100-year storm onsite.
During construction document review, the City Engineer will verify that the system meets City of Scappoose PWDS
requirements.

7

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 14 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

FINDINGS OF FACT

As described above, the applicant is seeking multiple approvals in order to develop the site with
cottage housing. The approvals requested by the applicant include the following:

e Annexation to bring the site into city limits;

e Zone change to R-4 Moderate Density Residential; and

e Subdivision for the cottage housing development.

The following findings evaluate whether the application complies with applicable Scappoose
Municipal Code approval criteria for each application type. The findings are divided into two
groups: (1) Annexation and Zone Change, and (2) Cottage Housing Subdivision.

Annexation and Zone Change Findings

1. The following Statewide Planning Goals have been considered by the City of
Scappoose as they pertain to the annexation and zone change request:

A Citizen Involvement (Goal 1)

Goal: To develop a citizen involvement program that ensures the opportunity for
citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process.

Finding: The City’s adopted and acknowledged Comprehensive Plan & Development
Code includes citizen involvement procedures with which the review of this application
will comply. This process allows for citizens to communicate their input into the zoning
map amendment review conducted by the City at public hearings or by submitting written
comments. The City of Scappoose Planning Commission will review the proposed
annexation and zoning map amendment on May 14, 2020 to make a recommendation to
the City Council, which will then hold its own hearing. The Applicant posted site notices
on March 30, 2020, the City mailed notices to nearby property owners on April 29, 2020,
and notice was published in the newspaper on May 1, 2020. This process complies with
the Goal.

B. Land Use Planning (Goal 2)

Goal: To establish a land use planning process and policy framework as a basis for
all decisions and actions related to use of land and to assure an adequate
factual base for such decisions and actions.

Finding: The procedural requirements for annexation and zone changes are contained in
the Scappoose Municipal Code, which involve assessment of the application’s merits,
notice to affected parties, and public hearings. The Municipal Code also provides for public
input for the associated Subdivision application. The proposal includes a request to change
the zoning designation of urban land within the Urban Growth Boundary, in compliance
with Goal 2. Notice of the annexation and zoning map amendment has been provided by

8

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 15 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

the City of Scappoose to the Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development
(DLCD) as required. The City’s decision is based on findings of fact.

C. Agricultural Lands (Goal 3)
Goal: To preserve and maintain agricultural lands.

Finding: This Goal is not applicable because the site is within the City of Scappoose Urban
Growth Boundary and no identified agricultural resources are located on site. The site is
designated for residential development in the Comprehensive Plan and is currently zoned
for residential use by Columbia County.

D. Forest Lands (Goal 4)

Goal: To conserve forest lands by maintaining the forest land base and to protect the
state’s forest economy by making possible economically efficient forest
practices that assure the continuous growing and harvesting of forest tree
species as the leading use on forest land consistent with sound management of
soil, air, water, and fish and wildlife resources and to provide for recreational
opportunities and agriculture.

Finding: The site is within the City of Scappoose Urban Growth Boundary and no
identified forest resources are located on site. The site is designated for residential
development in the Comprehensive Plan and is currently zoned for residential use by
Columbia County.

E. Open Spaces, Scenic and Historic Areas and Natural Resources (Goal 5)

Goal: To protect natural resources and conserve scenic and historic areas and open
spaces.

Finding: There are no identified Goal 5 resources on or near the site. The subject site is
not designated as open space, a scenic or historic area, or a natural resource area by the
City of Scappoose and does not contain any known significant open space, scenic, historic,
or natural resources. The proposed annexation and zone change do not conflict with this
Goal.

F. Air, Water and Land Resources Quality (Goal 6)

Goal: To maintain and improve the quality of the air, water and land resources of the
state.

Finding: The site is currently planned for residential use. If the annexation is approved,
the site would be subject to City regulations that do not allow off-site impacts from noise,
vibration, odors, glare, or other “nuisance” effects. The potential harmful effects on air,
water and land resource quality is limited. The proposed annexation and zone change do
not conflict with this Goal.

9

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 16 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

G. Areas Subject to Natural Disasters and Hazards (Goal 7)
Goal: To protect people and property from natural hazards.

Finding: The subject site is not located within a mapped flood plain, potential flood hazard,
potential landslide hazard, or earthquake hazard area. The applicant is proposing a
stormwater management system to minimize for the potential for localized flooding. The
proposal to annex and zone the subject property for residential development is consistent
with avoidance of natural disasters and hazards under Goal 7.

H. Recreational Needs (Goal 8)

Goal: To satisfy the recreational needs of the citizens of the state and visitors and,
where appropriate, to provide for the siting of necessary recreational facilities
including destination resorts.

Finding: The site is presently designated for residential development on the
Comprehensive Plan and has not been planned for recreational opportunities. The
requested zone change to Moderate Density Residential (R-4) will not result in a reduction
in land planned or reserved for recreational use. Consequently, the proposed Annexation
and Zone Change will have no significant impact on the City’s planning for recreational

needs.

l. Economic Development (Goal 9)

Goal: To provide adequate opportunities throughout the state for a variety of
economic activities vital to the health, welfare, and prosperity of Oregon’s
citizens.

Finding: The site is presently designated for residential development on the
Comprehensive Plan and has not been planned for economic development. Consequently,
the proposed Annexation and Zone Change will have no significant impact on the City’s
planning for economic development.

J. Housing (Goal 10)
Goal: To provide for the housing needs of citizens of the state.

Finding: The property proposed for annexation is designated Suburban Residential on the
Comprehensive Plan map. The proposed annexation and zone change to Moderate Density
Residential (R-4) would increase the residential land supply within City Limits and would
allow more intense development than currently permitted under County regulations.
Furthermore, the site could only connect to City water or sewer if it were inside City Limits.
If the site were developed at maximum density allowed in the R-4 zone, up to 18 dwellings
could be constructed. The City’s 2017 Housing Needs Analysis recommended developing
an ordinance to allow cottage cluster housing. As stated in the applicant’s narrative

10

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 17 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

(Exhibit 3), the 2017 Housing Needs Analysis indicates that an additional 1,229 new
dwelling units are required to be constructed in Scappoose for the 2018-2038 planning
horizon and that the City has the available residentially designated land within its Urban
Growth Boundary to meet that need. The report indicates that there are several
demographic changes which have increased demand for moderate density residential
housing. As the Baby Boomer generation ages, they are creating demand for smaller
housing options. The large Millennial generation is also looking for comparatively
affordable small-single-family detached houses. In addition, growing Hispanic and Latino
populations are creating more demand for lower-cost single-family housing choices. This
analysis concluded that Scappoose needs to plan for the development of a wider range of
housing types, and as a result, the City developed new cottage housing development
standards in 2018. The applicant’s proposal to change the site’s zoning to R-4 is consistent
with the Housing Needs Analysis findings, since a wider range of housing types and more
affordable and compact urban form can be achieved under the proposed moderate density
residential zoning than under the existing low density residential zone. Therefore, this
proposal brings the City closer to meeting Goal 10 commitments and provides for some of
the housing needs of citizens of the state.

K. Public Facilities and Services (Goal 11)

Goal: To plan and develop a timely, orderly and efficient arrangement of public
facilities and services to serve as a framework for urban and rural development.

Finding: The subject property lies within the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) and
therefore requires the extension of public facilities and services at the developer’s expense.
Full urban services are available to serve the site. Electricity, telephone, and gas are
provided to adjacent residential properties and could be made available through the
extension of nearby lines and public service infrastructure. Water and sanitary sewer is
available in SE Maple Street and storm drainage facilities would be constructed to serve
the site at the time of development.

L. Transportation (Goal 12)
Goal: To provide and encourage a safe, convenient and economic transportation system.

Finding: Statewide Planning Goal 12 is implemented by the state Transportation Planning
Rule (TPR). The City adopted an updated Transportation System Plan (TSP) on September
6, 2016. The Scappoose TSP assumed that this site would be developed under the City’s
Suburban Residential (SR) and Low Density Residential Comprehensive Plan and Zoning
designations, respectively. The site falls into Traffic Analysis Zone #114, which is an area
bounded by Columbia Avenue, a north-south line corresponding to the site’s western
boundary, EIm Street, and a line along the east boundary of the residences east of SE Tyler
Street. In 2013, this area had an estimated 82 households, and the TSP projected a net
increase of 50 new households by the year 2035 based on the Comprehensive Plan
designations. Street classifications were chosen accordingly.

11

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 18 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

The applicant’s transportation engineer estimated traffic impacts using standard trip
generation ratios published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers for three scenarios:
one for the 6 units allowed under current County zoning, one for the 12 dwelling units
proposed by the applicant, and one for 18 dwelling units that could be constructed under
the proposed Medium Density Residential (R-4) zone.

As discussed further in Exhibits 11 and 12, traffic projections from future development
have been computed using standard trip generation ratios published by the Institute of
Transportation Engineers. If the site were developed as illustrated on Exhibit 5 with 12
residences, the site could be expected to generate approximately 113 average daily trips,
12 of them during the evening peak hour. If the site were developed with 18 dwellings (the
most intense development under the R-4 zone), the site could be expected to generate
approximately 170 average daily trips, 18 of them during the evening peak hour.

Based on the applicant’s traffic analysis, the City does not anticipate that this level of
development would have a significant effect on the operations of the local street network
(while certain intersections do not meet the City’s standards, those conditions are not
attributed to the proposed development).

Additional findings are found in Findings of Fact #3, Scappoose Municipal Code (in
particular, the response to 17.22.050).

M. Energy Conservation (Goal 13)

Goal: To conserve energy.

1. Land use plans should be based on utilization of the following techniques and
implementation devices which can have a material impact on energy efficiency:

a. Lot size, dimension, and siting controls;

b. Building height, bulk and surface area;

c. Density of uses, particularly those which relate to housing densities;

d. Availability of light, wind and air;

e. Compatibility of and competition between competing land use activities; and

f. Systems and incentives for the collection, reuse and recycling of metallic and nonmetallic
waste.

Finding: The site is located immediately adjacent to existing residential areas. The
proposed R-4 zoning would permit moderate density development rather than the low
density development that would be permitted if the City were to automatically apply R-1
zoning through annexation. Higher density development has the potential to create a more
energy-efficient land use pattern within the City’s Urban Growth Boundary.

N. Urbanization (Goal 14)

Goal: To provide for an orderly and efficient transition from rural to urban land use,
to accommodate urban population and urban employment inside urban growth
boundaries, to ensure efficient use of land, and to provide for livable
communities.

12

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 19 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Finding: The subject property is within the Urban Growth Boundary and no expansion of
the UGB is proposed. The proposed annexation and zone change would transition the
property from rural to urbanized land as foreseen in the Comprehensive Plan. Development
of the site triggers requirements for the developer to provide infrastructure, including
necessary sewer lines, storm drainage lines, water line extensions, and street
improvements.

O. Other Goals

Finding: The following goals are not applicable to this application:
e Willamette River Greenway (Goal 15)

Estuarine Resources (Goal 16)

Coastal Shorelands (Goal 17)

Beaches and Dunes (Goal 18)

Ocean Resources (Goal 19)

2. The following Goals and Policies from the Scappoose Comprehensive Plan are
applicable to the annexation and zone change request:

GOAL OF THE URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY

It is the goal of the City of Scappoose to:
1) Create optimal conditions of livability within the City and its urban growth area.

2) Locate all major public and private developments such as schools, roads, shopping
centers, and places of employment, so that they do not tend to attract residential
development to locations outside the designated urban growth boundary.

3) Include within the urban growth boundary sufficient land for future development.
Goals 4-6 are not applicable to this application.

Finding: Annexing this land will provide housing opportunities in an area planned for
residential development immediately east of existing City Limits. The site’s relative
proximity to schools, shopping centers, and the industrial areas along West Lane promotes
the City’s livability by allowing short commutes. The annexation will bring residential land
into City Limits, satisfying a portion of the City’s long-term demand for residential land.

Therefore, the applicable GOALS OF THE URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY are
satisfied.

POLICIES FOR THE URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY

It is the policy of the City of Scappoose to:

13

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 20 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

6) Approve annexation of residential lands, except in the cases of health hazards,
when:
A) There is sufficient capacity in the sewer, water, street, school, police and
fire systems to service the potential additional populace.

B) Sufficient in-filling of vacant land has occurred to warrant an expansion.
Policies 1-5 and 7-10 are not applicable to this application.

Finding: This application contains site and utility layouts in Exhibit 5 to demonstrate
potential alignments for future roadways and water, sewer, and storm drainage
infrastructure. The applicant retained a transportation engineer to assess compliance with
the Transportation Planning Rule (Exhibits 11 and 12). The site is already within the
Scappoose Rural Fire District and the District had no objections to the annexation (Exhibit
20).

Therefore, the applicable POLICIES FOR THE URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY are
satisfied.

GOAL FOR PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES

It is the goal of the City of Scappoose to:

1) Provide the public facilities and services which are necessary for the well being of
the community and which help guide development into conformance with the
Comprehensive Plan.

2) Direct public facilities and services, particularly water and sewer systems, into the
urban growth area.

3) Ensure that the capacities and patterns of utilities and other facilities are adequate
to support the residential densities and intensive land use patterns of the
Comprehensive Plan.

4) Avoid the provision or expansion of public utilities and facilities in sparsely settled
non-urban areas, when this would tend to encourage development or intensification
of uses, or to create the need for additional urban services.

Goals 5-11 are not applicable to this application.

POLICIES FOR PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES

It is the policy of the City of Scappoose to:

1) Design urban facilities and services, particularly water and sewer systems, to
eventually serve the designated urban growth area; also, ensure that services are
provided to sufficient vacant property to meet anticipated growth needs; also,

14

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 21 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

develop a design review process to insure that public services and facilities do not
unreasonably degrade significant fish and wildlife habitats.

4) Require in new developments that water, sewer, street and other improvements be
installed as part of initial construction.

9) Control local flooding and groundwater problems through the use of existing storm
drainage systems and construction of new facilities in accordance with the
Scappoose Storm Drain System Master Plan.

10)  Require new developments to provide adequate drainage at time of initial
construction in accordance with the Scappoose Storm System Master Plan while
discouraging the alteration of streams, the drainage of wetlands that are identified
as significant and the removal of vegetation beside streams. Natural drainage ways
shall be used to carry storm water runoff whenever possible.

19)  Approve annexations of new residential lands, except in the case of a health hazard,

only when:

1. There is sufficient capacity in the sewer, water, street, school, fire, and
police systems to service the potential additional populace.

2. Sufficient in-filling of vacant land has occurred to warrant an expansion.

Policies 2-3, 5-8, 11-18 and 20-29 are not applicable to this application.

Finding: The applicant submitted preliminary sanitary sewer, storm drainage, and water
plans (Exhibit 5) to demonstrate the viability of serving the site with public facilities. As
part of permitting, al plans and improvements are subject to review by the City Engineer
and must conform to the requirements of the Scappoose Municipal Code and the Public
Works Design Standards and Standard Specifications.

The City Engineer, City Manager, Public Works Director, Building Official, Chief of
Police, Fire Chief, and school Superintendent were provided with the opportunity to
determine whether sufficient capacity exists for needed facilities and services. No objection
to this annexation has been expressed by City Departments or public service agencies.

Fire & Police Protection

e The Scappoose Rural Fire District provides fire protection for this site. Development
of the site will have to comply with all applicable fire and building codes and would
provide hydrants in sufficient numbers and at locations deemed appropriate by the
Scappoose Rural Fire District.

e If this site were annexed it would come under the protection of the Scappoose Police
Department. Increased assessment valuation would generate some tax revenue to
contribute toward the cost of providing service.

Streets

15

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 22 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020

Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Traffic to and from the site will utilize SE Maple Street, which is identified as a Local
Residential street. As described in detail in the response to 17.22.050 below, this
proposal does not “significantly affect” the City’s street network as defined by the
Transportation Planning Rule. Further, the applicant is proposing street improvements
through the site.

Schools

Annexation and subsequent development of the site would increase school district
enrollment. The local school district should receive additional tax revenues due to
increased valuation as a result of future development to partially offset any increase in
school district enrollment. The school district did not object to this application (Exhibit
16).

Water Service

There is an existing City water line in SE Maple Street to which the property would
have access upon annexation.

Sanitary Sewer and Storm Drainage

There is an existing City sanitary sewer line in SE Maple Street to which the property
would have access upon annexation.

No public storm drain system is located near the site. However, the applicant has
submitted a preliminary stormwater report (Exhibit 9) and utility plans (Exhibit 5)
demonstrating the viability of infiltrating stormwater on site.

Therefore, the applicable goals and policies of the GOAL FOR PUBLIC FACILITIES
AND SERVICES, and the POLICIES FOR PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES, are
satisfied.

GENERAL GOALS FOR LAND USES

1)

6)

12)

13)

The growth of the City should be orderly and in accordance with the public health,
safety and welfare, while preserving individual choice and recognizing existing
patterns of development.

Residential living areas should be safe, attractive, and convenient, and should make
a positive contribution to the quality of life and personal satisfaction of the
residents; additionally, there should be sufficient areas for a wide range of housing
choices.

Adequate public services and facilities should be provided to encourage an orderly
and efficient growth pattern.

A safe and convenient transportation system should be developed to meet future
needs.

16

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 23 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

15)  Housing that meets the local residents' housing needs should be allowed and
encouraged.

Goals 2-5, 7-11, 14, and 15-19 are not applicable to this application.

Finding: The subject property is located in the UGB immediately adjacent to land zoned
R-1 and R-4 by the City. Annexation would permit development in an orderly outward
expansion. Development of the subject site is required to provide the infrastructure
associated with new residential development, including public streets with curbs and
sidewalks. The R-4 zoning permits single-family residences, duplexes, tri-plexes, four-
plexes, and cottage housing, which provides a range of housing choices.

Therefore, the applicable GENERAL GOALS FOR LAND USES are satisfied.

TRANSPORTATION GOALS

Goal 1: Health and Safety. It is the goal of the City of Scappoose to develop and support a
transportation system that maintains and improves individual health and safety by
maximizing pedestrian and bicycle transportation options, increasing public safety and
service access, and enhancing safe and smooth connections between land uses and
transportation modes.

Goal 2: Transportation System Management. It is the goal of the City of Scappoose to
emphasize effective and efficient management of the transportation system for all users.

Goal 9: Coordinate Transportation Planning. It is the goal of the City of Scappoose to
develop a transportation system that is consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and
that is coordinated with County, State, and Regional plans.

Goals 3-8 are not applicable to this application.

Finding: The annexation area abuts the eastern terminus of SE Maple Street,
approximately 0.4 miles east of Highway 30. Access to the site will be provided from SE
Maple Street, which connects directly to the Highway at a signalized intersection. As
illustrated in Exhibit 5, Sheet P-4, the developer has provided a conceptual plan for a
future public roadway network extending Maple Street eastward, with connections to E.
Columbia Avenue and SE Elm Street. Construction of this roadway system is dependent
upon annexation and development of parcels to the east. This alignment roughly
corresponds to the proposed local street connection identified in Figure 15 (Conceptual
Local Street Connections) in the City’s 2016 TSP. The precise location and design of the
streets will be determined once future development proposals are evaluated, but the
conceptual plan demonstrates that the annexation area and properties to the east can be
efficiently served with transportation to provide smooth connections between land uses.

Evaluation of the transportation impacts of the proposed development has been coordinated
with ODOT, who declined to comment on the application since the proposal involved
fewer than 400 daily trips.

17

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 24 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Therefore, the applicable TRANSPORTATION GOALS are satisfied.

GOAL FOR HOUSING

1) Provide opportunities for needed housing types including: attached and detached
single-family housing, and multifamily housing for both owner and renter
occupancy, government assisted housing, and manufactured dwelling parks.

2) Locate housing so that it is fully integrated with land use, transportation and public
facilities.

Goals 3-6 are not applicable to this application.

POLICIES FOR HOUSING

1) Maintain adequate zoning, subdivision, and building codes to help achieve the
City's housing goals and meet the housing needs identified in the Housing Needs
Analysis.

4) Provide opportunity for development of housing affordable to low- and moderate-

income households, including government-assisted housing.

8) Ensure that subdivisions provide a full array of public services at the expense of
the developer.

(Policies 2-3, 5-7, and 9-12 are not applicable to this application.)

Finding: The proposed annexation and zoning of the site for residential uses is consistent
with the listed Housing Goals because the inclusion of a 1.6-acre lot will increase land
available for needed housing. If the site is developed with cottage houses as proposed, these
residences may be more affordable than larger residences. The proposed cottage housing
use does not conflict with existing land uses because the site is adjacent to existing
residential uses.

The zoning of the site for residential use is consistent with the policies of the
Comprehensive Plan. The site will assist in maintaining adequate land to meet the City’s
housing needs and subdivision improvements will be made at the expense of the developer.
As proposed and evaluated elsewhere in these findings, the proposal provides for a full
array of adequate public services, contributes to the local housing inventory which
positively impacts affordable housing, and is an implementation of the comprehensive plan
and applicable development codes which maintains adequate zoning, subdivision and
building code review processes.

Therefore, the applicable goals and policies of the GOAL FOR HOUSING and the
POLICIES FOR HOUSING are satisfied.

18

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 25 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

GOAL FOR THE SUBURBAN RESIDENTIAL LAND USE DESIGNATION

It is the goal of the City of Scappoose to:

1) Create conditions suitable for moderate concentrations of people not in immediate
proximity to public services, shopping, transportation and other conveniences.

2) To provide places suitable for single family dwellings, duplexes, triplexes, and four-
plexes.

3) Minimize adverse effects on adjacent developments through the enforcement of
subdivision regulations of the Development Code.

POLICIES FOR THE SUBURBAN RESIDENTIAL LAND USE DESIGNATION

3) Promote the development of homesites at a density and standard consistent with:
the level of services that can reasonably be provided, and the characteristics of the
natural environment.

5) Encourage developers to allocate land for open space or recreation in their
subdivisions.

6) Ensure that new developments do not create additional burdens on inadequate
sewer, water, street and drainage systems.

(Policies 1, 2, and 4 are not applicable to this application.)

Finding: The proposed annexation and R-4 zoning of the site would allow construction of
up to 12 cottage houses or up to 18 multi-family units, which is consistent with Goal 2 and
Policies 3 and 6 of the Comprehensive Plan. The proposed cottage housing development
would provide open space as required by Code. Annexation of the 1.6-acre site would not
create undue burdens on the provision of municipal services and subdivision improvements
will be made at the expense of the developer.

Therefore, the applicable goals and policies of the GOAL FOR THE SUBURBAN
RESIDENTIAL LAND USE DESIGNATION and the POLICIES FOR THE
SUBURBAN RESIDENTIAL LAND USE DESIGNATION are satisfied.

3. The following sections of Title 17 of the Scappoose Municipal Code (Scappoose
Development Code) are applicable to annexation and zone change request:

Chapter 17.22 AMENDMENTS TO THE TITLE, COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, AND MAPS

17.22.040 Approval Criteria. Planning commissions review and recommendation, and
Council approval, of an ordinance amending the comprehensive plan, the zoning map, or
this title shall be based on the following criteria:

19

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 26 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

A. If the proposal involves an amendment to the comprehensive plan, the amendment is
consistent with the Statewide Planning Goals and relevant Oregon Revised Statutes and
Administrative Rules;

Finding: The proposal does not involve an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan,
however, findings related to the Statewide Planning Goals have been provided within this
report and in the applicant’s narrative (Exhibit 3). This application is consistent with
applicable Oregon Revised Statutes and Administrative Rules (namely, the Transportation
Planning Rule). Section 17.22.040 (A) is satisfied.

B. The proposal is consistent with the comprehensive plan (although the comprehensive
plan may be amended concurrently with proposed changes in zoning or this title), the
standards of this title, or other applicable implementing ordinances;

Finding: Findings have been provided throughout this report to show consistency with the
Comprehensive Plan, the standards of the development code, and other implementing
ordinances. As specified by Section 17.136.070 of the Scappoose Municipal Code, if this
property is annexed it would automatically receive the Low Density Residential (R-1)
zoning designation since the site had a “Suburban Residential” Comprehensive Plan Map
designation. The applicant requests that the property be re-zoned to Moderate Density
Residential (R-4) if the annexation is successful. The change would permit compatible
residential development alongside adjacent existing residential uses. The applicable
comprehensive plan policies are outlined above. One of the Comprehensive Plan Goals for
the Suburban Residential Land Use Designation is to “provide places suitable for single
family dwellings, duplexes, triplexes, and four-plexes.” The R-4 zone is therefore
consistent with the Suburban Residential Comprehensive Plan designation. Section
17.22.040 (B) is satisfied.

C. The change will not adversely affect the health, safety, and welfare of the community;

Finding: The proposed annexation is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan because the
property lies within the urban growth boundary and the zone change to R-4 is in
conformance with the Suburban Residential Comprehensive Plan designation. The
applicant has provided transportation analysis (Exhibits 11 and 12) to assess the specific
uses proposed to ensure a safe transportation system. Annexation and development would
provide needed housing for the City, and the applicant would improve the street and
utilities at its own expense. The zone change to R-4 rather than R-1 implements the
Suburban Residential Comprehensive Plan designation while ensuring that zoning is
consistent with neighboring properties. The proposed change would foster new
development that is consistent with the existing residential character, which would
reinforce and enhance a residential neighborhood. Findings elsewhere in this report
demonstrate that the proposal does not pose negative effects on the health, safety, and
welfare of the community. Section 17.22.040 (C) is satisfied.

D. The proposal either responds to changes in the community or it corrects a mistake or
inconsistency in the comprehensive plan, the zoning map, or this title; and

20

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 27 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Finding: The proposal responds to changes in the community, namely the need for new
and innovative housing types as identified in the City’s 2017 Housing Needs Analysis,
which specifically recommended developing an ordinance to allow cottage cluster housing.
As stated in the applicant’s narrative (Exhibit 3), the 2017 Housing Needs Analysis
indicates that an additional 1,229 new dwelling units are required to be constructed in
Scappoose for the 2018-2038 planning horizon. The report indicates that there are several
demographic changes which have increased demand for moderate density residential
housing. As the Baby Boomer generation ages, they are creating demand for smaller
housing options. The large Millennial generation is also looking for comparatively
affordable small-single-family detached houses. In addition, growing Hispanic and Latino
populations are creating more demand for lower-cost single-family housing choices. This
analysis concluded that Scappoose needs to plan for the development of a wider range of
housing types, and as a result, the City developed new cottage housing development
standards in 2018. The applicant’s proposal to change the site’s zoning to R-4 is consistent
with the Housing Needs Analysis findings, since a wider range of housing types and more
affordable and compact urban form can be achieved under the proposed moderate density
residential zoning than under the existing low density residential zone. This proposal will
support the City’s changing needs related to attracting and serving residents. Section
17.22.040 (D) is satisfied.

E. The amendment conforms to Section 17.22.050.

Finding: Consistency with Section 17.22.050 is demonstrated below. Section 17.22.040
(E) is satisfied.

17.22.050 Transportation Planning Rule Compliance. Proposals to amend the
comprehensive plan or zoning map shall be reviewed to determine whether they
significantly affect a transportation facility pursuant to Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR)
660-012-0060 (Transportation Planning Rule - TPR). Where the City, in consultation with
the applicable roadway authority, finds that a proposed amendment would have a
significant effect on a transportation facility, the City shall work with the roadway
authority and the applicant to modify the request or mitigate the impacts in accordance
with the TPR and applicable law.

TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE
OAR 660 Division 12 — Transportation Planning:

660-012-0060 Plan and Land Use Regulation Amendments

(1) If an amendment to a functional plan, an acknowledged comprehensive plan, or a land
use regulation (including a zoning map) would significantly affect an existing or planned
transportation facility, then the local government must put in place measures as provided
in section (2) of this rule, unless the amendment is allowed under section (3), (9) or (10) of
this rule. A plan or land use regulation amendment significantly affects a transportation
facility if it would:

21

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 28 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

(a) Change the functional classification of an existing or planned transportation facility
(exclusive of correction of map errors in an adopted plan);

Finding: The proposed annexation and zone change will not necessitate changes to the
functional classification of existing or planned transportation facilities.

(b) Change standards implementing a functional classification system; or

Finding: The proposed annexation and zone change will not change any standards
implementing the functional classification system.

(c) Result in any of the effects listed in paragraphs (A) through (C) of this subsection based
on projected conditions measured at the end of the planning period identified in the
adopted TSP. As part of evaluating projected conditions, the amount of traffic projected to
be generated within the area of the amendment may be reduced if the amendment includes
an enforceable, ongoing requirement that would demonstrably limit traffic generation,
including, but not limited to, transportation demand management. This reduction may
diminish or completely eliminate the significant effect of the amendment.

(A) Types or levels of travel or access that are inconsistent with the functional
classification of an existing or planned transportation facility;

(B) Degrade the performance of an existing or planned transportation facility such that it
would not meet the performance standards identified in the TSP or comprehensive plan;
or

(C) Degrade the performance of an existing or planned transportation facility that is
otherwise projected to not meet the performance standards identified in the TSP or
comprehensive plan.

Finding: The proposed annexation and zone change would accommodate up to 18
residences. This would be a more intensive development than the 12 units proposed by the
applicant but is the reasonable worst case scenario that needs to be assessed when
determining if the zone change would cause a significant effect on the transportation
system.

The City’s 2016 TSP assumed that this site would be developed under the City’s Suburban
Residential (SR) and Low Density Residential Comprehensive Plan and Zoning
designations, respectively, and street functional -classifications were established
accordingly. Streets that would experience traffic from the development include SE Maple
Street (a Local street abutting the development and a Neighborhood street between SE 4th
Street and Highway 30); SE 4th Street (a Collector); E. Columbia Avenue (a Collector);
SE Elm Street (a Collector); SE 6th Street (a Collector); SE High School Way (a
Neighborhood street); and Highway 30 (an Arterial).

As discussed in Exhibits 11 and 12, traffic projections have been computed using standard
trip generation ratios published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers for three

22

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 29 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

scenarios: one for the six units allowed under County zoning, one for the 12 dwelling units
proposed by the applicant, and one for 18 dwelling units that could be constructed under
the proposed Medium Density Residential (R-4) zone. If the site were developed under
current County zoning, it could be expected to generate approximately 57 average daily
trips, 6 of them during the evening peak hour. If the site were developed as illustrated on
Exhibit 5 with 12 residences, the site could be expected to generate approximately 113
average daily trips, 12 of them during the evening peak hour. If the site were developed
with 18 dwellings (the most intense development under the R-4 zone), the site could be
expected to generate approximately 170 average daily trips, 18 of them during the evening
peak hour.

Any of these traffic levels can be accommodated by the network of Neighborhood,
Collector, and Arterial streets that serve the site. Since the TSP’s analysis assumed the site
would be developed under the City’s R-1 zone (not County zoning), then for the purposes
of determining significant effect the City need only examine the incremental effect of the
proposed zone change to R-4. The Traffic Analysis Report and supplemental memo
analyzed the effect that these additional trips would have on the local street network. The
study focused on five nearby intersections: SE Maple Street/SE 3™ Street, SE Maple
Street/SE 4th Street, SE Maple Street/Highway 30, SE EIm Street/SE 6th EIm Street, and
E. Columbia Avenue/SE 4th Street/NE West Lane Road.

In accordance with TPR requirements, the applicant’s transportation engineer examined
traffic operations in the year 2035 (corresponding to the planning year in the City’s TSP).
This analysis indicates that both the E. Columbia Avenue/SE 4th Street/NE West Lane
Road and SE Maple Street/Highway 30 intersections would have LOS “F’ in 2035 either
under the proposed 12-residence scenario or the worst-case 18-residence scenario, while
the other intersections would operate at LOS ‘C’ or better (which meets City standards).
For the failing intersections, the v/c ratio in 2035 is the same for both the proposed 12-
residence scenario or the worst-case 18-residence scenario. Therefore, the zone change
would not further degrade the performance of those failing intersections in 2035.

The supplemental traffic memo (Exhibit 12) demonstrates that the SE Maple
Street/Highway 30 intersection would meet ODOT’s alternative mobility targets. Based on
the applicant’s traffic analysis, the City does not anticipate that the level of development
associated with the R-4 zone would have a significant effect on the operations of the
transportation system (since those intersections that do not meet the City’s standards are
not failing strictly as a result of the proposed development). Accordingly, the City can
conclude that the proposed zone change does not have a significant effect on the affected
intersections in particular or on the transportation system in general.

Chapter 17.136 ANNEXATIONS

17.136.020 Policy.

Annexations shall be considered on a case-by-case basis, taking into account the goals and
policies in the Scappoose Comprehensive Plan, long range costs and benefits of
annexation, statewide planning goals, this title and other ordinances of the City and the
policies and regulations of affected agencies’ jurisdictions and special districts.

23

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 30 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

A It is the City’s policy to encourage and support annexation where:

1. The annexation complies with the provisions of the Scappoose Comprehensive
Plan.

2. The annexation would provide a logical service area, straighten boundaries,
eliminate or preclude islands of unincorporated property, and contribute to a
clear identification of the City.

3. The annexation would benefit the City by addition to its revenues of an amount
that would be at least equal to the cost of providing service to the area.

4. The annexation would be clearly to the City’s advantage in controlling the
growth and development plans for the area.

Finding: The proposed annexation complies with the goals and policies of the
Comprehensive Plan as previously discussed in Finding of Fact #2. The annexation is
contiguous to R-4 areas that are already part of the City, expanding the City’s logical
service area. Revenues from the area are anticipated to cover the cost of providing services,
especially factoring in the employment that could occur on site. Annexation will allow the
City to manage growth and alleviate an immediate need for residential property within the
City limits. Annexation of the property provides for City inspection and approval of all
development. Section 17.136.020(A) is satisfied.

B. It is the City’s policy to discourage and deny annexation where:

1. The annexation is inconsistent with the provisions of the Scappoose
Comprehensive Plan.

2. The annexation would cause an unreasonable disruption or distortion of the
current City boundary or service area.

3. The annexation would severely decrease the ability of the City to provide
services to an area either inside or outside of the City.

4. Full urban services could not be made available within a reasonable time.

Finding: The proposal appears to be consistent with the provisions of the Scappoose
Comprehensive Plan as previously discussed. The annexation does not decrease the ability
of the City to provide services and does not cause an unreasonable disruption of the current
City boundary. The proposed annexation site can be served by urban services provided that
the applicant installs utilities to serve the site and constructs the necessary roadway
improvements in conjunction with the proposed development. The City has included
recommended Conditions of Approval to ensure that adequate public improvements are
constructed prior to development of the site, and in conformance with all applicable
regulations. Section 17.136.020(B) is satisfied.

17.136.040 Approval standards.
A The decision to approve, approve with modifications or deny, shall be based on the
following criteria:

1. All services and facilities are available to the area and have sufficient capacity to
provide service for the proposed annexation area;

24

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 31 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Finding: Existing municipal police services can be made available to the site immediately.
The site abuts an existing road within the City. The property is already located within the
Scappoose Rural Fire District, the Scappoose School District, and the Scappoose Library
District. Telecommunication and electric services are already provided to neighboring
properties.

Water and sewer service can be made available to the site and are stubbed to the western
boundary of the property in SE Maple Street. The water treatment plants and wastewater
treatment plant have capacity to accommodate development of this and other sites, even
with the requested change to R-4 zoning.

Right-of-way and public utility improvements to serve the site are required as conditions
of approval. Section 17.136.040(A).1 is satisfied.

2. The impact upon public services which include but are not limited to police and fire
protection, schools and public transportation to the extent that they shall not be unduly
compromised;

Finding: The proposed annexation is not expected to unduly compromise public service
providers. As discussed previously, the proposed annexation will have a minimal impact
on the capacity of public service providers, as the site is already within the service areas of
the Fire District and other service providers. The Scappoose Fire District and Police
Departments had an opportunity to comment on the proposal and no objections were
received. Section 17.136.040(A).2 is satisfied.

3. The need for housing, employment opportunities and livability in the City and
surrounding areas;

Finding: This annexation would provide an additional 1.6 acres for residential
development and would also create temporary employment opportunities for the
construction of streets, utilities, and structures. The proposed R-4 zoning would
accommodate cottage housing, which was identified as a need for the community in the
City’s 2017 Housing Needs Analysis. The 2017 Housing Needs Analysis indicates that an
additional 1,229 new dwelling units are required to be constructed in Scappoose for the
2018-2038 planning horizon. Section 17.136.040(A).3 is satisfied.

4. The location of the site in relation to efficient provision of public facilities, services,
transportation, energy conservation, urbanization and social impacts.

Finding: This site is contiguous to the existing City limits. Public services are already
available to neighboring properties and use of these will improve efficiency by utilizing
existing trunk lines and service lines. Water and sanitary sewer service is available to the
site from SE Maple Street, and police and fire protection can be supplied by the Scappoose
Police Department and Scappoose Rural Fire Protection District, respectively. The site has
convenient transportation access to downtown Scappoose. Increasing the supply of land
for housing will benefit the City by providing additional land to meet the demand for
residential development. Urbanization of the site is consistent with the City’s

25

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 32 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Comprehensive Plan, and site development is not anticipated to impose adverse social
impacts. Section 17.136.040(A).4 is satisfied.

17.136.070 Zoning upon annexation. Upon annexation, the area annexed shall be
automatically zoned to the corresponding land use zoning classification as shown in the
table below. The zoning designation shown on the table below is the city’s zoning district
which most closely implements the city’s comprehensive plan map designation.

Comprehensive Plan Zoning Classification

SR R-1, Low Density Residential

GR R-4, Moderate Density Residential
MH MH, Manufactured Home Residential
C EC, Expanded Commercial

I LI, Light Industrial

AE PUA, Public Use Airport

Finding: The site has a Comprehensive Plan designation of SR, Suburban Residential.
Upon annexation, the site would automatically be zoned R-1, Low Density Residential.
The applicant has submitted a concurrent application to have the City zone the property R-
4. Additional findings demonstrate that the City’s infrastructure has the capacity to absorb
moderate density development of this site. Section 17.136.070 is satisfied.

Chapter 17.162 PROCEDURES FOR DECISION MAKING--QUASI-JUDICIAL

17.162.090 Approval authority responsibilities. [...]

C. The planning commission shall conduct a public hearing in the manner prescribed by
this chapter and shall have the authority to approve, approve with conditions, approve with
modifications or deny the following development applications:

1. Recommendations for applicable comprehensive plan and zoning district designations
to city council for lands annexed to the city;

2. A quasi-judicial comprehensive plan map amendment except the planning commission’s
function shall be limited to a recommendation to the council. The commission may transmit
its recommendation in any form and a final order need not be formally adopted;

3. A gquasi-judicial zoning map amendment shall be decided in the same manner as a quasi-
judicial plan amendment; [...]

Finding: The applicant has requested the concurrent review of Annexation and Zone
Change applications. The Planning Commission will make a recommendation to the City
Council regarding the applicant’s request. Based on the submitted materials and the staff
report, the applicant’s proposal complies with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and with the
requirements of Title 17 of the Scappoose Municipal Code. Section 17.162.090(C) is
satisfied.

Cottage Housing Subdivision Findings

26

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 33 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020

Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

4.

The following sections of Title 17 of the Scappoose Municipal Code (Scappoose
Development Code) are applicable to the cottage housing subdivision request:

Chapter 17.01 INTRODUCTION

17.01.060 Right-of-way dedications and improvements. Upon approval of any development
permit or any land use approval of any property which abuts or is served by an existing
substandard street or roadway, the applicant shall make the necessary right-of-way
dedications for the entire frontage of the property to provide for minimum right-of-way
widths according to the city’s public works design standards and shall improve the abutting
portion of the street or roadway providing access to the property in accordance with the
standards in Chapter 17.154.

Finding: As illustrated on the preliminary plat (Exhibit 5, Sheet P-5) and utility plans
(Exhibit 5, Sheets P-6 through P-13), the applicant proposes to dedicate Maple Street
right-of-way through the site, and to improve the street and utilities. Further detail is
provided in the findings pertaining to Chapter 17.154. The City has not required the
applicant to connect to the SE 6™ Street right-of-way stubbed to the southern boundary of
the site, since that segment of 6" Street does not align with the existing improved 6" Street
and would result in an unsafe offset intersection at SE EIm Street. Section 17.01.060 is
satisfied.

Chapter 17.50 R-4 MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL
17.50.030 Permitted and Conditional Uses

Use

Single-family detached residential dwelling Permitted outright!
units

Cottage housing subject to the provisions of, Permitted outright*
Chapter 17.58

Duplex Permitted outright?
Triplex Permitted outright!
Quadplex Permitted outright?

Townhouse, limited to a maximum of four Permitted outright!
attached townhomes

Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU’s) subject to Permitted outright?
the provisions of Chapter 17.92
! These uses and their accessory uses are permitted outright outside of the Scappoose
Creek Flood Plain.

Finding: The R-4 zoning district permits single-family residences and multi-family
residences. The applicant is requesting approval to construct 12 cottage housing units in
two clusters, one north and one south of SE Maple Street. Section 17.50.030 is satisfied.

17.50.050 Dimensional requirements.

27

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 34 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19

May 7, 2020

Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Dimensional Requirements

Requirement!

Minimum lot area:
Outside of the Scappoose Creek
Flood Plain

Single-family detached

Townhouse

Duplex

Triplex

Quad-plex

Other uses

Five thousand (5,000) square feet for a single-
family detached dwelling unit when located
outside of the Scappoose Creek Flood Plain

Seven thousand square feet for the first two
attached units and two thousand square feet for
each additional unit

Seven thousand square feet per duplex

Seven thousand square feet for the first two
attached units and two thousand square feet for
each additional unit

Seven thousand square feet for the first two
attached units and two thousand square feet for
each additional unit

The minimum lot area for all other uses shall be
five thousand square feet

Minimum lot width
Single-family detached

Fifty feet, except the minimum lot width at front
property line on the arc of an approved full cul-
de-sac shall not be less than thirty feet

Flag lots shall provide a minimum of twenty-
five feet of frontage along a public right-of-way

Townhouse Twenty-five feet per unit
Minimum setback
Front Yard Fifteen feet

Front of garages or carports

Twenty feet from the property line where access
occurs

Side yard Total a minimum of fifteen feet with one setback
not less than ten feet, which shall be on the
street side for corner lots

Rear yard Twenty feet

28

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020

Page 35 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Dimensional Requirements Requirement!
Setbacks for accessory building
behind a residence
Side Five feet each
Rear Five feet
Maximum height Thirty-five feet
Accessory Building Twenty-two feet
Principal building per lot One
Maximum building coverage Forty percent of the lot area

! Additional requirements shall include any applicable section of this title.

Finding: For the proposed cottage housing development, the dimensional standards of
Section 17.50.050 do not apply, as the applicable dimensional requirements are in Chapter
17.58. If the site is not developed with cottage housing, then the areas north and south of
the Maple Street extension provide sufficient area for multiple parcels in accordance with
Section 17.50.050, subject to review by a separate subdivision or site development review
application. Section 17.50.050 is satisfied.

Chapter 17.58 COTTAGE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

17.58.020 Applicability.

Cottage Housing Developments are allowed in all residentially zoned districts, as either a
permitted or conditional use. The procedures and criteria of 17.150 (Subdivisions) shall
apply to Cottage Housing Subdivisions. If a Cottage Housing Development is proposed
with multiple units on one lot, then the procedures and criteria of 17.120 (Site Development
Review) shall apply. Where the regulations of this chapter are not specific, the standards
of the relevant zoning district will prevail.

Finding: The site is in the R-4 zone, where Cottage Housing Developments are permitted
uses. The applicant has proposed a Cottage Housing Subdivision and has requested
approval of a subdivision as part of this application. Section 17.58.020 is satisfied.

17.58.030 Density.
For developments in the A-1 zoning district: The City shall allow density at the same level
as that permitted in the A-1 zone.

For developments in the R-1, R-4, and MH zoning districts: The City shall allow up to 1.5
cottage units for each regular dwelling unit allowed under existing standards in the
applicable zoning district to a maximum of 15 cottages per acre.

Finding: The site is in the R-4 zone and outside the Scappoose Creek floodplain, so the
minimum lot size for a single-family residence would be 5,000 square feet. Based on the
site size, up to 12 single-family residences would be allowed after deducting for the SE
Maple Street right-of-way. Therefore, up to 18 cottage units would be allowed under this
standard. The applicant is proposing 12 cottage units at a density of approximately 9 units
per acre. Section 17.58.030 is satisfied.

29

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 36 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

17.58.040 Development Area.

Cottage Housing Developments (CHD) shall contain a minimum of 4 and a maximum of
12 cottages arranged in a cluster. A Cottage Housing Development may contain more than
one cluster.

Finding: As illustrated on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, the applicant proposes two clusters. The
cluster north of SE Maple Street would contain 4 cottages and the cluster south of SE Maple
Street would contain 8 cottages. Section 17.58.040 is satisfied.

17.58.060 Lot Coverage and Floor Area.

1. There is no maximum lot coverage for Cottage Housing Developments.
2. There is no minimum lot size for Cottage Housing Developments.
3. The maximum floor area per dwelling unit without a garage is 1,200 square feet.

The maximum floor area is defined as the area included within the surrounding walls of a
cottage building on all levels.

4, The maximum floor area per dwelling unit with an attached or detached garage is
1,500 square feet, including the garage.

Finding: As illustrated on Exhibit 6, Sheet 2, the proposed cottages are two-story
structures with a footprint of 968 square feet. Accordingly, lot coverage would range from
67% to 58%. Exhibit 5, Sheet P-5 illustrates that lot sizes range from 1,664 to 2,630 square
feet. As illustrated on Exhibit 6, Sheet 2, the cottages are proposed to have a floor area of
1,200 square feet, and none of the units is proposed to have a garage. Section 17.58.040 is
satisfied.

17.58.070 Setbacks and Building Separation.

Because CHD’s are a unique type of development, setbacks are measured differently than
for a traditional development. The exterior boundary of the CHD development area is
considered to be the edge of the development area for the purposes of calculating perimeter
setbacks from surrounding properties. For buildings on lots within the CHD, the
separation between other onsite buildings are measured, not the distances to interior
property lines, unless setbacks from property lines are necessary to meet the Building Code
(interior setbacks).

1. Exterior Setbacks. All buildings within a CHD shall maintain front, rear and side
yard setbacks as required by the underlying zone from the exterior boundary of the CHD.
2. Interior Building Separation. There shall be a minimum separation of six feet

between the eaves of the cottages. On cottage sides with a main entrance, the minimum
separation shall be 10 feet. Structures other than cottages shall meet minimum Building
Code setback requirements.

Finding: The site is in the R-4 zone and outside of the Scappoose Creek floodplain, so per
Section 17.50.050, the required front setback is 15 feet, the required rear setback is 20 feet,
and the required side setbacks need to total at least 15 feet, with one setback not less than
10 feet. As illustrated on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, both north and south of Maple Street, the
site will provide the required front, rear, and side exterior setbacks. This sheet also indicates
that the separation between units will be at least 8 feet. Exhibit 6, Sheet 1 illustrates that

30

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 37 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

the cottage entrances will be in the front and rear rather than the sides and shows eaves that
overhang the foundation by approximately 1.2 feet, which would result in separation of
approximately 5.6 feet. The recommended conditions of approval require the eaves to have
no more than 1 foot of overhang to result in a minimum separation of 6 feet. Section
17.58.070 is satisfied.

17.58.080 Required Common Open Space. Common open space is intended to be an
amenity shared by all residents of the cottage housing development.

1. Provide a centrally located open space area for the cottage housing development
and have cottages abutting at least two sides.

2. Contain a minimum of 400 square feet per cottage.

3. At least 50 percent of the cottages shall abut a common open space.

4, Each cottage shall be connected to the common open space by a pedestrian
pathway.

5. Areas such as utility vaults, exterior setbacks and common parking areas and
driveways are not counted in the common open space requirements.

6. Common open space may contain a drainage swale area, provided the area is
useable open space.

7. Required common open space shall be provided at ground level in a contiguous
commonly owned tract with an easement indicating that it benefits all lots in the CHD.

8. Common open space shall have a minimum average width of 20 feet.

9. The common open space areas shall be constructed and landscaped prior to filing

a final plat or in the case of a site plan, construction and landscaping will be tied to final
occupancy of the first cottage.

10.  The common open space shall be recorded as a perpetual open space to benefit all
residents of the Cottage Housing Development prior to filing a final plat or prior to
obtaining a building permit.

Finding: As illustrated on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, the area north of SE Maple Street will
have 4 cottages and thus requires a minimum open space of 1,600 square feet. The applicant
proposes 2,033 square feet of open space in Tract A with a minimum average width of at
least 20 feet. All four cottages abut the open space and have pathways connecting from the
cottage entrances to the open space. The applicant has not counted utility vaults, setbacks,
or parking as part of the open space, and has not proposed drainage swales. Proposed
amenities include a picnic table, grill, and bench. The recommended conditions of approval
require an easement on the plat to ensure the open space benefits Lots 1-4 and language in
the Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions indicating that the open space shall be
maintained in perpetuity.

The area south of SE Maple Street will have 8 cottages and thus requires a minimum open
space of 3,200 square feet. The applicant proposes 3,202 square feet of open space in Tract
B with a minimum average width of at least 20 feet. Seven of the eight cottages abut the
open space and all eight have pathways connecting from the cottage entrances to the open
space. The applicant has not counted utility vaults, setbacks, or parking as part of the open
space, and has not proposed drainage swales. Proposed amenities include a picnic table,
grill, and gazebo. The recommended conditions of approval require an easement on the
plat indicating that the open space benefits Lots 5-12 and language in the Covenants,

31

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 38 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Conditions and Restrictions indicating that the open space shall be maintained in
perpetuity. Section 17.58.080 is satisfied.

17.58.090 Required Private Open Space. Private open space adjacent to each cottage is
intended for the exclusive use by the cottage resident.

1. Provide a total of 400 square feet of private open space that includes a minimum
of 200 square feet of contiguous usable open space adjacent to each cottage with no
dimension less than 10 feet. Front porches are not included in the private open space
calculation.

2. No more than 50% of the private open space can be within an unenclosed covered
patio.

Finding: As illustrated on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, Lots 1-3 are illustrated to have 300-square
foot rear open space and 100-square foot front or side open space, while Lots 4-12 are
illustrated to have 260-square foot rear open space and 150-square foot front open space.
In all cases, the areas over 200 square feet have no dimension less than 10 feet. Section
17.58.090 is satisfied.

17.58.100 Development Standards.

1. At least 50 percent of the cottages shall be oriented around and have their main
entrance facing the common open space.

2. Each cottage shall have a covered entry of at least 80 square feet with a minimum
dimension of six feet on any side.

3. Pedestrian pathways must be included to provide for movement of residents and
guests from parking areas to homes and other amenities. These pathways must be shown
on the subdivision tentative plan or site plan and be part of the common areas/tracts.

4. Garages attached or detached cannot exceed 450 square feet of floor area and no
more than 18 feet in height. Only one garage is allowed per cottage.

5. Accessory Dwelling units shall not be permitted in Cottage Housing Developments
(CHD’s).

6. Accessory Structures for common usage are allowed in the common open space
areas and shall not exceed more than 25% of the required common open space area. Other
accessory structures (except garages) are prohibited.

7. Cottages shall not exceed thirty five feet in height and accessory structures shall
not exceed 18 feet in height.

Finding: As illustrated on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, all cottages have front entries facing
toward the common open space and 108-square-foot front porches with dimensions of 6
feet by 18 feet. Each cottage has a pathway from its entrance to parking areas and open
space amenities. Neither garages nor accessory dwelling units are proposed. The proposed
gazebo in Tract B is approximately 102 square feet, or 3% of the required common open
space area. on Exhibit 6, Sheet 1 indicates that the cottages would have a height of
approximately 27 feet. While the height of the gazebo has not been indicated, given its
small diameter it should be well under the 18-foot accessory structure height limit. Section
17.58.100 is satisfied.

32

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 39 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

17.58.110 Parking Standards. Parking for CHD’s shall be located on the CHD property
and identified on the tentative subdivision plan and/or site plan. Onsite parking shall meet
the following standards:

1. Parking may be located within an enclosed garage, carport or unenclosed parking
space.
2. Parking may be located in common tracts if intended to be shared by the entire

CHD in groups of not more than 5 adjoining spaces separated by at least 4 feet of
landscaping. An enclosed garage or carport intended to be shared by the entire CHD shall
not exceed 1,200 sq ft in size.

3. Parking shall not be located in the exterior setback and must be screened from
public streets and adjacent residential uses by a 10 foot landscape buffer containing
landscaping and/or architectural screening.

4, Parking is allowed between or adjacent to structures only when it is located toward
the rear of the cottage and is served by an alley or private driveway.

5. Off-street parking requirements shall be calculated based on the requirements in
17.106.030.

6. All parking shall provide a minimum of 24 feet for maneuvering and backing
movements from garages, carports and/or parking areas.

Finding: As illustrated on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, all parking is proposed to occur in outdoor
parking lots in Tracts A and B, with no more than 5 adjoining parking spaces in any group,
and all groups separated with landscaping. No parking spaces are proposed in exterior
setbacks and Sheet P-14 indicates that a 6-foot sight-obscuring fence will be provided
around the site (except in the front yard). Section 17.106.030 requires 2 parking spaces for
each dwelling unit and the site plan depicts 9 spaces for Lots 1-4 and 17 spaces for Lots 5-
12. Twenty-four foot drive aisles are proposed, as required. Section 17.58.110 is satisfied.

17.58.120 Frontage Requirements. Individual cottage lots created as part of a CHD
subdivision are not required to have frontage on a public or private street. However, the
Development parcel shall have the minimum frontage on a public or private street as
required by the underlying zone.

Finding: As illustrated on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-5, the site would have 174 feet of frontage
on Maple Street, which complies with the 50-foot minimum for the R-4 zone. Only Lots 3,
4,5, and 12 are proposed to have frontage on the street. Section 17.58.120 is satisfied.

17.58.130 Architectural Details. Dwelling units shall contain architectural details.

1. Dwelling units must provide a minimum of five of the following architectural
features:
a. Stonework detailing on columns or across foundation.
b. Brick or stonework covering more than ten percent of the facade.
C. Wood, cladded wood, or fiberglass windows on all four elevations of the
building.
e. Decorative roofline elements including roof brackets or multiple dormers.
f. Decorative porch elements including scrolls, or brackets, or railings.
g. Decorative shingle designs.
h Decorative paint schemes (three or more colors).

33

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 40 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

i. Other architectural detailing may be approved by the community
development director if they are constructed with quality material, have a high level
of craftsmanship and are consistent with the architectural style of the dwelling.

2. Approved siding materials.

Brick.

Basalt stone or basalt veneer.

Narrow horizontal wood or composite siding (five inches wide or less).

Board and baton siding.

Wood or cementitious horizontal siding

Cedar shakes and shingles

3. Other materials may be approved by the community development director if they

are consistent with the quality of the approved siding materials and have historic

precedence in Scappoose.

~oo0oT

Finding: As illustrated in Exhibit 6 and discussed in the applicant’s narrative (Exhibit 3),
each cottage is proposed to have basalt stone veneer on the foundation, fiberglass windows,
decorative porch railings, dormers, three or more paint colors, and wood clad porch posts.
The applicant has proposed cementitious horizontal siding and shingles. Section 17.58.130
is satisfied.

17.58.140 Public Utilities. All lots shall be served by individual services from a private or
public distribution main. Any deviations from City standards need to be approved by the
City Engineer. All individual service lines that cross property shall be placed in an
easement. Fire access must be provided according to the requirements of the Uniform Fire
Code.

Finding: As illustrated in Exhibit 5, Sheet P-12, all lots are proposed to have individual
water and sanitary sewer services, with further discussion provided in the responses to
Chapter 17.154. Sheet P-6 illustrates a proposed fire truck turnaround in Tract B. In
accordance with Scappoose Municipal Code 15.04.010(A), compliance with the Fire Code
will be further refined during review of construction drawings. Section 17.58.140 is
satisfied.

17.58.150 Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions. Subsequent to Site Development
Review or final plat approval but prior to issuance of a building permit for any structure
in a Cottage Housing Development, set of conditions, covenants and restrictions (CC&Rs)
for the Cottage Housing Development shall be reviewed and, if approved by the City,
recorded with Columbia County. The CC&Rs must create a homeowner’s association that
will provide for maintenance of all common areas in the Cottage Housing Development.

Finding: The applicant provided a copy of preliminary Conditions, Covenants, and
Restrictions (Exhibit 13). The recommended conditions of approval require the CC&Rs to
specify that the open space shall be preserved in perpetuity; to specify that a homeowner’s
association will maintain the common areas, on-site storm drainage facilities, shared
utilities, and trash facilities; to require City signature prior to recording; and to specify that
the CC&R’s may not be amended without the written consent of the City. Section
17.58.150 is satisfied.

34

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 41 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Chapter 17.96 LOTS—EXCEPTIONS AND ADDITIONAL SETBACKS

17.96.030 Visual clearance requirements.

All development shall conform to the visual clearance area requirements of Scappoose
Municipal Code Chapter 12.10.

Finding: The Preliminary Site Plan (Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6) illustrates visual clearance areas
at the driveways. Section 17.96.030 is satisfied.

Chapter 17.100 LANDSCAPING, SCREENING AND FENCING
17.100.030 General Provisions

A Unless otherwise provided by the lease agreement, the owner, tenant and their
agent, if any, shall be jointly and severally responsible for the maintenance of all
landscaping which shall be maintained in good condition so as to present a healthy, neat
and orderly appearance and shall be kept free from refuse and debris.

B. All plant growth in landscaped areas of developments shall be controlled by
pruning, trimming or otherwise so that:

1. Public utilities can be maintained or repaired;

2. Pedestrian or vehicular access is unrestricted;

3. Visual clearance area provisions are met. (See Chapter 12.10, Visual Clearance
Areas.)

Finding: The applicant provided a copy of the preliminary Covenants, Conditions and
Restrictions (Exhibit 13). To present a healthy, neat and orderly appearance and allow
utility and pedestrian access and allow for visual clearance at the driveway, the
recommended conditions of approval require the CC&Rs to specify that a homeowner’s
association will maintain the common areas. According to the narrative (Exhibit 3),
individual homeowners will be responsible for maintenance within each lot. Section
17.100.030(A)-(B) is satisfied.

C. Certificates of occupancy shall not be issued unless the landscaping requirements
have been met or a bond has been posted with the city to insure the completion of
landscaping requirements.

Finding: While this section requires installation of landscape or posting of a bond, Section
17.58.080 requires that landscaping be installed for cottage housing developments and does
not provide an option for a bond. The recommended conditions of approval require
installation of landscaping prior to issuance of the final occupancy of the first structure in
the development. Section 17.100.030(C) is not applicable to this application.

D. Existing plant materials on a site shall be protected to prevent erosion. Existing
plant materials may be used to meet landscaping requirements if no cutting or filling takes
place within the dripline of the tree.

Finding: As illustrated in Exhibit 5, Sheet P-2, the applicant proposes to remove all trees
from the site, with the exception of trees that straddle property lines with neighboring

35

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 42 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

parcels. The City will require effective erosion control measures as part of site permitting.
Section 17.100.030(D) is satisfied.

17.100.090 Buffering and Screening Requirements

A Buffering and screening are required to reduce the impacts on adjacent uses which
are of a different type. The owner of each proposed development is responsible for the
installation and effective maintenance of buffering and screening. When different uses abut
one another, buffering and screening are required. When different uses would be abutting
one another except for separation by a right-of-way, buffering, but not screening, shall be
required.

Finding: The subject site abuts residential uses on all sides. The proposed development is
also a residential use. Therefore, no screening or buffering is required by this section.
Section 17.58.110 requires screening of the parking area from adjacent residences. Section
17.100.090 does not apply.

17.100.100 Screening—Special provisions

A If four or more off-street parking spaces are required under this title, off-street
parking adjacent to a public street shall provide a minimum of four square feet of
landscaping for each lineal foot of street frontage. Such landscaping shall consist of
landscaped berms or shrubbery at least two feet in height, which shall be dispersed
adjacent to the street as much as practical. Additionally, one tree which shall provide a
canopy of at least three hundred square feet upon maturity shall be provided for each fifty
lineal feet of street frontage or fraction thereof. Landscaped parking areas may include
special design features which effectively screen the parking lot areas from view. These
design features may include the use of landscaped berms, decorative walls, and raised
planters. Landscape planters may be used to define or screen the appearance of off-street
parking areas from the public right-of-way. Materials to be installed shall achieve a
balance between low lying and vertical shrubbery and trees,

Finding: The proposed parking areas are not located adjacent to a public street as they are
separated from the right-of-way by cottages. Section 17.100.100(A) does not apply.

B. Loading areas and outside storage shall be screened from public view from public
streets and adjacent properties by means of sight obscuring landscaping, fences, walls or
other means. The screen shall have a minimum height of six feet and the planning
commission may require a taller screen depending on the location and height of the loading
or storage area.

Finding: No loading areas or outside storage are proposed as part of this application.
Section 17.100.100(B) does not apply.

C. Except for one-family and two-family dwellings, any refuse container or disposal
area and service facilities such as gas meters and air conditioners which would otherwise
be visible from a public street, customer or resident parking area, any public facility or
any residential area, shall be screened from view by placement of a solid wood fence,

36

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 43 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

masonry wall or evergreen hedge between five and eight feet in height. All refuse materials
shall be contained within the screened area.

Finding: As shown in Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, south of Maple Street the refuse container
area on Tract B will be fully enclosed with wood fencing six feet high to screen it from
view. The recommended conditions of approval require the applicant to coordinate with
staff to provide screening for waste receptacles north of Maple Street for Lots 1-4. Section

17.100.100(C) is satisfied.

17.100.110 Fences or Walls

A Fences, walls or combinations of earthen berms and fences or walls up to four feet
in height may be constructed in required front yards. Rear and side yard fences, or
berm/fence combinations behind the required front yard setback may be up to six feet in
height without any additional permits. Any proposed fence or fence/berm combination
higher than six feet shall require a building permit. Any fence or fence/berm combination
greater than eight feet in height shall require planning commission approval in addition to
a building permit.

B. The prescribed heights of required fences, walls or landscaping shall be measured
from the lowest of the adjoining levels of finished grade.
C. Fences and walls shall be constructed of any materials commonly used in the

construction of fences and walls such as wood or brick, or otherwise acceptable by the
planner. Corrugated metal is not considered to be acceptable fencing material. Fences and
walls shall be in compliance with other city regulations.

Finding: The applicant proposes six-foot wood fencing around the trash facility and the
site perimeter, except in the exterior front setback. Section 17.100.110 is satisfied.

Chapter 17.104 STREET TREES

17.104.020 Applicability.

A The provisions of this chapter shall apply to all development as defined in
Scappoose Municipal Code Chapter 17.26, Definitions, except a building permit to add to
or remodel an existing single- family residence.

B. All development shall be required to plant street trees. Street trees shall be defined
as trees located on land lying between the property lines on either side of all streets,
avenues or public rights-of-way within the city or within easements defined on a recorded
plat as street tree easements.

C. All street trees required under this chapter shall be subject to the requirements of
Scappoose Municipal Code Chapter 17.140 Public Land Tree Removal.

Finding: The Preliminary Landscape Plan (Exhibit 5, Sheet P-14) indicates that Blireiana
Plum Street Trees are proposed to be planted approximately 15 feet apart. The street trees
will be planted in conjunction with future development of the roadways within the
proposed subdivision. Section 17.104.020 is satisfied.

17.104.040 Standards for street trees.
A Street trees shall be selected from the approved street tree list on file with the
Planning Department.

37

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 44 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

B. At the time of planting, street trees shall not be less than ten feet high for deciduous
trees and five feet high for evergreen trees.

C. Spacing and minimum planting areas for street trees shall be as follows:

1. Street trees under twenty-five feet tall and less than sixteen feet wide at maturity

shall be spaced no further than fifteen feet apart in planting areas containing no less than
sixteen square feet of porous surface and not less than four feet wide;

2. Street trees under twenty-five feet tall and greater than sixteen feet wide at maturity
shall be spaced no further than twenty feet apart in planting areas containing no less than
sixteen square feet of porous surface and not less than four feet wide;

3. Street trees between twenty-five feet to forty feet tall and less than twenty-five feet
wide at maturity shall be spaced no greater than twenty-five feet apart in planting areas
containing no less than twenty-four square feet of porous surface and not less than six feet
wide;

4. Street trees between twenty-five feet to forty feet tall and greater than twenty-five
feet wide at maturity shall be spaced no greater than thirty feet apart in planting areas
containing no less than twenty-four square feet of porous surface and not less than six feet
wide;

5. Street trees greater than forty feet tall at maturity shall be spaced no greater than
forty feet apart in planting areas containing not less than thirty-six square feet of porous
surface and not less than eight feet wide.

D. Street trees located under or within ten feet of overhead utility lines shall be less
than twenty-five feet tall at maturity.
E. Street trees shall be planted in accordance with the requirements of Scappoose

Municipal Code Section 13.28.010(C).

Finding: The Preliminary Landscape Plan (Exhibit 5, Sheet P-14) indicates that Blireiana
Plum Street Trees, which are on the approved street tree list, are proposed to be planted
approximately 15 feet apart, with a minimum caliper of 2 inches. The applicant has
indicated the spacing for each tree, based on the species and mature height, in accordance
with the above standards. The Conditions of Approval require the applicant to submit a
final landscaping plan prior to the start of construction. Section 17.104.040 is satisfied.

Chapter 17.106 OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS
17.106.020 General Provisions

A The dimensions for parking spaces are subject to the requirements in Section
17.106.050, and as follows:

1. Nine feet wide and eighteen feet long for a standard space;

2. Eight and one-half feet wide and fifteen feet long for a compact space; and

3. In accordance with the applicable state and federal standards, at least twelve feet

wide and eighteen feet long for designated handicapped parking spaces.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, all off-street parking spaces will be 9 feet
wide by 18 feet long, with the exception of one compact space proposed at 9 feet wide by
15 feet long. Accessible parking spaces are located within each parking lot. Section

17.106.020(A) is satisfied.

38

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 45 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

H. Location of Required Parking. Vehicle parking is allowed only on improved
parking shoulders that meet City standards for public streets, within garages, carports and
other structures, or on driveways or parking lots that have been developed in conformance
with this code.

1. Offstreet parking spaces for single-family, duplex dwellings and single-family
attached dwellings shall be located on the same lot with the dwelling.
2. Offstreet parking spaces for uses other than single- family or duplex residential

shall be located not further than four hundred feet from the building or use they are
required to serve, measured in a straight line.

Finding: As described in the narrative (Exhibit 3), the applicant is proposing to locate the
required parking within several tracts that will be commonly maintained by a homeowner’s
association. Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6 indicates that Tract ‘A’ will include a parking lot with 8
standard and 1 ADA parking stalls, while Tract ‘B’ will contain a parking lot with 15
standard, 1 compact, and 1 ADA parking stall. All parking areas are located within 400
feet of the proposed residential buildings._Section 17.106.020(H) is satisfied.

l. Where several uses occupy a single structure or parcel of land or a combination of
uses are included in one business, the total off-street parking spaces and loading area is
the sum of the requirements of the several uses, computed separately.

Finding: The proposed development will be in one use, cottage housing. The proposed
parking satisfies the required numbered of spaces in 17.106.030. Section 17.106.020(1) is
satisfied.

M. Parking lots shall be landscaped in accordance with the requirements in Section
17.100.100.

Finding: As shown on the landscape plan Exhibit 5, Sheet P-14, the proposed parking
lots are landscaped to the standards outlined in Section 17.100.100. Section 17.106.020(M)
is satisfied.

N. All parking areas which contain over five required spaces shall be provided with
one handicapped parking space. All parking provisions required by the ADA shall be met.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, the applicant proposes one accessible parking
space per parking lot. Section 17.106.020(N) is satisfied.

0. All parking spaces designated for compact vehicles shall be labeled by painting the
words “COMPACT ONLY” on the parking space.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, one compact parking space is proposed. The
recommended conditions of approval require this space to be labeled on site. Section

17.106.020(0Q) is satisfied.

P. Bicycle Parking
3. Exemptions

39

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 46 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

This Section does not apply to single-family and duplex housing, home occupations, and
agricultural uses. The planning commission may exempt other uses upon finding that, due
to the nature of the use or its location, it is unlikely to have any patrons or employees
arriving by bicycle.

Finding: The proposed development is for cottage housing consisting of 12 single-family
residences. No bicycle parking is required. Section 17.106.020(P) is satisfied.

Q. Any lights provided to illuminate any public or private parking area or vehicle sales
area shall be so arranged as to reflect the light away from any abutting or adjacent
residential district.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, the lighting proposed in vehicle areas will
utilize 90-degree cutoff lamps. Section 17.106.020(Q) is satisfied.

X. Off street parking of any vehicle or recreational vehicle, watercraft, or parts
designed to be affixed thereto, which obstructs the visual clearance area or creates a
potential safety hazard shall not be allowed in required yard.

Finding: The narrative (Exhibit 3) indicates that the applicant is not proposing to establish
parking areas for recreational vehicle or watercraft with this application. Section

17.106.020(X) is satisfied.

Y. Parking and loading areas shall be designed to minimize disturbances of adjacent
residents by erection between the uses of a sight-obscuring fence of not less than four feet
in height, provided that the provisions for visual clearance areas are met. Parking spaces
within a parking lot shall be designed and constructed so that no portion of a parked
vehicle, including an opened door, will extend beyond the property line.

Finding: Exhibit 5, Sheet P-14 indicates that a 6-foot sight-obscuring wood fence will be
provided around the site (except in the front yard). Section 17.106.020(Y) is satisfied.

17.106.030 Minimum Off-Street Parking Requirements
A Residential Uses
1. Single-family residence or duplex: 2 spaces for each dwelling unit

Finding: The proposed development is for a 12-unit cottage housing development, with 2
parking spaces required per unit. The site plan depicts 9 spaces for Lots 1-4 and 17 spaces
for Lots 5-12. Section 17.106.030(A) is satisfied.

17.106.040 Modification to Parking Requirements
Up to twenty-five percent of the required parking spaces may be compact spaces.

Finding: The applicant proposes one compact parking space, which equals 4% of the
required spaces. Section 17.106.040 is satisfied.

17.106.050 Parking Dimension Standards

40

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 47 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

A Each parking space shall be accessible from a street or other right-of-way.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, the proposed parking areas are accessible
from driveways onto SE Maple Street. A 24-foot-wide drive aisle connects each parking
space to SE Maple Street. Section 17.106.050(A) is satisfied.

B. Minimum standards for a standard parking stall’s length and width, aisle width,
and maneuvering space shall be determined from the following table. Dimensions for
designated compact spaces are noted in parentheses:

1. Sample Illustration:
* * k%%
x *
*hdhhkhkkdi
D
2. The width of each parking space includes a four inch wide stripe which separates
each space.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, each proposed parking space is angled at 90
degrees and is 9 feet wide and 18 feet deep, with the exception of one compact space which

41

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 48 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

is 9 feet wide and 15 feet deep. Parking spaces are separated by a 4-inch-wide white parking
stripe. Section 17.106.050(B) is satisfied.

C. Excluding single-family and duplex residences, groups of more than two parking
spaces shall be served by a service drive so that no backing movements or other
maneuvering within a street or other public right-of-way would be required. Service drives
shall be designed and constructed to facilitate the flow of traffic, provide maximum safety
of traffic access and egress, and maximum safety of pedestrians and vehicular traffic on
the site.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, all parking spaces can be accessed via a 24-
foot-wide drive aisle that will allow vehicle maneuvering to take place off of a public street
or other public right-of-way. Section 17.106.050(C) is satisfied.

D. Each parking or loading space shall be accessible from a street and the access
shall be of a width and location as described in the public works design standards.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, all parking spaces can be accessed via a 24-
foot-wide drive aisle. Section 17.106.050(D) is satisfied.

E. Except for single-family and two-family residences, any area intended to be used
to meet the off-street parking requirements as contained in this chapter shall have all
parking spaces clearly marked using a permanent paint. All interior drives and access
aisles shall be clearly marked and signed to show direction of flow and maintain vehicular
and pedestrian safety.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6 and discussed in the narrative, all parking
spaces will be marked by a 4"-wide white parking stripe. Section 17.106.050(E) is satisfied.

F. All areas used for the parking or maneuvering of any vehicle, boat, or trailer shall
be improved with asphalt or concrete surfaces except for surplus parking or vehicular
storage parking areas which may be gravel if gravel will not create adverse conditions
affecting safe ingress and egress when combined with other uses of the property and all
areas within public right-of-way shall be paved.

Finding: All parking, vehicle, and pedestrian areas will be hard-surface paved. Section

17.106.050(F) is satisfied.

G. Access Drives.

1. Access drives from the street to off-street parking or loading areas shall be
designed and constructed to facilitate the flow of traffic and provide maximum safety for
pedestrian and vehicular traffic on the site.

2. The number and size of access drives shall be in accordance with the requirements
of public works design standards.

3. Access drives shall be clearly and permanently marked and defined through use of
rails, fences, walls or other barriers or markers on frontage not occupied by service drives.
4. Access drives shall maintain visual clearance areas as provided in Chapter 12.10.

42

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 49 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Finding: Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6 indicates that consolidated access drives will serve the
proposed cottage units on the south and north side of SE Maple Street. The proposed 24-
ft. wide access drives will be clearly delineated by the proposed curbs and will provide
access to the proposed parking lots. The plan demonstrates that separate pedestrian access
will be provided with internal walkways that lead from the parking lot to the sidewalks
along SE Maple Street. Section 17.106.050(G) is satisfied.

H. Parking spaces along the boundaries of a parking lot or adjacent to interior
landscaped areas or sidewalks shall be provided with a wheel stop at least four inches high
located three feet back from the front of the parking stall. The front three feet of the parking
stall may be concrete, asphalt or low lying landscape material that does not exceed the
height of the wheel stop. This area cannot be calculated to meet landscaping or sidewalk
requirements.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, all parking spaces will utilize curb stops to
prevent vehicles from harming landscaping areas or infringing on pedestrian paths. Section

17.106.050(H) is satisfied.

l. Except for single-family and two-family residences, off- street parking and loading
facilities shall be drained to avoid flow of water across public sidewalks in accordance
with specifications approved by the public works director to ensure that ponding does not
occur.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheets P-7 and P-10, stormwater will flow into catch
basins in the parking areas before discharging to drywells._Section 17.106.050(1) is
satisfied.

J. Artificial lighting on all off-street parking facilities shall be designed to deflect all
light away from surrounding residences and so as not to create a hazard to the public use
road or street and shall not exceed intensities for adjacent streets as included in public
works design standards.

Finding: As shown on Exhibit 5, Sheet P-6, the lighting proposed in vehicle areas will
utilize 90-degree cutoff lamps. Section 17.106.050(J) is satisfied.

CHAPTER 17.150 - LAND DIVISION: SUBDIVISION

17.150.020. General Provisions.

[-]

C. When subdividing tracts into large lots, the planning commission shall require that the
lots be of such size and shape as to facilitate future re-division in accordance with the
requirements of the zoning district and this title.

Finding: The applicant is not proposing any lots that are of such size and shape as to allow
for future re-division. Section 17.150.020(C) is satisfied.

43

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 50 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

D. Where landfill and/or development is allowed within and adjacent to the one hundred-
year floodplain, the city may require the dedication of sufficient open land area for a
greenway adjoining and within the floodplain. This area shall include portions at a suitable
elevation for the construction of a pedestrian/bicycle pathway within the floodplain.

Finding: According to Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) 41009C0463D, dated 11/26/10,
the property is located outside the Special Flood Hazard Area. The southeastern corner of
the site (totaling approximately 25 square feet) is located in the Scappoose Drainage
District and is protected from the one percent annual chance (100-year) flood by a dike.
Section 17.150.020(D) is not applicable.

E. All subdivision proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas,
electrical and water systems located to minimize flood damage and constructed according
to public works design standards and specifications.

Finding: Proposed public utilities are shown in Exhibit 5. This exhibit illustrates the extent
of all proposed new water, sanitary, and storm sewer utilities on site. The applicant will be
required to construct all utilities to the City’s Public Works Design Standards and
Specifications. Section 17.150.020(E) is satisfied.

F. All subdivision proposals shall have adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to
flood damage.

Finding: Exhibit 5, Sheet P-7 shows the applicant’s proposed preliminary grading plan
and Exhibit 5, Sheet P-10 shows the proposed stormwater facilities on site. A preliminary
drainage (stormwater) report is included as Exhibit 9. As there is no public stormwater
system adjacent to the site, the applicant proposes to collect stormwater from SE Maple
Street and from within the site via catch basins and convey it to a series of drywells, similar
to nearby streets. The applicant proposes 3 private drywells north of SE Maple Street, 6
private drywells south of SE Maple Street, and 5 public drywells in SE Maple Street. The
appendices to the stormwater report include infiltration test results per the Public Works
Design Standards. A final stormwater report will be required prior to approval of
subdivision construction plans. Section 17.150.020(F) is satisfied.

H. All subdivision proposals shall include neighborhood circulation plans that
conceptualize future street plans and lot patterns to parcels within five hundred feet of the
subject site. Circulation plans address future vehicular/bicycle/pedestrian transportation
systems including bike lanes, sidewalks, bicycle/pedestrian paths, and destination points
and must meet the criteria in 17.120(Q). A circulation plan is conceptual in that its
adoption does not establish a precise alignment.

Finding: As illustrated in Exhibit 5, Sheet P-4, the developer has provided a conceptual
plan for a future public roadway network extending SE Maple Street eastward, with
connections to E. Columbia Avenue and SE EIm Street. Construction of this roadway
system is dependent upon annexation and development of parcels to the east. This
alignment roughly corresponds to the proposed local street connection identified in Figure
15 (Conceptual Local Street Connections) in the City’s 2016 TSP. The precise location and

44

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 51 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

design of the streets will be determined once future development proposals are evaluated,
but the conceptual plan demonstrates that the annexation area and properties to the east can
be efficiently served with transportation to provide smooth connections between land uses.
Section 17.150.020(H) is satisfied.

17.150.060 Approval standards--Tentative plan. A. The planning commission may
approve, approve with conditions or deny a tentative plan based on the following approval
criteria:

1. The proposed tentative plan complies with the city’s comprehensive plan, the
applicable chapters of this title, the public works design standards, and other
applicable ordinances and regulations;

2 The proposed plat name is not duplicative or otherwise satisfies the provisions of ORS
Chapter 92[.090(1)];

3. The streets and roads are laid out so as to conform to the plats of subdivisions and
maps of major partitions already approved for adjoining property as to width, general
direction and in all other respects, including conformance with submitted
neighborhood circulation plans, unless the city determines it is in the public interest to
modify the street or road pattern; and

4. An explanation has been provided for all public improvements.

Finding: The proposed Tentative Plan complies with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and
Development Code as detailed within the Findings of Fact. Review by the City Engineer
and all referral agencies ensures compliance with the City’s Public Works Design
Standards and Standard Specifications and all other applicable regulations regarding street,
sewer, water and all other public improvement configurations and construction materials,
as well as private utilities. Appropriate Conditions of Approval detailing required
improvements, and in particular development of a street system and storm drainage system
satisfying the policies outlined within the Comprehensive Plan, Development Code, and
Public Works Design Standards and Specifications, are included. Section 17.150.060(A,1)
is satisfied.

The applicant must confirm with the County Surveyor’s office that the subdivision name,
once chosen, is not duplicative. Section 17.150.060(A,2) is satisfied.

The neighborhood circulation plan submitted by the applicant is attached as Exhibit 5,
Sheet P-4. The plan demonstrates that the site can be developed in a logical pattern that
takes into account existing and future development on neighboring properties.

In addition to new local public streets (and the associated sidewalks, street lighting, and
street trees), the applicant is also proposing to install 8-inch water, 8-inch sanitary sewer,
and storm drainage systems (see Exhibit 5). Section 17.150.060(A, 3-4) is satisfied.

Chapter 17.154 STREET AND UTILITY IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS

17.154.030 Streets. A. No development shall occur unless the development has frontage or
approved access to a public street:

45

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 52 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

1. Streets within a development and streets adjacent to a development shall be improved in
accordance with this title and the public works design standards and specifications.

2. Any new street or additional street width planned as a portion of an approved street plan
shall be dedicated and improved in accordance with this title and the public works design
standards and specifications.

[..]

Finding: The proposed public street system illustrated on the submitted drawings will be
dedicated and improved in accordance with the Public Works Design Standards and
Specifications. Section 17.154.030(A) is satisfied.

B. Rights-of-way shall be created through the approval of a final subdivision plat or major
partition; however, the council may approve the creation of a street by acceptance of a
deed, provided that such street is deemed essential by the council for the purpose of general
traffic circulation:

[...]

D. The location, width and grade of all streets shall conform to an approved street plan
and shall be considered in their relation to existing and planned streets, to topographic
conditions, to public convenience and safety, and in their appropriate relation to the
proposed use of the land to be served by such streets:

1. Street grades shall be approved by the public works director in accordance with the
city’s public works design standards; and

2. Where the location of a street is not shown in an approved street plan, the arrangement
of streets in a development shall either:

a. Provide for the continuation or appropriate projection of existing streets in the
surrounding areas, or

b. Conform to a plan adopted by the council, if it is impractical to conform to existing
street patterns because of particular topographical or other existing conditions of the land.
Such a plan shall be based on the type of land use to be served, the volume of traffic, the
capacity of adjoining streets and the need for public convenience and safety.

3. New streets shall be laid out to provide reasonably direct and convenient routes for
walking and cycling within neighborhoods and accessing adjacent development.

E. The street right-of-way and roadway widths shall not be less than the minimum widths
described in the city’s public works design standards.

Finding: The proposed public rights-of-way will be dedicated by the approval of the Final
Subdivision Plat. At this location, SE Maple Street is designated as a local street in the
City’s TSP. Although the standard right-of-way width is 54 feet, to be consistent with the
existing street width to the west, the applicant proposes to dedicate a 60-foot right-of-way
width. The proposed streets will conform to all of the applicable City of Scappoose
standards and specifications. Section 17.154.030(B) is satisfied.

The proposed public streets will be designed to provide adequate street widths and grades
to comply with the City’s Public Works Design Standards. Section 17.154.030(D) is
satisfied.

46

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 53 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

The City’s Public Works Design Standards requires public rights-of-way and paved
roadways with curbs and sidewalks. The submitted drawings demonstrate a 60-foot right-
of-way. The applicant’s preliminary plans (Exhibit 5, Sheets P-6 and P-7) depict a 36-
foot paved width, 5-foot planter (excluding curb) with street trees, and 6-foot sidewalks
The Conditions of Approval require paving, curb, gutter, sidewalks, street lights and street
trees. An eight (8) foot public utility easement (PUE) will be required along all rights-of-
way for public utilities. Section 17.154.030(E) is satisfied.

F. Where necessary to give access or permit a satisfactory future division of adjoining
land, streets shall be extended to the boundary lines of the tract to be developed. A reserve
strip across the end of a dedicated street shall be deeded to the city; and a barricade shall
be constructed at the end of the street by the property owners which shall not be removed
until authorized by the public works director, the cost of which shall be included in the
street construction cost.

Finding: The preliminary plans in Exhibit 5 indicate that the applicant is proposing to
extend SE Maple Street to the eastern boundary of the site. The Conditions of Approval
require that the applicant install a barricade at the end of the stubbed street. Section

17.154.030(F) is satisfied.

G. No street name shall be used which will duplicate or be confused with the names of
existing streets within the city’s urban growth boundary, except for extensions of existing
streets. Street names and numbers are subject to review and approval the Scappoose rural
fire district.

Finding: No new streets are proposed. The applicant is proposing to extend SE Maple
Street. Section 17.154.030(G) is satisfied.

H. Concrete vertical curbs, curb cuts, wheelchair, bicycle ramps and driveway approaches
shall be constructed in accordance with standards specified in this chapter and the city’s
public works design standards. Concrete curbs and driveway approaches are required and
shall be built to the city’s configuration standards.

Finding: The Conditions of Approval require all streets to be constructed to the standards
detailed within the City’s Public Works Design Standards and Standard Specifications.
Section 17.154.030(H) is satisfied.

[...]

O. The developer shall install all street signs, relative to traffic control and street names,
as specified by the public works director for any development. The cost of signs shall be
the responsibility of the developer.

P. Joint mailbox facilities shall be provided in all residential developments, with each joint
mailbox serving at least two dwelling units.

1. Joint mailbox structures shall be placed adjacent to roadway curbs and shall comply
with provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act and implementing federal and state
regulations;

47

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 54 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

2. Proposed locations of joint mailboxes shall be designated on a copy of the tentative plan,
and shall be approved by the U.S. Post Office prior to plan approval; and

3. Plans for the joint mailbox structures to be used shall be submitted for approval by the
planner prior to final approval.

[]

R. Street lights shall be installed in accordance with the city’s public works design
standards.

Finding: The developer will incur the costs of all traffic control devices and street signs
within the subdivision.

The Conditions of Approval require that plans for the joint mailbox structure(s) be
approved by the U.S. Post Office and City planner prior to final plat approval.

Street lights will be required to be installed in accordance with the City’s Public Works
Design Standards and in coordination with the Columbia River PUD. Section
17.154.030(0), (P, 1-3), and R are satisfied by the Conditions of Approval.

S. A Transportation Impact Study (TIS) must be submitted with a land use application if
the conditions in (1) or (2) apply in order to determine whether conditions are needed to
protect and minimize impacts to transportation facilities, consistent with Section 660-012 -
0045(2)(b) and (e) of the State Transportation Planning Rule.

2. Applicability — TIS report. A TIS report shall be required to be submitted with a land
use application if the proposal is expected to involve one or more of the following:

a. The proposed development would generate more than 10 peak hour trips or more than
100 daily trips.

b. The proposal is immediately adjacent to an intersection that is functioning at a poor
level of service, as determined by the city engineer.

c. A new direct approach to US 30 is proposed.

d. A proposed development or land use action that the road authority states may contribute
to operational or safety concerns on its facility(ies).

3. Consistent with the city’s Traffic Impact Study (TIS) Guidelines, the city engineer will
determine the project study area, intersections for analysis, scenarios to be evaluated and
any other pertinent information concerning the study and what must be addressed in either
a TIS letter or a TIS report.

4. Approval Criteria. When a TIS Letter or Report is required, a proposal is subject to the
following criteria:

a. The TIS addresses the applicable elements identified by the city engineer, consistent with
the Traffic Impact Study Guidelines;

b. The TIS demonstrates that adequate transportation facilities exist to serve the proposed
development or, in the case of a TIS report, identifies mitigation measures that resolve
identified traffic safety problems in a manner that is satisfactory to the city engineer and,
when state highway facilities are affected, to ODOT,;

c. For affected non-highway facilities, the TIS report establishes that mobility standards
adopted by the city have been met; and

48

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 55 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

d. Proposed public improvements are designed and will be constructed consistent with
Public Works Design Standards and access standards in the Transportation System Plan.
5. Conditions of Approval.

a. The city may deny, approve, or approve a proposal with conditions necessary to meet
operational and safety standards; provide the necessary right-of-way for improvements;
and to require construction of improvements to ensure consistency with the future planned
transportation system.

b. Construction of off-site improvements may be required to mitigate impacts resulting
from development that relate to capacity deficiencies and public safety; and/or to upgrade
or construct public facilities to city standards.

c. Improvements required as a condition of development approval, when not voluntarily
provided by the applicant, shall be roughly proportional to the impact of the development
on transportation facilities. Findings in the development approval shall indicate how the
required improvements directly relate to and are roughly proportional to the impact of
development.

Finding: The applicant has submitted a Traffic Analysis Report (Exhibit 11) and
supplemental memo (Exhibit 12) to analyze traffic impacts. The 12 new cottages in the
proposed subdivision would generate approximately 113 average daily trips, including 12
PM Peak Hour trips and 9 AM Peak Hour trips, using Institute of Transportation Engineers
standard trip generation ratios for single-family detached residences.

The Traffic Analysis Report analyzed the effect that these additional trips would have on
the local street network. The study focused on five nearby intersections: SE Maple
Street/SE 3" Street, SE Maple Street/SE 4" Street, SE Maple Street/Highway 30, SE Elm
Street/SE 6th Elm Street, and E. Columbia Avenue/SE 4™ Street/NE West Lane Road. The
SE Maple Street /Highway 30 intersection is under Oregon Department of Transportation
jurisdiction while the remaining intersections are under City jurisdiction.

The traffic analysis examined the effect of the proposed subdivision and other approved
and pending developments and concluded that all of the study intersections will operate at
a LOS (level of service) of ‘E’ or better through the year 2021 buildout period. All
intersections meet or exceeds the City of Scappoose’s level of service standards with the
exception of the E. Columbia Avenue/SE 4™ Street/NE West Lane Road intersection (the
2016 Transportation System Plan (TSP) specifies that all-way stop-controlled intersections
have a target of LOS ‘D’ or better). However, the E. Columbia Avenue/SE 4™ Street/NE
West Lane Road intersection would have the same Level of Service ‘E’ in 2021 with or
without the proposed development. The SE Maple Street/Highway 30 intersection would
have a year 2021 volume-to-capacity (v/c) ratio of 0.63 with or without the development,
which meets ODOT’s mobility standards.

The traffic analysis indicates that the E. Columbia Avenue/SE 4™ Street/NE West Lane
Road intersection meets signal warrants in the year 2021, even without the proposed
development. The TSP identifies project #I4 for this intersection, consisting of a traffic
signal or roundabout, with an estimated cost of $500,000 in 2015 dollars. However, the
project is labeled as “aspirational,” which means that it “likely would not have city or state
funding by 2035.” Staff has not proposed any conditions of approval requiring mitigation

49

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 56 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

since the intersection improvements would not be proportional to the impact from the
proposed development.

The traffic analyses also addressed Transportation Planning Rule requirements for the zone
change, which are detailed in the response to Section 17.22.050. Section 17.154.030(S) is
satisfied.

17.154.040 Blocks. A. The length, width, and shape of blocks shall be designed with regard
to providing adequate building sites for the use contemplated, consideration of needs for
safe and convenient pedestrian and vehicular access and circulation and recognition of
limitations and opportunities of topography.

B. Except for arterial streets, no block face shall be more than five hundred and thirty (530)
feet in length between street corner lines and no block perimeter formed by the intersection
of pedestrian accessways and local, collector and arterial streets shall be more than one
thousand five hundred feet in length. If the maximum block size is exceeded, mid-block
pedestrian and bicycle access ways should be provided at spacing no more than 330 feet,
unless one or all of the conditions in Subsection C can be met. Minimum access spacing
along an arterial street must meet the standards in the city’s adopted Transportation
System Plan. A block shall have sufficient width to provide for two tiers of building sites.
Reverse frontage on arterial streets may be required by the planning commission.

Finding: The proposed street extension and subdivision expands an existing block in the
easterly direction, and the proposed preliminary plat and site plan demonstrates that the
layout can accommodate cottage housing. The street extension would accommodate a
future street layout on neighboring properties similar to that shown in Exhibit 5, Sheet P-
4; this layout would result in block lengths within the City’s 530-foot limitation. There are
no lots fronting an arterial. Sections 17.154.040(A-B) are satisfied.

17.154.050 Easements. A. Easements for sewers, drainage, water mains, electric lines or
other public utilities shall be either dedicated or provided for in the deed restrictions, and
where a subdivision is traversed by a watercourse, drainage way, channel or stream, there
shall be provided a stormwater easement or drainage right-of-way conforming
substantially with the lines of such watercourse and such further width as will be adequate
for conveyance and maintenance.

B. A property owner proposing a development shall make arrangements with the city, the
applicable district and each utility franchise for the provision and dedication of utility
easements necessary to provide full services to the development.

17.154.070 Sidewalks. A. Sidewalks are required and shall be constructed, replaced or
repaired in accordance with the city’s public works design standards.

[.]

Finding: The applicant is required by the Conditions of Approval to illustrate all existing
and proposed easements on the Final Plat and to provide an 8-foot public utility easement
adjacent to all rights-of-way. No known existing watercourses or drainage ways traverse
the proposed development.

50

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 57 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

The applicant is required by the Conditions of Approval to construct sidewalks in
accordance with the Public Works Design standards. Sections 17.154.050 and 17.154.070
are satisfied.

17.154.090 Sanitary sewers. A. Sanitary sewers shall be installed to serve each new
development and to connect developments to existing mains in accordance with the
provisions set forth by the city’s public works design standards and the adopted policies of
the comprehensive plan.

B. The public works director shall approve all sanitary sewer plans and proposed systems
prior to issuance of development permits involving sewer service.

C. Proposed sewer systems shall include consideration of additional development within
the area as projected by the comprehensive plan and the wastewater treatment facility plan
and potential flow upstream in the sewer sub-basin.

D. Applications shall be denied by the approval authority where a deficiency exists in the
existing sewer system or portion thereof which cannot be rectified within the development
and which if not rectified will result in a threat to public health or safety, surcharging of
existing mains, or violations of state or federal standards pertaining to operation of the
sewage treatment system.

Finding: The applicant proposes to connect to the existing public sewer in SE Maple Street
(Exhibit 5, Sheets P-12 and P-13). The new sewer line would be installed at the
developer’s expense. The applicant will be required by the Conditions of Approval to stub
a sewer connection to the eastern property boundary since the abutting property is not yet
annexed and is not currently connected to the sewer system. Section 17.154.090 is satisfied.

17.154.100 Storm drainage. A. The planner and public works director shall issue permits
only where adequate provisions for stormwater and floodwater runoff have been made,
and:

1. The stormwater drainage system shall be separate and independent of any sanitary
sewerage system.

2. Where possible, inlets shall be provided so surface water is not carried across any
intersection or allowed to flood any street.

3. Surface water drainage patterns shall be shown on every development proposal plan.
4. All stormwater analysis and calculations shall be submitted with proposed plans for
public works directors review and approval.

5. All stormwater construction materials shall be subject to approval of the public works
director.

B. Where a subdivision is traversed by a watercourse, drainageway, channel or stream,
there shall be provided a stormwater easement or drainage right-of-way conforming
substantially with the lines of such watercourse and such further width as will be adequate
for conveyance and maintenance.

C. A culvert or other drainage facility shall, and in each case be, large enough to
accommodate potential runoff from its entire upstream drainage area, whether inside or
outside the development. The public works director shall determine the necessary size of
the facility.

D. Where it is anticipated by the public works director that the additional runoff resulting
from the development will overload an existing drainage facility, the planner and engineer

51

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 58 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

shall withhold approval of the development until provisions have been made for
improvement of the potential condition or until provisions have been made for storage of
additional runoff caused by the development.

Finding: As depicted in Exhibit 5, Sheets P-10 and P-11 and discussed in the Preliminary
Stormwater Report (Exhibit 9) the storm system will be independent of the sanitary sewer
system. The proposed system design demonstrates that stormwater runoff from impervious
surfaces will be collected, treated, and discharged into the public system without impacting
street intersections. The submitted report includes required calculations and the plans
include details demonstrating that construction materials meet Public Works Design
standards.

As there is no public stormwater system adjacent to the site, the applicant proposes to
collect stormwater from SE Maple Street and from within the site via catch basins and
convey it to a series of drywells, similar to nearby streets. The applicant proposes 3 private
drywells north of SE Maple Street, 6 private drywells south of SE Maple Street, and 5
public drywells in SE Maple Street. The appendices to the stormwater report include
infiltration test results per the Public Works Design Standards. A final stormwater report
will be required prior to approval of subdivision construction plans. Section 17.154.100(A-
D) is satisfied.

17.154.105 Water system. The planner and public works director shall issue permits only
where provisions for municipal water system extensions have been made, and:

A. Any water system extension shall be designed in compliance with the comprehensive
plan existing water system plans.

B. Extensions shall be made in such a manner as to provide for adequate flow and gridding
of the system.

C. The public works director shall approve all water system construction materials.

Finding: All proposed building lots within the subdivision will be served by water lines
which must be designed in accordance with the Public Works Design Standards. The
applicant proposes installing an 8-inch water main that connects to the exiting line in SE
Maple Street. The Conditions of Approval require that the applicant demonstrate sufficient
domestic and fire flow pressure for all lots. The City Engineer will review and approve all
proposed plans. Section 17.154.105 is satisfied.

17.154.107 Erosion controls. A. Any time the natural soils are disturbed and the potential
for erosion exists, measures shall be taken to prevent the movement of any soils off site.
The public works director shall determine if the potential for erosion exists and appropriate
control measures.

B. The city shall use the city’s public works design standards as the guidelines for erosion
control.

Finding: The applicant will be required to conduct erosion control measures in accordance
with the City’s Public Works Design Standards. Erosion control Best Management
Practices, such as construction entrances, siltation fences, and other appropriate measures
as determined by the City and applicant during final engineering will be implemented in

52

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 59 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

accordance with City standards. The Conditions of Approval require review by the City
Engineer of all proposed plans. Section 17.154.107 is satisfied.

17.154.120 Utilities. A. All utility lines including, but not limited to those required for
electric, communication, lighting and cable television services and related facilities shall
be placed underground, except for surface mounted transformers, surface mounted
connection boxes and meter cabinets which may be placed above ground, temporary utility
service facilities during construction, high capacity electric lines operating at fifty
thousand volts or above [...]

B. The applicant for a subdivision shall show on the development plan or in the explanatory
information, easements for all underground utility facilities [...]

Finding: All new utility lines shall be placed underground. All private utilities will be
underground in an 8-foot Public Utility Easement (PUE) behind the right-of-way line, as
required by the Conditions of Approval. Additional easements may be required for
transformers upon coordination of final design with the Columbia River PUD.

The Conditions of Approval require review by the City Engineer of all proposed plans.
Section 17.154.120 is satisfied.

Chapter 17.164 PROCEDURES FOR DECISION MAKING—LIMITED LAND USE
DECISIONS

17.164.110 Approval authority responsibilities. [...]

B. The planning commission shall have the authority to approve, deny or approve with
conditions the following applications:

1. Subdivisions pursuant to Chapter 17.150;

[...]
C. The decision shall be based on the approval criteria set forth in Section 17.164.150.

[...]

17.164.150 Decision process. A. The decision shall be based on proof by the applicant that
the application fully complies with:

1. The city comprehensive plan; and

2. The relevant approval standards found in the applicable chapter(s) of this title and other
applicable implementing ordinances.

Finding: The applicant has submitted a Tentative Subdivision application on forms
provided by the City of Scappoose, has paid the applicable land use fees, and the Planning
Commission is, by the very nature of the limited land use decision deliberation, following
the correct procedures. Based on the submitted materials and the staff report, and as
conditioned within this report, the proposed Tentative Plan complies with the City’s
Comprehensive Plan and with the requirements of Title 17 of the Scappoose Municipal
Code. Sections 17.164.110(B) and (C) and 17.164.150(1) and (2) are satisfied. Due to the
consolidated application submittal, the Planning Commission will make a recommendation
to City Council on the cottage housing subdivision.

RECOMMENDATION

53

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 60 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020

Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

Based on the Findings of Fact and the material submitted by the applicant, staff
recommends that the Planning Commission recommend APPROVAL of application
ANX1-19/ZC1-19/SB1-19 by the City Council subject to the following Conditions of
Approval:

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL

PUBLIC UTILITIES/INFRASTRUCTURE

1.

All streets, utilities, and other public infrastructure improvements require a Right-of-
Way (ROW) permit and shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the City
of Scappoose Public Works Design Standards. The ROW permit shall be submitted
along with the plans and review fees for approval. Once approved, the applicant is
required to schedule a preconstruction meeting with the City Engineer and Public
Works Director and pay inspection fees prior to issuance of Notice to Proceed.

Prior to approval of final subdivision construction plans, detailed storm drainage,

sanitary sewage collection, and water distribution plans, which incorporate the

requirements of the City of Scappoose Municipal Code and the Public Works Design

Standards and Standard Specifications shall be submitted to, and approved by, the City

Engineer. Following construction and paving, sanitary sewer manholes and lines shall

be tested in accordance with the Public Works Design Standards. Water lines shall be

tested in accordance with the AWWA and the City of Scappoose Public Works Design

Standards. In addition, the following shall occur:

a. Provide erosion control measures meeting the requirements of the City of
Scappoose Public Works Design Standards, Section 2.0051.

b. Obtain NPDES permit from the Department of Environmental Quality prior to any
earthwork. A copy of the approved NPDES permit shall be submitted to the City
Engineer prior to approval of the subdivision design for construction.

c. Provide storm drainage meeting the City of Scappoose Storm Water Master Plan
and Public Works Design Standards. The on-site storm system shall be privately
owned and maintained by the Homeowners Association. The public storm system
shall utilize horizontal infiltration facilities rather than drywells. Provide
calculations demonstrating that the capacity of the proposed storm system is
adequate.

d. Provide stormwater quality treatment meeting the requirements of the City of
Scappoose Public Works Design Standards and per approval by the City Engineer
for all stormwater treatment systems. CWS or City of Portland standards are
acceptable treatment methods.

e. Construct 8-inch minimum water mains to serve the subdivision in accordance with
the Public Works Design Standards. Extend water main line to the eastern boundary
of the development and install an 8-inch isolation valve and blow-off at the end of
the water line, as directed by the City Engineer.

f. Rather than utilize 12 individual services with separate connections to the water
main, stub larger lines north and south of Maple Street, with services connecting to
those stubs.

54

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 61 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

g. Provide computations to the City Engineer and Fire Chief demonstrating adequate
domestic and fire flow for the subdivision.

h. Provide sanitary sewers meeting the requirements of the City of Scappoose Public
Works Design Standards. Extend 8-inch sanitary sewer line and stub to the eastern
boundary of the development as directed by the City Engineer.

i. Meet City of Scappoose Public Works Standards for all construction in the public
right-of-way.

3. Easements and maintenance agreements as may be required by the City Engineer for
the provision, extension, and maintenance of utilities shall be submitted to the City
Engineer for review and approval prior to filing of the Final Plat. All public utilities
that run across private property shall be within an exclusive public easement, which
shall be a minimum of 15 feet wide, but in all cases shall be wide enough to allow
construction and/or maintenance work to proceed within the easement limits as
required by the Public Works Design Standards.

4, Combined utility easements shall only be allowed with the consent of the City
Engineer, and only when they are of sufficient width to allow work on any utility
contained within the easement to be conducted within the easement limits. All required
easements, including those for natural gas, cable, electric, and telephone shall be shown
on the face of the Final Plat. All required public utilities shall be installed and approved
or a performance bond provided prior to the final approval of the plat for recording may
be submitted with City Manager approval.

5. All public utility services shall be extended to and through the property to points where
a future extension may reasonably be expected prior to the issuance of building permits
for individual residences (Public Works Design Standards Sections 3.0010 & 4.0010).

6. An 8-foot wide Public Utility easement shall be located along the frontage of the
existing and proposed street rights-of-way and be recorded as such on the Final Plat
unless otherwise approved by the City Engineer.

7. Prior to Final Plat approval, a hydraulic analysis and storm drainage report shall be
submitted which demonstrates to the satisfaction of the City Engineer that the site will
not flood nor will it cause increased flooding of adjacent properties either upstream or
downstream. The report shall include detailed design parameters for inclusion on the
final plans as well as on-site infiltration test in the location of the proposed facility, if
applicable, in compliance with the Public Works Design Standards.

8. The developer shall sign a Stormwater Access Easement and Covenant Agreement with
the City for inspection of the private stormwater facilities.

STREET SYSTEM

9. All street improvements shall meet City of Scappoose Public Works Design Standards
(PWDS), Section 5.0000.

55

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 62 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020

Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Right-of-way width, paved width, and sidewalk width of all proposed streets shall
comply with applicable standards in the Transportation System Plan and Public Works
Design Standards. Provide 60-foot right-of-way, 36-foot paved width, 5-foot planter
(excluding curb) with street trees, and 6-foot sidewalks along Maple Street. The street
right-of-way shall be dedicated on the Final Plat.

Following construction and prior to paving, the sanitary sewer manholes and lines shall
be mandrel, camera inspected, and once paved, vacuum tested in accordance with the
Public Works Design Standards.

The applicant shall install all required signage in accordance with the current Manual
on Uniform Traffic Control Devices and the Public Works Design Standards. This
includes all ADA markings, Stop, Yield signs, cross walks, stop bars and any additional
signing and striping as reviewed and approved by the City Engineer during final
engineering.

A barricade shall be installed at the edge of pavement at the eastern terminus of Maple
Street.

The developer shall be responsible for the installation of all street lights, street name
signs, stop signs, and any parking restriction signs or curb painting delineating parking
restrictions, per the requirements of the Scappoose Public Works Design Standards and
Specifications.

Joint mailbox facilities shall be provided, with each joint mailbox serving at least two
dwelling units, located adjacent to roadway curb. The mailboxes shall comply with
Section 17.154.030(P) of the Municipal Code, Chapter 11 of the Oregon Structural
Specialty Code, and U.S. Postal Service regulations and shall be approved by the U.S.
Post Office and the City Planner prior to Final Plat approval.

FIRE AND LIFE SAFETY

16.

17.

Pursuant to Scappoose Municipal Code 15.04.010(A)(5), the applicant shall comply
with Fire District Ordinance 17-02 and with Oregon Fire Code provisions, as
determined by the Scappoose Rural Fire District during the permitting phase.

The applicant shall provide fire hydrants as required by the Scappoose Rural Fire

District:

e Fire hydrants shall meet the fire department/city specifications and have an
integrated Storz nozzle for the large discharge port. After market add-ons are not
permitted. A blue reflector meeting the requirements of Fire District Ordinance 17-
02 shall be required adjacent to hydrants.

e The hydrant system shall be designed to meet flow requirements of the International
Fire Code. All hydrant locations shall be approved by the Fire District prior to
installation.

e All address numbers on the houses shall be in contrasting color to house color and
shall meet Fire District Ordinance 17-02.

56

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 63 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020
Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

GEOTECHNICAL

18.

The applicant shall provide a Geotechnical report to the City Engineer in accordance
with the Public Works Design Standards. A Geotechnical Engineer registered to
practice in the state of Oregon shall oversee earthwork portions of the development.
The applicant shall submit a review by the Geotechnical Engineer of record to verify
conformance of the final plan with the Geotechnical report.

LANDSCAPING, STREET TREES, AND OPEN SPACE

19.

20.

21.

Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit a final landscape plan
for the review and approval of the City Planner. The landscape plan shall indicate the
location, number, and species of all required plantings.

Prior to the issuance of the final building permit (occupancy) for the first structure
within Lots 1-4, the applicant shall be responsible for the installation of all landscaping,
perimeter fencing, and open space amenities in Tract A. Prior to the issuance of the
final building permit (occupancy) for the first structure within Lots 5-12, the applicant
shall be responsible for the installation of all landscaping, perimeter fencing, and open
space amenities in Tract B.

Prior to the issuance of the final building permit (occupancy) for the first structure
within Lots 1-4, the applicant shall be responsible for the installation of all street trees
on the north side of Maple Street, and prior to the issuance of the final building permit
(occupancy) for the first structure within Lots 5-12, the applicant shall be responsible
for the installation of all street trees on the south side of Maple Street. Trees shall be
installed in conformance with the requirements of Section 13.28.020 and Chapter
17.104 (Street Trees) of the Scappoose Municipal Code and shall include root barrier
adjacent to the sidewalks. The applicant shall provide a street tree plan for the review
and approval of the City Planner. All street trees shall have a two-inch minimum
caliper, exhibit size and growing characteristics appropriate for the particular planting
strip and be spaced as appropriate for the selected species and as may be required for
the location of above ground utility vaults, transformers, light poles, and hydrants. In
addition, street trees shall not be planted within 25 feet of street intersections or within
10 feet of hydrants. All street trees shall be of good quality and shall conform to
American Standard for Nursery Stock (ANSI Z60.1). Street trees located under or
within ten feet of overhead utility lines shall be less than twenty-five feet tall at
maturity. The City Planner reserves the right to reject any plant material that does not
meet this standard.

MISCELLANEOUS

22,

The applicant shall submit a revised copy of the Homeowners Agreement and Codes,
and Covenants and Restrictions (CC&R’s) of the subdivision for review and approval
by the City Planner and City Engineer. The CC&R’s shall:

57

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 64 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020

Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

a. Grant authority to the City to enforce the requirements for maintenance of the
private stormwater facilities in Tracts A & B.

b. Specify that the open space areas in Tracts A & B shall be maintained and preserved
in perpetuity for the benefit of the homeowners.

c. Specify that the association will maintain the common areas, on-site storm drainage
facilities, shared utilities, and trash facilities.

d. Provide an ongoing funding mechanism for the association to cover the costs of
maintenance and provide a copy of the reserve fund for city review.

e. Require City signature prior to recording at Columbia County.

f. Specify that the CC&R’s may not be amended without the written consent of the
City.

g. Building permits for structures will not be issued until the CC&R’s are approved
by the City and recorded at Columbia County.

The final plat shall depict an easement indicating that the Tract A open space benefits
Lots 1-4 and the Tract B open space benefits Lots 5-12.

The applicant shall provide screening for the waste receptacles for Lots 1-4, to the
satisfaction of the City Planner.

The eaves of each cottage shall have no more than 1 foot of overhang to result in a
minimum building separation of 6 feet (based on 8-foot separation between
foundations).

Parking lot and site lighting shall be required and shall be designed to deflect light away
from streets and neighboring properties. Fixture height, light type and lighting levels
shall function so as to assure compatibility with neighboring land uses. Shields shall be
incorporated as necessary to minimize glare and to focus lighting to its intended area.

The applicant shall provide signing for the disabled parking spaces and label all parking
spaces using permanent paint. Regular parking spaces shall have a minimum width of
nine feet and a length of eighteen feet. Compact spaces shall be labeled in permanent
paint and may have a minimum width of 8.5 feet and a length of 15 feet.

The developer and project engineer shall schedule a pre-design conference with the
City Engineer and Building Official.

Subdivision plans shall be submitted to and approved by the City Engineer prior to the
commencement of construction. An engineering design report with calculations for the
water, sewer and storm system, as applicable, shall be provided as required by City of
Scappoose Public Works Design Standards, Section 1.2040. Final drawings shall meet
the requirements of the City of Scappoose Public Works Design Standards, Sections
1.2020 and 1.2032.

The applicant shall follow all requirements of the City of Scappoose Public Works
Design Standards.

58

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 65 of 278



ANX1-19/7C1-19/SB1-19 May 7, 2020

Maple Street Cottages Annexation, Zone Change, and Subdivision

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

The developer shall obtain a Fill and Grading Permit for lot fill and grading from
Columbia County and the City of Scappoose, including the installation of any necessary
erosion control measures, per the standards set forth in the Scappoose Public Works
Design Standards and Specifications. Erosion control measures shall be reviewed and
approved by the City Engineer and the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality
as part of an Erosion Control Plan. The applicant shall submit an acceptable Erosion
Control Plan meeting DEQ requirements and City of Scappoose Public Works Design
Standards (Section 2.0051). The City shall withhold the Notice to Proceed until the
applicant provides an approved DEQ 1200C permit.

The developer shall enter into an Improvement Agreement with the City of Scappoose
for all public improvements. A performance bond of 110% of the Public Works
Construction costs shall be provided prior to the commencement of work.

All existing and proposed easements shall be illustrated on the Final Plat.

The Final Plat shall conform to the requirements of ORS Chapter 92 (Subdivisions and
Partitions) and that it shall contain a note specifying that the plat is subject to the
Conditions of Approval as set forth in the Land Use Approval for Local File number
ANX1-19/Z2C1-19/SB1-19.

If the Final Plat is recorded prior to construction and acceptance of the subdivision, the
developer shall provide a performance bond for 110% of the Public Works construction
costs.

Approval of a Tentative Plat shall expire twelve (12) months after the date of the formal
notice of decision.

The applicant shall furnish a full-size copy of the Final Subdivision Plat to the City of
Scappoose after the City has approved the Final Plat and the Plat has been recorded
with Columbia County.

59

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 66 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 67 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 68 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 69 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 70 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 71 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 72 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 73 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 74 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 75 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 76 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 77 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 78 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 79 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 80 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 81 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 82 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 83 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 84 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 85 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 86 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 87 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 88 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 89 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 90 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 91 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 92 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 93 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 94 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 95 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 96 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 97 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 98 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 99 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 100 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 101 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 102 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 103 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 104 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 105 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 106 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 107 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 108 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 109 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 110 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 111 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 112 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 113 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 114 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 115 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 116 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 117 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 118 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 119 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 120 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 121 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 122 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 123 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 124 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 125 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 126 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 127 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 128 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 129 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 130 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 131 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 132 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 133 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 134 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 135 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 136 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 137 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 138 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 139 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 140 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 141 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 142 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 143 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 144 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 145 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 146 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 147 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 148 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 149 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 150 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 151 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 152 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 153 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 154 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 155 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 156 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 157 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 158 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 159 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 160 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 161 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 162 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 163 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 164 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 165 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 166 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 167 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 168 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 169 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 170 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 171 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 172 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 173 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 174 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 175 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 176 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 177 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 178 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 179 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 180 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 181 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 182 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 183 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 184 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 185 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 186 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 187 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 188 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 189 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 190 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 191 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 192 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 193 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 194 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 195 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 196 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 197 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 198 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 199 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 200 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 201 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 202 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 203 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 204 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 205 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 206 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 207 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 208 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 209 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 210 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 211 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 212 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 213 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 214 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 215 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 216 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 217 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 218 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 219 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 220 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 221 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 222 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 223 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 224 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 225 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 226 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 227 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 228 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 229 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 230 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 231 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 232 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 233 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 234 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 235 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 236 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 237 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 238 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 239 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 240 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 241 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 242 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 243 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 244 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 245 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 246 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 247 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 248 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 249 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 250 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 251 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 252 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 253 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 254 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 255 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 256 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 257 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 258 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 259 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 260 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 261 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 262 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 263 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 264 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 265 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 266 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 267 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 268 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 269 of 278



Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 270 of 278



Ex by 22
Laurie Oliver
e —

From: Vicki Mason <vimason1060@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, May 07, 2020 12:24 PM

To: Laurie Oliver

Subject: Docket #ANX1-19/ZC1-19/SB1-19

Hi,

My name is Vicki Mason, 1 live on 52297 SE Cypress Ct. off of Maple. | know progress is coming but | have a few
concerns about the project.

1. On the corner of 4th and Maple there is a stop sign on Maple, but there needs to be a stop sign on 4th, during the
days schools is in session the intersection is very busy when school starts and ends, it is a school bus route to the Grade
school. You add construction vehicles to the mix it is a accident waiting to happen. Also the big hedge does not help on
corner of 4th and Maple.

2. Have you been down Maple towards the project, it is full of cracks and weeds, since this project has only one exit,
with all the extra traffic and construction vehicles it will be destroyed!

3. I'was sad to see that all the "cottages" were two story. | am a senior citizen and when we were looking for a home
we did not want steps. Also if you had a disability it would be easier with a one story.

Thanks for your time;

Larry and Vicki Mason

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 271 of 278



Laurie Oliver

m

From: Joe K <joek@assurancedevelopment.com>
Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2020 2:55 PM
To: Laurie Oliver
Subject: Traffic Engineer Comments
Lauri,

I have had a response from the traffic engineer in regard to the public comment submitted by Vicki Mason, please see
his bellow.

frank@charbonneauengineer.com

to me

Joe — Thanks for sending the neighbor comment regarding the intersection of 4t Street at Maple
Street. Here is my response.

The intersection was analyzed in the April 2019 TIA with the results establishing that it meets acceptable
operational standards at LOS 'C" in the AM & PM peak hours with stop sign control on the minor street (Maple
Street). Retaining the current stop control on Maple Street is the preferred option as Maple Street carries the
lower volume in both peak hours. Despite higher volumes on 4™ Street as documented in the study the situation
does not result in excessive delays on the stop approaches, as confirmed in the level of service results.
Additionally the crash history confirmed there was only one reported crash in the five year data period
according to the accident listing provided by ODOT indicating the intersection is operating safely. A review of the
March 2019 turning movement counts established that the intersection’s total entering volumes in the peak
hours was less than 345 vebhicles and is considered very low in terms of the operational capacity for stop
controlled location (again LOS 'C" conditions is acceptable operational level). Based on the findings of the traffic
study it is recommended that no traffic control changes be implemented. In regards to the vegetation near the
intersection potentially causing a sightline issue it is recommended that the City’s public works department be
contacted to investigate the matter as this is an existing condition not attributed in any way to the proposed
development.

Frank Charbonneau, PE, PTOE

Charbonneau Engineering

503.293.1118

I am grateful,

Joe

Snail Mail: 33470 Chinook Plaza 213
Scappoose OR 97056

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 272 of 278



Laurie Oliver
foooo o R i e e L e )

From: Dave Sukau

Sent: Friday, May 8, 2020 3:00 PM

To: Laurie Oliver; Chris Negelspach

Cc: Elizabeth-Happala

Subject: RE: Docket #ANX1-19/ZC1-19/SB1-19
Hi Laurie,

I will have to look at the current condition of that portion of Maple. We have been working from highest volume streets
to lowest in priority of crack sealing. | will have to get back to you on exactly when it will be sealed. | do agree that is not

the developer’s responsibility.

Thanks,

Dave

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 273 of 278



Y ScarrPopsE

tegosre

Memorandum

Date: May 12,2020

To: Laurie Oliver, CFM | City Planner & Planning Department Supervisor
From: Chris Negelspach, P.E., City Engineer

Subject:  Maple Street Cottages — Annexation Zone Change

Project: ANX1-19—ZC1—SBI1-19

I have reviewed the comment from Vicki Mason who lives at 52297 SE Cypress
Ct. off of Maple Street regarding her concern of the need for a stop sign at SE 4t
and Maple. | contacted Lisa Kelley of the Durham Bus Services who coordinates
the school buses for the Scappoose School District and confirmed that they have
several routes which run south down SE 4" in the morning and then north away
from the elementary schools in the afternoon. She confirmed that there are no
turning movements or stops at the intersection with 4t Street.

I also reviewed the condition of the site distance issue noted in Vickie’s email
which is located on the NW corner of the intersection at 33771 SE Maple. There
is a site obscuring hedge over 8-ft high located within the visual clearance
triangle and the right of way. The hedge exceeds the 3-ft maximum height within
the visual clearance area per SMC 1210.030, and is also not an allowed street
tree for use in the right of way per our current ordinance. We have informed her
to file a complaint with the Scappoose Police department for follow up by the
Traffic Safety Committee.

We will request that the consultant for the maple street cottages review the
warrants for the all stop condition and information to assess the site distance
issue for our follow up notice to the homeowner. The safety concerns regarding
construction traffic will be addressed with the general contractor at our
preconstruction meeting prior to issuing our Notice to Proceed.

Let me know | you have any follow up questions.

City of Scappoose * 33568 E Columbia Avenue  Scappoose, Oregon 97056 « 503.543.7146 « Fax 503.543.7182

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 274 of 278



Laurie Oliver EM/‘%}}L 02;

From: Noparat Davis <thainoy66@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, May 13, 2020 3:37 PM

To: Laurie Oliver

Subject: May 14 Meeting

We would like the phone number to call for the planning meeting. It would be nice if they could all be one level homes.
Our main concern is trespassing onto our private property. Will their proposed perimeter fence prevent that? And will
someone ensure they will build it and maintain it?

Thank you,
Robert & Noparat Davis

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 275 of 278


Ehappala
Typewritten Text
=======

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
========

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
&&&&&&


Laurie Oliver
“

From: Noparat Davis <thainoy66@gmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, May 13, 2020 5:02 PM

To: Laurie Oliver

Subject: Re: May 14 Meeting

Our number is We would like to request that the proposed perimeter fence be continuous so no one
could get around the barricade into our property. At this time | am unsure if | will need to speak about this.

Thank you.

Robert & Noparat Davis

Sent from my iPad

> On May 13, 2020, at 3:59 PM, Laurie Oliver <loliver@cityofscappoose.org> wrote:

>

> Noparat-

>

> 1 am happy to supply you with the phone number so that you can listen to the hearing via telephone, but | will need
the phone number you will be calling from so that we can accept your call when we see if come through our Microsoft
Teams Meeting app.

>

> The number to call will be: 1-971-337-3491, then enter the conference

>1D:376 734 702#

>

> The city cannot stipulate what type of home they build, as far as it being one or two story. | believe since the lots are
small there was little ability for them to build one story homes.

>
> The applicant is required by the recommended conditions of approval to fence the entire perimeter of the project,

with the exception of the front yard along the Maple Street frontage. There will be a barricade at the end of the new
extension of SE Maple Street, so it is possible that people could get around the barricade. Trespassing onto private
property is illegal, so if that became an issue, you could report it to the sheriff's department.

>

> The fence is required to be installed prior to each cottage clusters first home receiving its final occupancy permit
approval. In other words, prior to anyone moving into any of the homes in either the cottage cluster north of Maple
Street or the cottage cluster south of Maple Street, City staff will verify that the fence has been installed. This is
something that the homeowner's association would maintain.

>

> Please follow up with the phone number you will be calling from. Also, do you plan to provide verbal testimony during
the hearing?

>

> Thank you very much for reaching out.

>

> Best-

>

> Laurie Oliver, CFM | City Planner & Planning Department Supervisor

> City of Scappoose

> 33568 E Columbia Ave. | Scappoose, OR 97056 | tel: 503-543-7184

> email: loliver@cityofscappoose.org

Planning Commission Packet ~ May 14th, 2020 Page 276 of 278


Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
========

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
=========

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
&&&&&&

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text

Ehappala
Typewritten Text
&&&&&&


(L

CITY OF SCAPPOOSE

Council Action & Status Report

Date Submitted: May 13, 2020

Agenda Date Requested: May 18, 2020

To: Scappoose City Council

From: City Manager Michael Sykes

Subject: Cybersecurity Policy for the City of Scappoose

TYPE OF ACTION REQUESTED:

[ X] Resolution [ 1 Ordinance

[ 1 FormalAction [ 1 ReportOnly

ANALYSIS: This past year, CIS has experienced a significant increase in claims from
Cities due to cybersecurity attacks that have compromised their IT systems. St. Helens
and Tillamook are two examples of local governments that have experienced attacks
that caused damage to their IT systems. The Cost to repair their systems were covered
by CIS. As a part of updating the City’s insurance policy, we are increasing our
coverage for Cybersecurity protection. In order to qualify for this insurance coverage,
the City is required to adopt a Cybersecurity Policy. This policy is attached.

In addition, Cities are required to comply with the provisions of the Fair and Accurate
Credit Transaction Act provisions of the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act. In addition,
Cities are also required to comply with the Oregon Consumer ldentity Theft Protection
Act, also known as the Red Flag Policy. Best practices for protecting information from
identity theft have changed since the City adopted its protection plan in 2008 and are
updated in the new policy.

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No.
20-08: A Resolution Adopting Cybersecurity within the City of Scappoose.

SUGGESTED MOTION: | move Council adopt Resolution No. 20-08: A Resolution
Adopting Cybersecurity within the City of Scappoose as proposed.

Request for Council Action




RESOLUTION NO. 20-08

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING CYBERSECURITY WITHIN THE CITY OF
SCAPPOOSE

WHEREAS, Oregon public entities must comply with the Oregon Identity Theft
Protection Act, ORS 646A.600 — ORS 646A.628; and

WHEREAS, ORS 646A.622 (d) requires the implementation of a Cybersecurity
program; and

WHEREAS, The City of Scappoose complies with Oregon Statutory requirements.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:

1. The City Council for the City of Scappoose adopts the attached Cybersecurity
Program.

2. The City Council instructs the City Manager or the City Manager's designee to
provide City Staff and third-party vendors with a copy of the Program, and take
steps to ensure that the Program is being followed.

3. This resolution shall take effect immédiately upon adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Scappoose City Council and sighed by me, and the City
Recorder, in authentication of its passage on this  day of May, 2020.

CITY OF SCAPPOOSE, OREGON

Scott Burge, Mayor
Attest:

Susan M. Reeves, MMC
City Recorder




City of Scappoose

Cybersecurity Policy

Adopted by Resolution No. 20-XX
May




City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy

May 2020

Table of Contents
Roles and ReESPONSIDITIES ......co it e e e et et ee e e e e e tae s st s e e s e s scansnmter e e eeaeasraranteeasanran 3
IDENTIFY (D) 1oeitieitirieieeen e ieae e ee e et e mteeeiste s tbeaseseasssaeeaaseaameeeaneeae et aasesasaesasseensenesmseaamseeeamreeeasmeearanessnneesbnees 4
ASSET MBNAGGEIMENT. ...ttt e e e e s s bt e e e rb bt e e A s be et e s R e e e e n e n e e h e n e e nenee e s 4
PROTECT (PR) oottt rree ettt ittt e et e et e aeenteensae e nesantsnsnresearbeennnn Seesreenanneeerarersiaeaeaarensrenans 5
Identity Management, Authentication and Access CONtrol..........ccove il e 5
AWAreNESS ANA TTAINMING . .ceiii e icmreri e ieee i b e e eaeeeernerereeeaeaeaseeee fhs bt aane e eerarerasmnsnmaeeaaeeeaeaessnnrrananesens 6
Data SEOUNITY .....eeeeiei ettt e e e e e e ek d e e s Ee o2 Tt ren e e e nmre e e e e e e e e nne e nneaes 7
Data Classification...........ccciiiiicieie e e TR L S 7
Data Storage .....cooovcvveerieie et ercrca e . 7
Data Transmission ........cccceeeveceeecimeeccee e ............................ 8
Data Destruction........ccccvir it ; .................................................................... 8
Data StOrage .....coeoeeeicieie et neiais U URTPRRR | . 8
Information Protection Processes and Procedures............co.ooiiiiii T 9
Secure Software DeveIOPMENt .............coecerceriecriercuneainiiaiions OO 9
7 10T gid1aTe Y oTo VA S F=Tol T oo IOUUUUURU. TP ORISR 9
Network Infrastructure .............coce il T R 10
Network Servers......cevecieneneninnis | TN e e 10
Protective TeChNOlOGY .........occocmiiie it i . T S 11
Email Filtering.........;coo.ii | T W o NN ORI 11
Network Vulnerability Assessments...................... ST O TP 11
DETECT (DE)..coiiiiiitiiineirne v T OO OO P 12
Anomalies and EVents ............... i e rereren e rerrseranes PO OIOUSUSTSRRN 12
Security Continuous MONItOTING ... i 12
ANHEMAIWATE TOOIS. ... .ccitiiieeeeeeeecieeeesesseeees e oot s e ee e et es et eess e s s s e s eeen s e s ssetssenan et enansess st e e seenaneas 12
Patch Management ...........cii i 13
RESPOND (RS) ......iiiitien i P RO P PPN 13
RESPONSE PlANNING . it ittt e st ee s sttt e e e st e r b et ensb e e e e sbeb e e e ab s s ee e e ansae e e s s anee e e sanenean s aaaeearan 13
Electronic Incidents ....... T et ereeeeeiteferreoaEereereiaieteeanheeteaenrecasnbeeeaanaareaeaeAreeee s R Eee e e n e reeeaenren s 13
Physical INGIEIES ..o cevtee e eeeeser oo eeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeee e es e oo ees e eeeeees s es e eees e ereeeene 14
NOHFICALION. ... e e rn e e e e 14
RECOVER (RC}):.........i: et b e e e AR e R oA s e Rt 14
Appendix A — ACCEPIabIe USE PONCY . ...ooiiiii ittt e e e nssss e e e s srs e en e e n e aeannneeaas 15
Appendix B — Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement........ccciiiciivnieci s 19

Page 2



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

Objective

The focus of this policy is to help the City of Scappoose meet its objectives. We recognize that
information and the protection of information is required to serve our citizens. We seek to

to ensure that appropriate measures are implemented to protect our citizens’ information. This
Cybersecurity Policy is designed to establish a foundation for an organizational culture of
security. This policy will be reviewed annually and approved by the City Manager.

The purpose of this policy is to clearly communicate the City of Scappoose’s security objectives
and guidelines to minimize the risk of internal and external threats while taking advantage of
opportunities that promote our objectives.

This policy applies to all City of Scappoose elected officials, employees, contractors,
consultants, and others specifically authorized to access information and associated assets
owned, operated, controlled, or managed by City of Scappoose. Additionally, leadership must
ensure that all contracts and similar agreements with business partners and service providers
incorporate appropriate elements of this policy.

Compliance

Oregon public entities must comply with the Oregon Identity Theft Protection Act, ORS
646A.600 — 628. ORS 646A.622 (d) requires the implementation of a Cybersecurity program.
Non-compliance with this policy may pose risks to the organization; accordingly, compliance
with this program is mandatory. Failure to comply may result in failure to obtain organizational
objectives, legal action, fines or penalties. Breaches with the potential to impact more than 250
individuals must be reported to the Oregon Department of Justice.

https://www.doj.state.or.us/consumer-protection/id-theft-data-breaches/data-breaches/

Roles and Responsibilities

City of Scappoose has appointed the following roles and responsibilities to execute and monitor
the policies described in this document.

City Manager or designee
e Ensure that a written Cybersecurity Policy is developed and implemented.

e Confirm identification, acquisition, and implementation of information system software
and hardware.

e |dentify all Personally Identifiable Information.

e Ensure implementation, enforcement, and effectiveness of IT Security policies and
procedures.

e Facilitate an understanding and awareness that security requires participation and
support at all organizational levels.

Page 3



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

e OQversee daily activities and use of information systems to ensure employees, business
partners, and contractors adhere to these policies and procedures.

Employees and Contractors
¢ See Appendix A - Acceptable Use Policy

Identify, Protect, Detect, Respond, and Recover

The following sections outline City of Scappoose requirements and minimum standards to
facilitate the secure use of organizational information systems. The information presented in this
policy follows the format of the control families outlined in the National Institute of Standards and
Technology (NIST) Cybersecurity Framework (NIST CSF) Identify, Protect, Detect Respond,
and Recover.

The scope of security controls addressed in this policy focus on the activities most relevant to
City of Scappoose as defined by the Center for Internet Security (CIS) and industry best
practices. Questions related to the interpretation and implementation of the requirements
outlined in this policy should be directed to the City Manager or designee.

IDENTIFY (ID)

Obijective: To develop the organization’s understanding that’s necessary to manage
cybersecurity risk to systems, people, assets, data, and capabilities.

Asset Management

An inventory of all approved hardware and software on City of Scappoose’s network and
systems will be maintained in a computer program or spreadsheet that documents the following:

e The employee in possession of the hardware or software.
¢ Date of purchase.

e Amount of purchase. -

e Serial number.

e Type of device and description.

e A listing of software or devices that have been restricted.

Personally Identifiable Information (Pll)

An inventory of all Pll information by type and location will be taken. The following table may
be useful to inventory Pl

Location Pll by type Essential Location Owner
Website
Contractors

File in staff office
File in building

Page 4



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

File offsite

Desk top

HR System
Financial System
Laptop

Flash drive

Cell phones
Tablets

Other

Each manager will determine if Pll is essential. If Pll is not essential, it will either not be
collected, or (if collected) will be destroyed. Do not collect sensitive information, such as a
Social Security numbers, if there is no legitimate business need. If this information does serve
a need, apply your entity’s record retention plan that outlines what information must be kept,
and dispose of it securely once it is no longer required to maintain.

All Pll no longer needed shall be shredded if in paper form or destroyed by IT if in electronic
form.

The Oregon Identity Theft Protection Act prohibits anyone (individual, private or public
corporation, or business) who maintains Social Security numbers from:

¢ Printing a consumer's SSN on any mailed materials not requested by the consumer unless
redacted ; ; ;

e Printing a consumer's SSN on a card used by the consumer that is required to access
products or services

¢ Publicly posting or displaying a consumer's SSN such as on a website

Exceptions include requirements by state or federal laws, including statute records (such as
W2s, W4s, 1099s, etc.) that are required by law to be made available to the public, for use for
internal verification or administrative processes, or for enforcing a judgment or court order.

PROTECT (PR)

Obijective: To develop and lmplement appropriate safeguards to ensure the delivery of critical
services.

Identity Management, Authentication and Access Control

The City Manager or designee is responsible for ensuring that access to the organization’s
systems and data is appropriately controlled. All systems housing City of Scappoose data
(including laptops, desktops, tablets, and cell phones) are required to be protected with a
password or other form of authentication. Except for the instances noted in this policy, users
with access to City of Scappoose systems and data are not to share passwords with anyone.

City of Scappoose has established the following password configuration requirements for all
systems and applications (where applicable):

Page 5




City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

Minimum password length: 8 characters

Password complexity: requires alphanumeric and special characters
Prohibited reuse for four (4) iterations

Changed periodically every 90 days

invalid login attempts set to three

Automatic logout due to inactivity = 30 minutes

Other potential safeguards include:

Not allowing PII on mobile storage media

Locking file cabinets

Not allowing Pl left on desktops

Encrypting sensitive files on computers

Requiring password protection :

Implementing the record retention plan and destroying records no longer required

Where possible, multi-factor authentication will be used when users authenticate to the
organization’s systems.

Users are granted access only to the system data and functionality necessary for their
job responsibilities. ; :

Privileged and administrative access is limited to authorized users who require escalated
access for their job responsibilities and where possible will have two accounts: one for
administrator functions and a standard account for day to day activities.

All user access requests must be approved by City Manager or designee.

It is the responsibility of City Manager or designee to ensure that all employees and
contractors who separate from the organization have all system access removed.

On an annual basis, a review of user access will be conducted under the direction of City
Manager or designee to confirm compliance with the access control policies outlined above.

Awareness and Training

City of Scappoose personnel are required to participate in security training in the following
instances: '

1.

2.

All new hires are required to complete security awareness training before receiving login
credentials.

Formal security awareness refresher training is conducted on an annual basis. All
employees are required to participate in and complete this training.

Upon completion of training, participants will review and sign the Acceptable Use Policy
included in Appendix A.

Page 6



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

Two online classes are available through the CIS Learning Center at learn.cisoregon.org:
“Cyber Threats and Best Practices to Confront Them” and “Cyber Security Basics.”

On an annual basis, City of Scappoose will conduct email phishing exercises of its users. The
purpose of these tests is to help educate users on common phishing scenarios. It will assess

their level of awareness and comprehension of phishing, understanding and compliance with

policy around safe handling of e-mails containing links and/or attachments, and their ability to
recognize a questionable or fraudulent message.

Data Security

Data Classification

You must adhere to your Records Retention Policy regarding the storage and destruction of
data. Data residing on corporate systems must be continually evaluated and classified into the
following categories:

e Employees Personal Use: Includes individual user's personal data, emails, documents,
etc. This policy excludes an employee’s personal information, so no further guidelines
apply.

e Marketing or Informational Material: Includes already-released marketing material,
commonly known information, data freely available to the public, etc. There are no
requirements for public information.

e Operational: Includes data for basic organizational operations, communications with
vendors, employees, etc. (hon-confidential). The majority of data will fall into this
category.

o Confidential: Any information deemed confidential. The following list provides
guidelines on what type of information is typically considered confidential. Confidential
data may include:

o Employee or customer Social Security numbers or personally identifiable
information (PII)

Personnel files

Medical and healthcare information

Protected Health Information (PHI)

Network diagrams and security configurations

Communications regarding legal matters

Passwords/passphrases

Bank account information and routing numbers

Payroll information

Credit card information

Any confidential data held for a third party (be sure to adhere to any confidential
data agreement covering such information)

O 6 C G0 0 O O O O

Data Storage
The following guidelines apply to storage of the different types of organizational data.

Page 7



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

e Operational: Operational data should be stored on a server that gets the most frequent
backups (refer to the Backup Policy for additional information). Some type of system- or
disk-level redundancy is encouraged.

¢ Confidential: Confidential information must be removed from desks, computer screens,
and common areas unless it is currently in use. Confidential information should be
stored under lock and key (or keycard/keypad), with the key, keycard or code secured.

Data Transmission
The following guidelines apply to the transmission of the different types of organizational data.

o Confidential: Confidential data must not be 1) transmitted out3|de the organization’s
network without the use of strong encryption, 2) Ieft on voicemail systems either inside
or outside the organization's network.

Data Destruction
You must follow your records retention policy before destroying data.

e Confidential: Confidential data must be destroyed in a manner that makes recovery of
the information impossible. The following guidelines apply:

o Paper/documents: Cross-cut shredding is required.

o Storage media (CD's, DVD's): Physical destruction is required.

o Hard drives/systems/mobile storage media: At a minimum, data wiping must be
used. Simply reformatting a drive does not make the data unrecoverable. If
wiping is used, the organization must use the most secure commercially-
available methods for data wiping. Alternatively, the organization has the option
of physically destroying the storage media.

Data Storage

Stored Data includes any data located on organization-owned or organization-provided
systems, devices, media, etc. Examples of encryption options for stored data include:

¢ Whole disk encryption

e Encryption of partitions/files

o Encryption of disk drives

e Encryption of personal storage media/USB drives
e Encryption of backups

e Encryption of data generated by applications

Data while transmitted includes any data sent across the organization network or any data sent
to or from an organization-owned or organization-provided system. Types of transmitted data
that shall be encrypted include:

s VPN tunnels

Page 8



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

¢ Remote access sessions

e Web applications

¢ Email and email attachments

e Remote desktop access

¢ Communications with applications/databases

Information Protection Processes and Procedures

Secure Software Development

Where applicable, all software development activities performed by City of Scappoose or by
vendors on behalf of the organization shall employ secure coding practices including those
outlined below.

A minimum of three software environments for the development of software systems should be
available — development, quality assurance, and a production environment. Software
developers or programmers are required to develop in the development environment and
promote objects into the quality assurance and production environments. The quality assurance
environment is used for assurance testing by the end user and the developer. The production
environment should be used solely by the end user for production data and applications.
Compiling objects and the source code is not allowed in the production environment. The
information technology manager or an independent peer review will be required for promotion
objects into the production environment.

e All production changes must be approved before being promoted to production.

¢ Developers should not have the ability to move their own code.

¢ All production changes must have a corresponding help desk change request number.

¢ All production changes must be developed in the development environment and tested
in the quality assurance environment.

¢ All emergency changes must be adequately documented and approved.

Software code approved for promotion will be uploaded by City Manager or designee to the
production environment from the quality assurance environment once the change request is
approved. The City Manager or designee may work with the developer to ensure proper
placement of objects into production.

Contingency Planning

The organization’s business contingency capability is based upon local backups of all critical
business data. This critical data is defined as data that is critical to successfully carrying out the
operations/daily functions of the City of Scappoose. Full data backups will be performed on a
weekly basis. Confirmation that backups were performed successfully will be conducted weekly.
Testing of cloud backups and restoration capability will be performed on a monthly basis.

During a contingency event, all IT decisions and activities will be coordinated through and under
the direction of the City Manager or designee.

Page 9




City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

The following business contingency scenarios have been identified along with the intended
responses:

* In the event that one or more of City of Scappoose ’s systems or applications are
deemed corrupted or inaccessible, the City Manager or designee will work with the
respective vendor(s) to restore data from the most recent local backup and, if necessary,
acquire replacement hardware.

« Inthe event that the location housing the City of Scappoose systems are no longer
accessible, the City Manager or designee will work with the respective vendor(s) to
acquire any necessary replacement hardware and software, implement these at one of
the organization’s other sites, and restore data from the most recent local backup.

As an important reminder, CIS covers data reproduction (subject to a deductible) for only one
week. ;

Network Infrastructure

The organization will protect the corporate electronic communications network from the Internet
by utilizing a firewall. For maximum protection, the corporate network devices shall meet the
following configuration standards:

Vendor recommended, and industry standard configurations will be used.

¢ Changes to firewall and router configuration will be approved by City Manager or
designee. ; ~

e Both router and firewall passwords must be secured and difficult to guess.
The default policy for the firewall for handling inbound traffic should be to block all
packets and connections unless the traffic type and connections have been specifically
permitted.

¢ Inbound traffic containing ICMP (Internet Control Message Protocol) traffic should not be
passed in from the Internet, or from any un-trusted external network.

¢ All. web services running on routers must be disabled.

e Simple Network Management Protocol (SNMP) Community Strings must be changed
from the default “public” and “private”.

Network Servers

Servers typically accept connections from several sources, both internal and external. As a
general rule, the more sources that connect to a system, the more risk associated with that
system, so it is particularly important to secure network servers. The following statements apply
to the organization's use of network servers:

e Unnecessary files, services, and ports should be removed or blocked. If possible, follow
a server-hardening guide, which is available from the leading operating system
manufacturers.

e Network servers, even those meant to accept public connections, must be protected by
a firewall or access control list.

Page 10



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

o [f possible, a standard installation process should be developed for the organization's
network servers. A standard process will provide consistency across servers no matter
what employee or contractor handles the installation.

e Clocks on network servers should be synchronized with the organization's other
networking hardware using NTP or another means. Among other benefits, this will aid in
problem resolution and security incident investigation.

Network Segmentation

Network segmentation is used to limit access to data within the City of Scappoose network
based upon data sensitivity. City of Scappoose maintains two wireless networks. The guest
wireless network is password protected, and proper authentication will grant the user internet
access only. Access to the secure wireless network is limited to City of Scappoose personnel
and provides the user access to the infranet.

The following paragraph can be included if a third-party vendor is used for network
administration:

Under the direction of the City Manager or designee, the third-party network administrator
manages the network user accounts, monitors firewall logs, and operating system event logs.
The City Manager or designee authorizes vendor access to the system components as required
for maintenance.

Additional Considerations

Does the organization employ industry-accepted configurations/standards for mobile
devices, laptops, workstations, and other hardware and software?

Protective Technology

Email Filtering

A good way to mitigate email related risk is to filter it before it reaches the user so that the user
receives only safe, business-related messages. City of Scappoose will filter email at the Internet
gateway and/or the mail server. This filtering will help reduce spam, viruses, or other messages
that may be deemed either contrary to this policy or a potential risk to the organization's IT
security.

Additionally, additional software programs may have been implemented to identify and
guarantine emails that are deemed suspicious. This functionality may or may not be used at the
discretion of the City Manager or designee.

Network Vulnerability Assessments

On a weekly basis, City of Scappoose will perform both internal and external network
vulnerability assessments. The purpose of these assessments is to establish a comprehensive
view of the organization’s network as it appears internally and externally. These evaluations will
be conducted under the direction of City Manager or designee to identify weaknesses with the

Page 11




City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

network configuration that could allow unauthorized and/or unsuspected access to the
organization’s data and systems.

As a rule, "penetration testing," which is the active exploitation of organization vulnerabilities, is
discouraged. If penetration testing is performed, it must not negatively lmpact organization
systems or data.

Additional Considerations

Does the organization have technologies (e.g., web proxies/web filtering) in place that
limit a user’s access to dangerous or malicious sites? :

Does the organization monitor the flow of data across the network? -

Does the organization employ web application firewalls on web servers, if you host
your own website?

DETECT (DE)

Definition: Develop and implement appropriate activities to identify the occurrence of a
cybersecurity event.

Anomalies and Events

The following logging activities are conducted by mdependent IT contractor under the direction
of City Manager or designee:

e Domain Controllers - Active Directory event logs will be configured to log the following
security events: account creation, escalation of privileges, and login failures.

e Application Servers - Logs from application servers (e.g., web, email, database servers)
will be configured to log the following events: errors, faults, and login failures.

o Network Devices = Logs from network devices (e.g., firewalls, network switches, routers)
will be configured to log the following events: errors, faults, and login failures.

Passwords should not be contained in logs.

Logs of the above events will be réviewed by the independent IT contractor at least once per
month. Event logs will be configured to maintain record of the above events for three months.

Security Continuous Monitoring

Anti-Malware Tookls

All organization servers and workstations will utilize tools to protect systems from malware and
viruses. Real-time scanning will be enabled on all systems and weekly malware scans will be
performed. A monthly review of the dashboard will be conducted by City Manager or designee
to confirm the status of virus definition updates and scans.

City of Scappoose utilizes tools to protect mobile devices from malware and viruses.

Page 12



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

Paich management

All software updates and patches will be distributed to all City of Scappoose system as follows:
e Workstations will be configured to install software updates every week automatically.
e Server software updates will be manually installed at least monthly.
e Any exceptions shall be documented.

Additional Considerations
Does the organization manage the ongoing use of ports, protocols, and services on
networked devices to minimize vulnerabilities?

RESPOND (RS)

Definition: Develop and implement appropriate activities to take action regarding a detected
cybersecurity incident.

Response Planning

The organization’s annual security awareness training shall include direction and guidance for
the types of security incidents users could encounter, what actions to take when an incident is
suspected, and who is responsible for responding to an incident. A security incident, as it relates
to the City of Scappoose 's information assets, can be defined as either an Electronic or
Physical Incident.

City Manager or designee is responsible for coordinating all activities during a significant
incident, including notification and communication activities. They are also responsible for the
chain of escalation and deciding if/when outside agencies, such as law enforcement, need to be
contacted.

Electronic Incidents

This type of incident can range from an attacker or user accessing the network for
unauthorized/malicious purposes to a virus outbreak or a suspected Trojan or malware
infection. When an electronic incident is suspected, the steps below should be taken in order.

1. Remove the compromised device from the network by unplugging or disabling
. network connection. Do not power down the machine.
2. Report the incident to the City Manager or designee.
3. Contact the third-party service provider (and/or computer forensic specialist) as
needed.

The remaining steps should be conducted with the assistance of the third-party IT
service provider and/or computer forensics specialist.

4. Disable the compromised account(s) as appropriate.

5. Backup all data and logs on the machine, or copy/image the machine to another
system.

6. Determine exactly what happened and the scope of the incident.

Page 13




City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy

May 2020

7. Determine how the attacker gained access and disable it.

8. Rebuild the system, including a complete operating system reinstall.

9. Restore any needed data from the last known good backup and put the system back
online.

10. Take actions, as possible, to ensure that the vulnerability will not reappear.

11. Conduct a post-incident evaluation. What can be learned? What could be done
differently?

Physical Incidents

A physical IT security incident involves the loss or theft of a laptop, mobile device,
PDA/Smartphone, portable storage device, or other digital apparatus that may contain
organization information. All instances of a suspected physical security incident should be
reported immediately to the City Manager or designee.

Notification

If an electronic or physical security incident is suspected of having resulted in the loss of third-
party/customer data, notification of the public or affected entities should occur.
1. Contact CIS Claims at claims@cisoregon.org.
2. Inform your attorney
3. Complete this form if the breach involves more than 250 records.
https://justice.oregon.gov/consumer/DataBreach/Home/Submit

RECOVER (RC)

Recovery processes and procedures are executed and maintained to ensure timely restoration
of systems and/or assets affected by cybersecurity events.

CIS will help with the recovery process. CIS may provide forensics services, breach coaching
services, legal services, media services and assist in paying for notification expenses. The CIS
claims adjuster will discuss with you the coverages and services offered by CIS.

City Manager or designee is responsible for managing and directing activities during an incident,
including the recovery steps.

Recovery planning and processes are improved by incorporating lessons learned into future
activities.

Restoration activities are coordinated with internal and external parties, such as coordinating
centers, Internet service providers, owners of the affected systems, victims, and vendors.

External communications should only be handled by designated individuals at the direction of

City Manager or designee. Recovery activities are communicated to internal stakeholders,
executives, and management teams.

Page 14



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

Appendix A — Acceptable Use Policy

The intention of this Acceptable Use Policy is not to impose restrictions that are contrary to City
of Scappoose established culture of openness, trustworthiness, and uprightness. Understanding
and adhering the organization’s IT security policies is hecessary to protect our employees and
organization from illegal or damaging actions by individuals, either knowingly or unknowingly.
Effective security is a team effort involving the participation and support of every employee. ltis
the responsibility of every computer user to know these guidelines and to conduct their activities
accordingly. ‘

Purpose

The purpose of this policy is to outline the acceptable use of computer equipment, email, and
internet access at all locations. These rules are in place to protect the employee and the
organization. Inappropriate use exposes the organization to risks including virus attacks,
compromises of network systems and services, and legal liability.

Scope

This policy applies to both permanent and temporary employees of the organization. This policy
applies to all equipment that is owned or leased by the organization. This policy is a supplement
to the City of Scappoose Cybersecurity Policy.

1.0 Policy

The following actions shall constitute unacceptable use of the corporate network. The list also
provides a frame of reference for types of activities that are deemed unacceptable. The user
may not use the corporate network and/or systems to:

1. Engage in an activity that is illegal under local, state, federal, or international law.

2. Engage in any activities that may cause embarrassment, loss of reputation, or other harm
to the organization.

3. Disseminate defamatory, discriminatory, vilifying, sexist, racist, abusive, threatening,

obscene or otherwise inappropriate messages or media.

Engage in activities that cause an invasion of privacy.

5. Engage in activities that cause disruption to the workplace environment or create a hostile
workplace based on a legally protected class.

6. Make fraudulent offers for products or services.

Install, download or distribute unlicensed or "pirated" software.

8. Reveal personal or network passwords to others, including family, friends, or other
members of the household when working from home or remote locations.

s

N

Email
The following activities are strictly prohibited:

1. Using the email system to send or forward pornographic material.

Page 15




»

7.

8.

City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

Using the email system for any form of harassment whether through language, content,
frequency or size of the message.

Sending unsolicited bulk email messages, including the sending of “junk mail” or other
advertising materials to individuals who did not specifically request such material (email
spam).

Sending or forwarding emails of a non-business nature to the “All Employee” list.
Sending or forwarding emails of a non-business nature with either an excessive number
of attachments or attachments of excessive size (examples would be emails with
numerous photos, video clips, or large PowerPoint presentations).

Creating or forwarding “chain letters,” “Ponzi” schemes or other get rich quick “pyramid”
schemes of any type. ~

Using the email system in a manner that would violate the City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy. ; ‘

Opening file attachments with file extensions such as .vbs, .exe, .com, or .sys.

Social Networking/Blogging

The following applies to social networking/blogging:

1.

i

ENO O

9.

10.

11.
12.

Employees are discouraged from using employer-owned equipment, including
computers, organizationally licensed software or other electronic equipment, or
organization time to conduct personal blogging. Social networkmg activities are
discouraged.

Employees are expected to protect the privacy of the organization and its employees
and are prohibited for disclosing personal employee and nonemployee information and
any other proprietary and nonpublic information to which the employees have access.
Management strongly urges employees to report any violations or possible violations or
perceived violations to supervisors or managers. Management investigates and
responds to all- reports. of violations of the social networking policy and other refated
policies.

- Only executive management are authorized to remove any content that does not meet

the rules and guidelines of the policy or that may be illegal or offensive.

Views of the individual employee are not ever attributed to the City of Scappoose .
Posts must comply with existing policies re harassment and discrimination.

Posts must comply with existing policies re confidentiality and improper disclosures.
Online activities must not interfere or negatively affect work tasks or City of Scappoose,
except for “Concerted Activities.”

Employees must not reference City of Scappoose or its services in the employee’s social
medial posts, except for “Concerted Activities.”

City of Scappoose logos should not be used in the employee’s social media posts,
except for “Concerted Activities.”

Posts must not violate copyright laws.

Consult the Employee Personnel Handbook for further clarification.

Page 16



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

Clean Desk

A significant amount of confidential customer information is maintained in paper-based form. All
staff members are responsible for ensuring that this information is properly safeguarded and is
not improperly disclosed to unapproved third parties. In order to accomplish this, all employees
are responsible for:

1. Ensuring that paper-based information is appropriately monitored and protected.

2. Ensuring that all confidential documents are properly locked-up at the end of each
business day. Appropriate methods to secure documents include utilizing locking filing
cabinets or desk drawers, etc.

3. Maintaining a “clean desk” or working area throughout the day and ensure there are no
confidential documents in open view if absent from their desk for an extended period.
This will help to ensure that confidential customer information is not inadvertently
disclosed.

Computer Usage (Password)
The following password criteria will be used to access Windows workstations:

Minimum password length: 8 characters

Password complexity: requires alphanumeric and special characters
Prohibited reuse for four (4) iterations

Changed periodically every 90 days

Invalid login attempts set to three

Automatic logout due to inactivity = 30 minutes

oOabkwd =

Portable Devices
The following Portable Devices are allowed for organization use only:

1. Cell phones

2. Laptops/Tablets

3. Digital cameras

4. Any type of USB memory device or USB mass storage device

2.0 Monitoring

Employees should have no expectation of privacy for any information they store, send, receive,
or access via the organization’s network. Content monitoring of email by management may
occur without prior notice. All other monitoring, including but not limited to, internet activity,
email volume or size, and other forms of electronic data exchange may occur without prior
notice by management.

Page 17



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

Monitoring may occur without prior notice of a suspected violation, either in part or in whole, of
the Acceptable Use Policy or the City of Scappoose Cybersecurity Policy is detected or
reported.

3.0 Reporting

Employees must report to City Manager or designee when they learn of a suspected breach of
information or have lost a laptop, telephone, or USB memory with City of Scappoose
information. ‘

4.0 Enforcement

Any employee found to have violated this policy may be subject to discipli'nary action, up to and
including termination of employment. ‘

Signature

| have received a copy of the organization’s Acceptable Use Policy as revised and approved by
the management. | have read and understood the policy.

(Print your name)

(Signature) ‘ (Date)

Page 18



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

Appendix B - Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement

This Confidentiality and Nondisclosure Agreement (the "Agreement") is entered into by and
between City of Scappoose ("Disclosing Party") and ("Receiving
Party") for the purpose of preventing the unauthorized disclosure of Confidential Information as
defined below. The parties agree to enter into a confidential relationship with respect to the
disclosure of certain proprietary and confidential information ("Confidential Information").

1.

Definition of Confidential Information. For purposes of this Agreement, "Confidential
information" shall include all information or material that has or could have commercial value
or other utility in the business in which Disclosing Party is engaged. Examples of
Confidential Information include the following:

o Employee or customer Social Security numbers or personal information
e Customer data

¢ Entity financial data

e Product and/or service plans, details, and schematics,
e Network diagrams and security configurations

e Communications about entity legal matters

e Passwords

¢ Bank account information and routing numbers

e Payroll information

¢ Credit card information

¢ Any confidential data held for a third party

Exclusions from Confidential Information. Receiving Party's obligations under this
Agreement do not extend to information that is: (a) publicly known at the time of disclosure
or subsequently becomes publicly known through no fault of the Receiving Party; (b)
discovered or created by the Receiving Party before disclosure by Disclosing Party; (c)
learned by the Receiving Party through legitimate means other than from the Disclosing
Party or Disclosing Party's representatives; or (d) is disclosed by Receiving Party with
Disclosing Party's prior written approval.

Obligations of Receiving Party. Receiving Party shall hold and maintain the Confidential
Information in strictest confidence for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Disclosing Party.
Receiving Party shall carefully restrict access to Confidential Information to employees,
contractors, and third parties as is reasonably required and shall require those persons to
sign nondisclosure restrictions that are at least as protective as those in this Agreement.
Receiving Party shall not, without the prior written approval of Disclosing Party, use for
Receiving Party's own benefit, publish, copy, or otherwise disclose to others, or permit the
use by others for their benefit or to the detriment of Disclosing Party, any Confidential
Information. Receiving Party shall return to Disclosing Party any and all records, notes, and
other written, printed, or tangible materials in its possession pertaining to Confidential
Information immediately if Disclosing Party requests it in writing.

Time Periods. The nondisclosure provisions of this Agreement shall survive the termination

of this Agreement and Receiving Party's duty to hold Confidential Information in confidence
shall remain in effect until the Confidential Information no longer qualifies as a trade secret

Page 19



City of Scappoose
Cybersecurity Policy
May 2020

or until Disclosing Party sends Receiving Party written notice releasing Receiving Party from
this Agreement, whichever occurs first.

5. Relationships. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute either
party a partner, joint venturer or employee of the other party for any purpose.

6. Severability. If a court finds any provision of this Agreement invalid or unenforceable, the
remainder of this Agreement shall be interpreted so as best to affect the intent of the parties.

7. Integration. This Agreement expresses the complete understanding of the parties with
respect to the subject matter and supersedes all prior proposals, agreements,
representations, and understandings. This Agreement may not be amended except in a
writing signed by both parties.

8. Waiver. The failure to exercise any right provided in this Agreement shall not be a waiver of
prior or subsequent rights.

This Agreement and each party's obligations shall be binding on the representatives, assigns,

and successors of such party. Each party has signed this Agreement through its authorized
representative. ‘

Disclosing Party

By:

Printed Name:

Title:

Dated:

Receiving Party

By:

Printed Name:

Title:

Dated:

Page 20



CITY OF SCAPPOOSE

Council Action & Status Report

Date Submitted: May 13, 2020

Agenda Date Requested: May 18, 2020

To: Scappoose City Council

From: City Manager Michael Sykes

Subject: Red Flag Policies within the City of Scappoose

TYPE OF ACTION REQUESTED:

[ X] Resolution [ 1 Ordinance

[ 1 FormalAction [ 1 ReportOnly

ANALYSIS: Cities are required to comply with the provisions of the Fair and Accurate
Credit Transaction Act provisions of the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act. Cities are
also required to comply with the Oregon Consumer Identity Theft Protection Act. Best
practices for protecting information from identity theft have changed since the City
adopted its protection plan in 2008.

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No.
20-09: A Resolution Adopting Red Flag Policies within the City of Scappoose.

SUGGESTED MOTION: | move Council adopt Resolution No. 20-09: A Resolution
Adopting Red Flag Policies within the City of Scappoose as proposed.

Request for Council Action




RESOLUTION NO. 20-09

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING RED FLAG POLICIES WITHIN THE CITY OF
SCAPPOOSE

WHEREAS, Cities are required to comply with the provisions of the Fair and Accurate
Credit Transaction Act provisions of the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act;

WHEREAS, Cities are required to the Oregon Consumer Identity Theft Protection Act;
and

WHEREAS, Best practices for protecting 1nformat10n from identity theft have changed
since the City adopted its protection plan in 2008.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:
1.  The City Council for the City of Scappoose adopts the attached Red Flag
Policies.

2. The City Council instructs the City Manager or the City Manager's designee to
provide City Staff and third-party vendors with the new policies, and take steps
to ensure that they are being followed.

3.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Scappoose City Council and signed by me, and the City
Recorder, in authentication of its passage on this __ day of May, 2020.

CITY OF SCAPPOOSE, OREGON

Scott Burge, Mayor
Attest:
Susan M. Reeves, MMC
City Recorder




IDENTITY THEFT PREVENTION PROGRAM
“RED FLAG POLICIES”
% OBJECTIVES

The City of Scappoose adopts this policy to address the requirements of the Fair and Accurate Credit
Transaction Act provisions of the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act Rule 16, CFR § 681.2 ( the FTC
“Red Flag Rules”) and the Oregon Consumer Identity Theft Protection Act (“OCITPA”) set forth in
ORS 646A.600, ef seq. Under these laws City of Scappoose (City) must take appropriate measures
to guard personal and confidential information. The purpose of this policy is to identify patterns,
practices, or specific activities that indicate the possibility of Identity Theft and to take all reasonable
steps to prevent and mitigate the theft of personal information. Under the Red Flag Rules, the City
must adopt rules for Identifying and detecting “Red Flags” that raise concerns that personal
information is potentially being misused or stolen, and under OCITPA, the City must implement
safeguards for protecting the security, confidentially, and integrity of personal information entrusted
to the City by its customers and employees, including the proper disposal of such information.

City of Scappoose previously adopted a “An Identity Theft Protection Program/Red Flag Policy” on
October 20, 2008. ‘

+» DEFINITIONS '
e Identity Theft - A fraud committed or attempted using the “Identlfymg Information™ or “Personal
Information” of another person without authority.

o Identifying Information- Any name or number that may be used, alone or in conjunction with any
other information, to identify a specific person.

Identifying Informatlon includes, but is not hmlted to, a person’s:
Name
Address
Telephone
Social Security Number (SSN)
Date of Birth (DOB) :
Government issued Driver’s License Number or Identification Number (DL/ID)
Alien Registration Number
Government Passport Number .
Employer or Taxpayer Identification Number
Unique Electronic Identification Number
Computer Internet Protocol Address
Routing Code

.00 0000 000 0O

e Personal Information- A consumer or employee’s name in combination with: a SSN; a passport or
any federal ID number; a DL or ID number; or a financial, credit, or debit card number along with
a security code, access code, or password. It may also include the same types of information without
the name if the information obtained would be sufficient to permit a person to commit Identity
Theft against the person whose information was compromised.

e Private Information- A collective reference to Identifying Information and Personal Information.
e Red Flag - Any pattern, practice, or specific activity that indicates the possibility of Identity Theft.
Alert, notifications, or other warnings received from law enforcement or other governmental

agencies can be regarded as Red Flags for Identity Theft. Such information may include a fraud
alert or the United States Post Office providing a notice of address discrepancy.

Identity Theft Prevention Program “Red Fiag Policies” (Adopted by Resolution No. 20-XX on May 18, 2020) Page 1 of 3



< POLICY

d

/7
*

In compliance with the Red Flag Rules, the City shall implement a program taking all reasonable
steps to detect, prevent, and mitigate instances of Identity Theft and the misuse of Identifying
Information. To carry out this policy, the City has adopted and will implement the rules set
forth in this policy: to identify and detect Red Flags raising concerns that Identifying Information
is potentially being misused or stolen; and to outline procedures for safeguarding Private
Information.

Any document marked “Confidential”, “Sensitive”, “Proprietary”, or any document similarly
labeled. The City will implement and maintain reasonable safeguards to protect the security
and confidentiality of personal information, including proper custody and disposal.

For the protection of SSN’s the following activities are prohibited: printing SSN’s on any mailed
materials not requested by the employee unless redacted (meaning no more than the last four
digits is readable or accessible); or printing SSN’s on cards used to access products, services,
buildings, and publicly posting or displaying of SSN’s. Documents, forms, and processes that
include or require personal information will be reviewed to determine if and when obtaining or
retaining personal information is necessary. If the personal information is not necessary, the
forms and process will be revised to eliminate that information. Personal information, if no longer
needed, shall be redacted.

This policy includes five primary compliance areas: 1) determining what Private Information the
City holds; 2) being aware of potential Red Flags; 3) safeguarding Personal Information
entrusted to the City by its employees; 4) providing notice of theft or misuse of Personal
Information; and 5) implementing the policy.

 HARD COPY DISTRIBUTION

Access to Personal Information will be permitted in person at the City, only after verifying the
person’s identity through photo identification. Personal Information may also in the future be
obtained over the internet with secure password protection. Access to information via telephone
or internet (when available) shall require verification of his or her identification using information
that would only be known to the affected person. Information will not be given without first
clearing any discrepancies in the information provided.

Except when required by law, SSN’s shall not be printed on mailed materials unless redacted,

-shall not be printed on cards used to access products, services, or City buildings, and shall not be
- included on public postings or displays, including the City’s website. Social Security Numbers

may be used for internal verification or administrative processes, but should be redacted
whenever possible.

City buildings and all facilities used for record storage shall be locked at the end of each
workday and alarm systems engaged where applicable.

Desks, workstations, work areas, printers and fax machines will be cleared of all documents
containing sensitive information when not in use. File cabinets, desk drawers, cabinets and other
storage space containing documents with sensitive information will be locked when not in use.
When documents containing sensitive information are discarded they will be immediately
shredded using a mechanical cross cut shredder or stored in a secured space until transported to a
commercial shredding site by authorized personnel. A certificate of shredding or other proof
shall be required if the shredding is completed off-site.

Notary journals that contain personal information should be kept in a secured area or a locked file
cabinet or drawer. No identifying numbers shall be recorded in the notary journal. Type of
identifying document and expiration date may be recorded in the notary journal only.

Identity Theft Prevention Program “Red Flag Policies” (Adopted by Resolution No. 20-XX on May 18, 2020) Page 2 of 3



%o

% ELECTRONIC DISTRIBUTION
e Internally, sensitive information may be transmitted using approved City email.

e Any sensitive information sent externally must be encrypted and password protected and only to
approved recipients.

7
Lo

CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
¢ City employees will take reasonable care when accepting applications for service and be aware
of any suspect activity.

K7
(X4

NOTIFICATION ,

e The City shall provide notification of a security breach as soon as possible in writing, or
electronically if it is the primary manner of communication with the customer or employee, or by
telephone if the person is contacted directly. The exception is if the notification would impede a
criminal investigation. :

e A report will be prepared and submitted to the City of Scappoose Council of any identify theft
incidents and the response to the incident along with recommendations for changes to the
program, if any.

¢ THIRD PARTY VENDORS
The City has various business relationships with third party contractors. Under these business
relationships, the third-party contractor ‘may have access to customers Private Information
covered in this policy. The City shall ensure that the third-party contractors’ work for the
organization is consistent with this policy by

e Amending City contract templates to incorporate these requirements; or

e By determining through written acknowledgement that the third-party contractor has
reasonable alternative safeguards that provide the same or greater level of protection for
Private Information as provided by the City.

L4

EMPLOYEE TRAINING AND RESPONSIBILITIES

¢ All City employees are responsible to be familiar with the “Identity Theft Prevention Program
and Red Flag Policies”. Department Supervisors are also responsible to include this policy in
employee orientation.

¢ The City personnel are encouraged to use common sense judgment in securing the confidential
information to the proper extent. If an employee is uncertain of the sensitivity of a particular
piece of information, he/she should contact his/her supervisor and treat such information as
confidential until a determination is made. The City shall only collect sensitive information that
is necessary for each transaction or that is considered to be public information. Employees shall
adhere to this policy and any internal processes adopted by their department. Noncompliance
may result in formal disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

Identity Theft Prevention Program “Red Flag Policies” (Adopted by Resolution No. 20-XX on May 18, 2020) Page 3 of 3



CITY OF SCAPPOOSE

Council Action & Status Report

Date Submitted: May 14, 2020

Agenda Date Requested: May 18, 2019

To: Scappoose City Council

From: Dave Sukau, Public Works Director

Alexandra Rains, Assistant City Manager

Subject: Stormwater Master Plan Agreement

TYPE OF ACTION REQUESTED:

[ 1 Resolution [ 1 Ordinance
[ x] Formal Action [ 1 ReportOnly

ANALYSIS: In order to complete a comprehensive update of the City’s Stormwater

Master Plan, Staff issued a Request for Proposal (RFP) on March 6, 2020 to solicit
proposals from engineering firms. Responses to the RFP were received on April 6%,
2020. The City received proposals from the following firms:

1) Cardno
2) Brown & Caldwell
3) Keller Associates

Following review of the proposals and interviews with each firm, the Selection
Committee made a final recommendation to enter into contract negotiations with Brown
& Caldwell on April 16t, 2020.

FISCAL IMPACT: The total cost for the Stormwater Master Plan Project is $303,704.00.
The budget for the project will be split over two fiscal years, $247,899 will be spent in
2020-2021 and the remaining $55,805 will be spent in 2021-2022.

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends Council authorize the City Manager to
execute an agreement with Brown & Caldwell to complete the Stormwater Master Plan
Project.

SUGGESTED MOTION: | move Council authorize the City Manager to approve the
agreement with Brown & Caldwell to complete the Stormwater Master Plan Project.
Request for Council Action




Scope of Services

City of Scappoose Stormwater Master Plan

The City of Scappoose (City) is developing an updated Stormwater Master Plan (SMP) to improve
understanding of system characteristics and infrastructure in the city to support the development and
prioritization of stormwater capital projects, which will address conveyance, capacity, system condition
and maintenance, and water quality for both existing and future development.

Key objectives for the SMP include an evaluation of hydrology and stormwater flows, the identification of
system deficiencies and conveyance needs, and the development and prioritization of capital
improvement projects. Presentation of the SMP shall be clear, concise, and implementable.

This scope was developed in conjunction with tasks outlined in the Request for Proposal (RFP).

Work on the SMP is estimated to occur over the next 16 months (FY 2020-2021 and FY 2021-2022),
including presentation of the SMP to the public and to City Council for adoption. For budgeting purposes,
phases and tasks identified for completion during FY 2021-2022 have been identified with an asterisk.
Additionally, two tasks (Phase 6 and Task 7.2) are identified as optional and have not been costed as
part of this scope of work. Efforts related to the two optional tasks can be authorized through
amendment by the City.

For purposes of this scope and contract, Brown and Caldwell (Engineer) is the prime contractor and
overseeing contract management and development of the SMP. Subcontractors (FCS Group and GSI)
are identified for key tasks by name. The collective project team is referred to as the Engineer team.

Phase 1 Project Management

Objective To provide overall contract management and oversee the project phases, schedule and
budget. To maintain ongoing communications with the City of Scappoose (City). To
provide quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) throughout the project.

Task 1-1 Project Administration

Activities The Engineer will provide overall contract management and coordinate to ensure the
project receives staff support necessary to meet the schedule and maintain project
quality. Activities budgeted under Task 1-1 include:

o Overall schedule management. An initial project schedule will be developed using
Excel. It will identify anticipated task duration, start/stop dates, and scheduled QA/QC
reviews. Up to three schedule updates (in digital form) will be made available to the
City.

o Qverall budget management. Budget tracking will occur via WorkSmart, the Engineer’s
internal tool for tracking weekly project costs by project phase and task. Internal
month end reporting will be conducted by the Engineer to estimate effort to complete
and will be used to identify budget challenges in advance. While not anticipated,
budget challenges would be communicated directly to the City during project

Brown o Caldwell :

SID 28198 10f 19



Exhibit A Scappoose Scope of Services

coordination meetings and resolution/scope adjustments/amendments will be
documented with emailed meeting summaries.

« Development of a Project Management Plan (PMP). The Engineer shall prepare a
PMP to document project roles, responsibilities, and QA/QC protocols.

« Subcontractor coordination and oversight. The Engineer will work with the
Subcontractor to review subcontractor’s budget, coordinate deliverable schedules and
identify data gaps and other project issues during the project duration.

« Monthly invoicing with project progress reports. The Engineer will prepare invoices to
reflect budget spent and work completed at the phase level.

» Document Control and Delivery. Final deliverables including mapping, models,
technical memoranda, and reports will be provided digitally to the City at the
conclusion of the project.

Task 1-2 Project Coordination Meetings

Activities Monthly check-in phone calls will be conducted during the project duration to discuss
project progress and coordinate deliverables for the City. Key staff from the Engineer
team will participate in the phone call. The Engineer will provide a brief email following
each call to summarize key decisions, action items for the Engineer team and City staff,
issue resolution, and any scope/budget adjustments.

Task 1-3 Quality Assurance and Quality Control Reviews

Activities Draft deliverables and model activities will have a QA/QC review conducted in
accordance with the project schedule. Internal QA/QC meetings will be held in advance of
each draft deliverable to confirm assumptions and schedule for review. Draft deliverables
prepared by the Subcontractor deliverables will have a final QA/QC review by the
Engineer in accordance with the project schedule.

Phase 1 Deliverables

The following deliverables are included under Phase 1:

« Project schedule

e Monthly progress reports with invoices

« Monthly project coordination meeting scheduling

+ Emails to follow project coordination meetings, including a list of key decisions and action items
Phase 1 Assumptions

The following assumptions are made for Phase 1:

o The project duration is 16 months.

« Two draft deliverables (technical memoranda) prepared by the Engineer and one compiled draft SMP
prepared by the Engineer will have a QA/QC review in accordance with Task 1.3.

« Two draft deliverables (technical memoranda) prepared by the Subcontractors will have a QA/QC
review in accordance with Task 1.3.

« QA/QC review of the hydrologic and hydraulic modeling is reflected under this Phase.

e Monthly coordination meetings will be conducted via telephone and attended by key staff, as
necessary. A total of 16 meetings are assumed.

e Progress reports will summarize major activities completed during the invoicing period.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.



Exhibit A

« Additional project meetings are included under the individual technical tasks.

Phase 2

Objective

Task 2-1

Activities

Task 2-2

Activities

Task 2-3

Activities

Task 2-4

Activities

Data Gathering

To compile, examine, and evaluate existing data, records, and reports to aid in capital
project identification and SMP development. Use the data collection process to identify
data needs and gaps.

Project Kickoff Meeting

City staff and the Engineer team will initiate a project kick-off meeting to confirm project
goals, objectives and priorities, and outline the anticipated schedule for the project.

Prior to this meeting, the Engineer team will prepare a meeting agenda, preliminary
project schedule, and data request list. The Engineer will also prepare a draft internal
stormwater questionnaire, to be completed by City staff in advance of Task 2-3, to
document areas of known stormwater system deficiencies.

The data request list and draft stormwater questionnaire will be reviewed in detail during
the project kick-off meeting.

Following the kick-off, the Engineer will finalize the stormwater questionnaire and submit
it to the City for distribution to staff.

GIS Data Compilation and Review

The Engineer will review the geographic information system (GIS) and other technical
documentation provided by the City to compile and organize information in support of the
stormwater planning efforts.

The Engineer will conduct a cursory review of the City’s existing storm drainage
information in GIS to evaluate the extent of existing information and locations of the city
with limited storm drainage infrastructure. GIS data will be reviewed for completeness in
terms of open channel and pipe information including inverts, rim elevations, and pipe
diameters. The Engineer will also conduct a desktop analysis to compare available light
detecting and ranging (LIDAR) data with documented rim elevations to confirm that data
are recorded on a consistent datum, and can be used for future system-wide modeling.

GIS data and identified data gaps or deficiencies that may impact project objectives and
schedule will be documented in a matrix format for discussion with the City during a
scheduled coordination phone call.

Preliminary Mapping

Base maps will be prepared to document information collected as part of Task 2-2. Maps
will reflect current city limits, land use and areas of future development, soils and
topography, the current stormwater collection system and facilities, and existing
stormwater system data gaps (inverts, rims, etc.).

Site Visits

The Engineer will conduct one day (8 hours) of field investigations to verify identified
stormwater problem areas and clarify discrepancies in the GIS. Objectives of the site
visits may include:

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022,



Exhibit A

Scappoose Scope of Services

Task 2-5
Activities

« Verification and refinement of subbasin delineations (if needed). See Task 3-2.
« \Verification of areas with future development potential

« Initial observation and documentation of areas of the city with known capacity
deficiencies, as identified in the completed stormwater questionnaires and staff
interviews

« Observation, qualification, and documentation of known potential water quality retrofit
opportunity areas and UIC decommissioning needs.

« Observation and documentation of areas with current maintenance issues

« Observation and documentation of open-channel or natural-channel locations that
may benefit from channel bank enhancement, improved riparian vegetation, or other
in-stream channel improvements

« Other identified stormwater problem areas

Prior to the site visits, the Engineer and City staff will identify locations to visit during a
scheduled project coordination meeting. Targeted locations will be identified including
locations where private property may require access agreements.

Field data forms for internal use will be completed during the site visits to document
observations and findings.

Stormwater Problem Area Workshop

The Engineer will prepare maps of the stormwater system by basin, identifying where
significant data are available to support development of a hydrologic/ hydraulic model.

The Engineer will review the received and completed staff stormwater questionnaires,
results from the staff interviews, and other planning and design reports to document
areas of the city with known stormwater capacity issues, aging infrastructure, areas with
a lack of stormwater infrastructure, and areas with nhon-compliant or non-functioning
UICs. Reported problem areas will be compiled into a matrix to facilitate discussion.

The Engineer will prepare an agenda, meeting materials, and facilitate a 2-hour
workshop with City staff to discuss identified stormwater problem areas and to assess
where targeted stormwater system hydraulic modeling is needed for master planning
purposes.

During the workshop, attendees will review storm system information in each City-defined
basin, to discuss and identify the following:

« What is the suspected source/ cause of the various problem areas (i.e., lack of
infrastructure, repair/ replacement need, lack of system maintenance, capacity
limitation, etc.)?

» Is there additional aging or failing infrastructure to inform condition assessment
efforts?

« Are capital projects already proposed to address the identified problems?

« Is future development anticipated to cause future system capacity problems or
exacerbate existing problems?

+ What are the City’s highest priority problem areas to address?

« Are there locations where little is known about system capacity and additional
information is desired?

+ Where are the preferred locations to conduct hydraulic modeling efforts?

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.



Exhibit A

Scappoose Scope of Services

Task 2-6

Activities

« If hydraulic modeling is desired, are sufficient data available or is additional field
survey work required?

During the workshop, the Engineer will work with City staff to confirm planning and
design criteria for the stormwater infrastructure in accordance with Phase 10.

Outcomes from the workshop, specifically those priority problem areas and areas
requiring hydraulic modeling will be documented in an updated problem area summary
matrix, mapped, and referenced during hydraulic modeling efforts (Phase 3), retrofit
assessment efforts (Phase 4), UIC assessment efforts (Phase 5) and condition
assessment efforts (Phase 7). The summary matrix will serve as the meeting minutes
from the workshop.

Hydraulic modeling extents will be confirmed, following this task, with the City during a
scheduled coordination call.
Documentation

The Engineer will prepare Technical Memorandum (TM#1): Stormwater Basis of Planning,
in order to compile information developed from Phases 2, 4, 5 and 10. TM#1 will include
the following:

« Applicable stormwater planning and design criteria (Phase 10).

« A summary of the process for identifying stormwater problem areas and capital
improvement program (CIP) opportunities with city staff and external stakeholders
(Phase 2).

« Results from the retrofit assessment (Task 4) and UIC assessment (Task 5).

Matrices reflecting identified stormwater problem areas (developed under Task 2-6 and
Phase 5) and water quality opportunities (developed under Phase 4) will be incorporated
into TM#1, as they form the basis for CIP development efforts.

Phase 2 Deliverables

The following deliverables are included under Phase 2:

+ Project kick-off meeting agenda

¢ Datarequest list

« Draft and final staff stormwater questionnaire, to be completed by City staff and returned to the
Engineer prior to Task 2-3

« Summary matrix documenting GIS data received from the City, identified data gaps, and proposed
data gap resolution

» Stormwater problem area workshop meeting agenda and meeting materials including mapping

o Summary matrix documenting results of the stormwater problem areas workshop, including
confirmation of hydraulic model extents

» Draft TM#1: Stormwater Basis of Planning

Phase 2 Assumptions

The following assumptions are made for Phase 2:

« Atotal of two Engineer team members will attend a 2-hour project kick-off mesting (Task 2-1).

« The City’s project manager will invite appropriate engineering, planning, and maintenance staff to
participate in the project kick-off meeting and distribute meeting materials prior to the meeting.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.



Exhipbit A Scappoose Scope of Services

e The City’s project manager will distribute the final stormwater questionnaires to City staff and
facilitate collection and return of completed questionnaires to the Engineer within the timeline
established during the project kick-off meeting.

« The City will provide a venue for the project kick-off meeting.

o The City will provide the Engineer with data in response to the data request lists within a mutually
agreed upon timeline.

¢« The Engineer will be able to contact Geocomm regarding GIS-related questions and GIS data format.

s« The Engineer will supplement City-provided GIS information with Metro Regional Land Information
System (RLIS) data to produce the preliminary maps.

« |n conjunction with Task 2-5, initial SDIC coordination efforts are anticipated. Attendance for up to
two meetings with SDIC are budgeted under Task 13-3.

« Participation of two Engineer Staff are budgeted for one day (8 hours/ day) under Task 2-4. This time
allocation assumes travel time, time in the field and time downloading and documenting findings,
photos, etc. Field verification by Engineer staff in Task 2-4 is limited to visual observations and hand
measurements. No topographic survey or GPS measurements are included in the Engineer’s scope
of services. Additional site visit needs will attempt to be timed in accordance with budgeted in-
person meetings and workshops.

« City staff with knowledge of the stormwater system and natural stream channels will be available to
accompany Engineer staff during site visits (Task 2-4). City staff will provide transportation during
field investigation efforts.

« The City will secure any needed right-of-entry and/or permissions for Engineer staff to conduct
needed field investigations.

e Three Engineer staff will attend the 3-hour Surface Water Problem Area Workshop.
¢ Review of Municipal Code and Public Works Standards is budgeted under Phase 10.

« TM#1 will be provided to the City for review and comment. City comments not affecting technical or
project related assumptions will be addressed at the time that the TMs are incorporated into the
master plan. The City will provide the Engineer with one consolidated set of comments with any
internal conflicting comments resolved on TM#1.

Phase 3 Hydrologic and Hydraulic Modeling

Objective Develop a hydrologic model of the city’s drainage basins for existing and future flows.
Develop targeted hydraulic models specific stormwater infrastructure systems to
evaluate problem areas and future infrastructure needs.

Task 3-1 Data Collection Support

Activities Based on the results of Task 2-2 and 2-6, the Engineer will prepare a summary of the
existing storm system data required to support the development of hydraulic models. The
Engineer will summarize locations of the system in a spreadsheet format to facilitate
data collection efforts. The Engineer will confirm data collection needs and surveying
scope via the regularly scheduled coordination calls.

Data collection and survey will be contracted independently by the City.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.



Exhibit A

Scappoose Scope of Services

Task 3-2

Activities

Task 3-3

Activities

Task 34

Activities

Subbasin Delineation

The Engineer will reference the current GIS inventory (Task 2-2) and preliminary mapping
(Task 2-4) to delineate stormwater subbasins. Subbasin size will vary according to the
extent of the stormwater system mapped. Subbasins may extend outside of the city limits
to account for contributing areas, but detailed delineation of areas outside the City is not
anticipated.

Field investigations (Task 2-5) may be used to confirm the subbasin delineations.

Hydrologic Model Development

The Engineer will verify assumptions related to the hydrologic analysis, including land use
and impervious assumptions, soil characteristics, and vacant and developable lands with
the City during a project coordination phone call. Hydrologic input parameters will refer to
previous master planning efforts, if available.

The Engineer will conduct hydrologic modeling of the city using XPSWMM modeling

software or other approved SWMM modeling platform. BC will simulate flows associated
with the 2-year, 5-year, 10-year, 25-year, and 100-year 24-hour rainfall (based on a SCS
Type 1A distribution). Hydrologic model results will be tabulated for inclusion in the SMP.

Hydrologic modeling methods and results will be documented in TM#2: Modeling
Methods, Assumptions, and Results under Task 3-5.

Hydraulic Model Development and Validation

Stormwater system data compiled and collected under Tasks 2-2 and 3-1 will be
imported into XPSWMM or other approved SWMM hydraulic models to evaluate targeted
model locations.

Existing-conditions flows calculated under Task 3-3 will initially be simulated in select
drainage basins for model validation. Validation efforts will be limited to comparing
existing-conditions model results for a select storm event to available information from
the City such as flooding reports and photographs. If validation adjustments are
necessary, the hydrologic model results developed under Task 3-3 will be adjusted and
updated.

Based on planning criteria verified during Phase 10, the Engineer will use the hydraulic
models to analyze the existing stormwater system to convey both current and future
predicted flows. Capacity problem areas will be identified as potential project locations
for analysis in Phase 9.

The Engineer will conduct QA/QC review of hydraulic models and document model
adjustments made in response to the review.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022,



Exhibit A Scappoose Scope of Services

Task 3-5 Model Results and Documentation

Activities The Engineer will prepare written documentation of the modeling methodology and

results for inclusion in TM#2: Modeling Methods, Assumptions and Results.

Hydrologic modeling results (basin areas, impervious assumptions, peak flows) will be
tabulated. Hydraulic modeling results will be tabulated for model documentation. Basin
mapping will be developed to summarize results of the modeling analysis for discussion
with the City during Task 9-2.

At the end of the project, model files will be provided to the City in XPSWMM or other
SWMM format.

Phase 3 Deliverables

The following deliverables will be provided under Phase 3:

Tabular summary of infrastructure required for survey, to conduct targeted hydraulic modeling
Draft TM#2: Modeling Methods, Assumptions and Results

Electronic modeling files in XPSWMM or other SWMM format at project completion

GIS shapefiles documenting subbasin delineation

Tabular documentation of existing and future flow rates at key locations

Phase 3 Assumptions

The following assumptions are made for Phase 3:

Hydraulic model needs, as determined in Task 2-6, are anticipated in select areas of the city where
additional information is needed to evaluate infrastructure problems and potential solutions.

No additional field investigation or survey work is included in this phase. Data collection and survey
will be contracted independently by City staff.

The City will provide collected survey data to Geocomm for inclusion in the City’s existing GIS
database. The Engineer will receive survey information in GIS format.

Current land use and existing vacant lands will be used to calculate current (i.e., existing) condition
stormwater flows for each design storm; future land use reflecting full-buildout conditions will be
used 1o calculate the future-conditions stormwater flows.

Ground, manhole rim elevations, and open-channel system geometry (if applicable) will be based on
existing information in the City’s system inventory, or interpolated from available LIDAR to the extent
possible. Use of LIDAR for open channel conveyance will be dependent on the size of the channel
and whether additional structures (weirs, culverts, etc.) need to be mapped.

City staff will provide anecdotal reports, photo documentation, or other evidence of capacity
problems for use in model validation. Validation efforts under Task 3-4 will be limited to comparing
existing-conditions model results for a select storm event to available information from City flooding
reports and photographs.

Modeled pipe segments will be limited to the public conveyance system, 12 inches in diameter and
larger. ODQOT infrastructure where seamlessly integrated into the city system will be included as
needed.

City will provide ODOT pipe or channel data to Engineer.
Up to 150 subbasins will be delineated/ evaluated as part of the hydrologic modeling effort.

System nomenclature used in modeling efforts will maintain consistency with existing GIS haming
conventions.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.



Exhibit A Scappoose Scope of Services

« The hydraulic modeling effort may include piped and open channel conveyances where stormwater is
the primary source of discharge. Qutfalls to creeks will be the end points of the hydraulic model. This
scope of services does not include modeling of natural systems with baseflow or stormwater flow
generated outside the city limits.

» Due to the unknown scope and scale of hydraulic modeling work, the total hydraulic modeling scope
reflected under Task 3-4 reflects 160 hours of staff engineer time and 42 hours of senior modeling
support and review. These hours assume only targeted modeling of select areas or piped systems of
the City will be required. Of the total hydraulic modeling budget, 16 hours of staff engineer time and
4 hours of senior modeling support time are reflected for validation efforts. Up to 16 hours of staff
and senior staff engineer time has been budgeted to correct datum inconsistencies as part of the
overall hydraulic model development.

» The Engineer will meet with City staff to review the modeling results as part of the CIP Planning
Workshop in Task 9-2.

« TM#2 will be provided to the City for review and comment. City comments not affecting technical or
project related assumptions will be addressed at the time that the TMs are incorporated into the
master plan.

o The City will provide the Engineer with one consolidated set of comments on TM#2.

Phase 4 Retrofit Analysis

Objective Evaluate stormwater retrofit opportunity areas to address water quality and/or enhance
flow control in existing development areas.

Activities The Engineer will use preliminary mapping developed under Task 2-3 to review land use,
future development areas, and existing stormwater treatment and detention facility
coverage to identify areas that could benefit from the installation of stormwater quality
management facilities. Mapped features will include:

+ Structural stormwater facility locations and contributing drainage areas (if available)
+ Storm drainage system

« Natural areas

» Publicly owned lands and/or vacant lands

» |dentified stormwater problem areas

« Landuse

Water quality retrofit opportunity areas will be identified based on configuration in the
overall drainage system, accessibility, and existing facility expansion potential.

The Engineer will document findings in a matrix format for inclusion in TM#1:
Stormwater Basis of Planning, for discussion with the City during the CIP Planning
Workshop (Task 9-2). Some of the water quality opportunities may be vetted during site
visit efforts (Task 2-4). Regional facility new or retrofit identification efforts will be used
to inform Phase 6.

Phase 4 Deliverables

The following deliverables are included under Phase 4:

o A matrix and GIS map showing potential water quality/ retrofit opportunity areas for inclusion under
TM#1.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.




Exhibit A Scappoose Scope of Services

Phase 4 Assumptions
The following assumptions are made for Phase 4:

o Water quality/ retrofit opportunities may be integrated with other project needs identified under
Phase 3 and 5. Project concepts to be refined under Phase 9.

Phase 5 UIC Analysis

Objective Evaluate the City’s existing UICs to identify UIC decommissioning needs in conjunction
with the pending WPCF permit application. Assess potential opportunity areas for
expanded UIC applications in support of the City’s CIP.

Activities The following activities will be conducted by GSI as part of the UIC Analysis:

« ldentification of UICs that are not compliant with the City’s soon-to-be-issued UIC
permit, and options for addressing noncompliant UICs that are consistent with the
City's upcoming Groundwater Protectiveness Demonstration (GWPD).

« Development of a map showing the potential for drywells to be used to manage
stormwater within City limits. The map will be based on depth to groundwater, water
well locations, and the thickness of surficial silt units. The potential for drywells will be
ranked as “drywells not an option,” “moderate,” or “good.” GSI will use information
that has already been developed for the City’s UIC System-Wide Assessment and
boring logs available from the Oregon Water Resources Department for this task.

« Development of an email documenting the methods that were used to develop the
maps listed above, for inclusion in TM#1.

« Provide a cursory review of City UIC maintenance guidelines to ensure that they align
with UIC permit requirements, and of infiltration test procedures to ensure that they
align with standard industry practices.

Phase 5 Deliverables
The following deliverables are included under Phase 5:
¢ Map showing drywell infiltration potential (including electronic GIS files), for inclusion under TM#1.

o Email summary, for inclusion with TM#1, documenting the methods used to develop the infiltration
potential maps (surface soil infiltration and drywell infiltration potential).

Phase 5 Assumptions
The following assumptions are made for Phase 5:

« In addition to GSI's work to produce the deliverables outlined above, their budget assumes 14 hours
total of a supervising hydrogeologist’s time will be sufficient to provide as-needed technical support
about the City’s UIC system and UIC regulations and to provide a technical review related to UIC
maintenance guidelines and infiltration testing procedures.

« The Engineer will be responsible for incorporation of UIC analysis information to inform TM#1 and
associated CIP development under Phase 9.

« QA/QC of the GSI deliverable is budgeted under Phase 1.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.




Exhibit A - §€a‘\'9poose Scope of Services

Phase 6 OPTIONAL Private Facility Surcharge Evaluation*

Objective: Develop a private facility surcharge approach and rate calculation to support ongoing City
maintenance of private stormwater facilities.

Activities: A private facility surcharge evaluation is intended to provide funding for City maintenance

activities related to a private stormwater facility.

Based on maintenance needs and activities identified under Phase 2 and Phase 7, FCS
Group will calculate a private facility surcharge based on data provided by the Engineer
and/or the City. The surcharge would be designed to recover the City cost of maintaining
private stormwater facilities and would be imposed on owners of such facilities.

FCS Group will discuss both methods with the City, along with conditions for which the
fee-inlieu would be applied as part of the meetings held in Phase 12. Documentation of
the analysis will also be provided as part of Phase 12.

Phase 6 Deliverables

The following deliverables are included under Phase 6:

» A summary of the private facility surcharge calculations as part of the stormwater financial plan
developed under Phase 12,

Phase 6 Assumptions

The following assumptions are made for Phase 6:

« This optional task is subject to City approval and amendment,

+ Proposed Municipal Code language to support implementation of a private facility surcharge is not
included. Reference to the need for code language may be integrated in TM#1 in conjunction with
Phase 10 activities.

« Development of the private facility surcharge calculations requires the identification of applicable
facilities, maintenance activity needs, and facility ownership. Should regional facilities/ retrofit
opportunities not be identified under Phase 4 or Phase 9, Phase 6 will not be conducted.

Phase 7

Objective

Task 7-1

Activities

Condition Assessment

Assist the City in development and prioritization of project and programmatic needs to
address reported areas of high maintenance activities and anticipated, future system
repair and replacement.

Maintenance Program Development
The following activities will be conducted by the Engineer during Task 7.1:

« Summarize system (i.e., pipes, structures and facilities) inventory and asset
information (from GIS) to support the development of capital maintenance program
recommendations under Phase 9.

« Review results from staff interviews and public works maintenance records to
qualitatively evaluate system condition and establish a baseline summary of current
maintenance activities and staffing level of effort.

+ Review results from the problem area workshop to confirm high priority maintenance-
related needs. Recommend one-time capital projects to address localized priority

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.



Exhibit A

Scappoose Scope of Services

repair/ replacement needs, or expanded maintenance/ inspection programs with
annual funding mechanism to proactively plan for future repair and replacement
needs.

Task 7-2 OPTIONAL Rating Criteria and Scoring Framework*

Activities The following optional activities may be conducted by the Engineer during Task 7.2:

Based on available information in GIS and results from the problem area workshop
(Task 2-5), develop rating criteria and a scoring framework specific to pipe, structures
(manholes, catch basins, UICs), and stormwater quality facilities {swales, ponds) to
inform future repair and replacement needs.

Review recommended, expanded maintenance or other programmatic activities for
inclusion in the CIP and the proposed rating system for incorporation into the City's
existing GIS database during a monthly coordination call.

Coordinate with Geocomm on ways to incorporate the proposed rating criteria and
scoring framework into the City’s existing GIS database.

Develop a preliminary map to support implementation of expanded maintenance
activities or other proposed programmatic activities related to the CIP.

Phase 7 Deliverables

The following deliverables are included under Phase 7:

« Summarized system asset information (i.e., total length of pipe, number of structures, etc.) for
inclusion in the SMP.

« Agenda and meeting materials related to the Condition Assessment effort for discussion with the

City.

o Tabular summary of rating criteria and scoring framework (specific to authorization of Task 7-2).

Phase 7 Assumptions

The following assumptions are made for Phase 7:

« Task 7.2 is an optional task subject to City approval and amendment.

« System condition has not been evaluated for all stormwater system assets at this time. As such,
preparation of a final database/ map under Task 722 to reflect comprehensive system ratings for
repair and replacement is not proposed.

« Compilation of hard copy maintenance records into GIS is outside of the scope for this Phase. Should
GIS-based maintenance/ system condition information become available, the Engineer will use that
as part of the assessment.

« Development of City-specific standard operating procedures {SOPs) and system inspection guidelines
to support ongoing system condition assessment efforts is not included. Example documentation
may be provided 1o the city upon request, or developed in conjunction with additional budget

authorization.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.



Exhibit A 7 Scappoose Scope of Services

Phase 8 Comprehensive Plan Review*
Objective: To provide recommended language to update the City’'s comprehensive plan to reflect
policy recommendations and project drivers associated with the SMP update.

Activities: BC will review the City’'s comprehensive plan (last update 2018) and propose edits,
focusing on the Public Facilities - Storm Drain section of the plan.

The comprehensive plan language will be edited with track changes if a word document
is provided. If no word document is available a short letter providing recommendations
for revising the language to bring it up to date with the current stormwater program
status and updates to the SMP.

Phase 8 Deliverables:

The following deliverable is included under Phase 8:

+ Recommended changes to comprehensive plan language for the section: Public Facilities - Storm
Drain.

Phase 8 Assumptions
The following assumption is made for Phase 8:

» Comprehensive plan language will align with the language prepared for the SMP executive summary.
Timing of the comprehensive plan updates will occur in conjunction with preparation of the draft-final
SMP.

Phase 9 Stormwater System Capital Improvements Program (CIP)

Objective Establish a 20-year stormwater CIP and prepare planning-level cost estimates for
incorporation into the SMP.

Task 9-1 Potential Projects Matrix

Activities Based on the results of the previous project phases, the Engineer will create a
comprehensive project matrix of potential stormwater projects. Potential projects may
include pipe replacement/ upsize, pipe installation, drywell decommissioning, regional
detention/retention facility installation or modification, and water quality facility
installations or retrofits (e.g., rain gardens, planters).

When possible, overlapping problem areas (determined under Phases 2, 3, and 5) and
retrofit opportunity areas (Phase 4) will be combined into single projects that serve
multiple objectives, such as integrating enhanced water quality treatment or flow controls
with necessary capacity improvements.

Task 9-2 CIP Planning Workshop

Activities The Engineer will facilitate a 3-hour CIP Planning Workshop with City staff to review the
comprehensive potential project matrix per Task 9-1 and potential maintenance
programs. The CIP Planning Workshop will be used to discuss the City’s realistic goals
and expectations for the CIP. Preliminary project alternatives and design concepts will be
discussed and reviewed.

The CIP Planning Workshop will also be used to discuss results of the condition
assessment effort (Phase 7). System replacement needs and areas of the system

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.




Exhibit A

Task 9-3

Activities

Task 9-4

Activities

Scappoose Scope of Services

requiring more frequent maintenance will be highlighted. Options (project versus
programmatic activity) to address areas of more frequent maintenance needs will be
reviewed and the rating system to evaluate asset management needs and system
replacement will be discussed.

Potential project prioritization criteria will be presented to initially prioritize project needs
and define whether a need requires immediate resolution (priority project for
construction in the next 10 years), whether it is a medium priority (construction
anticipated in the next 11-20 years), or whether it should be constructed in conjunction
with future development. This initial project prioritization will be reflected in a CIP
concept matrix. The highest priority project locations/ concepts will be selected for
detailed cost estimation.

Following the workshop, the Engineer will refine the potential project matrix into a CIP
concept matrix. The matrix will summarize key results and decisions and reflect up to 20
project locations and program concepts, along with the proposed approach to address
localized flooding, infrastructure need, system maintenance, and water quality. Potential
project integration will also be documented in the draft CIP design concept matrix.

Capital Project Model Development

Using future conditions flows estimated under Task 3-4, the Engineer will hydraulically
analyze and develop strategies for select areas of observed system capacity deficiencies,
detention needs, and areas of the system requiring new infrastructure. Analysis may
include the use of XP-SWMM or another approved SWMM hydraulic modeling platform.
Modeling efforts may include retrofit of existing water quality or detention ponds,
installation of storage facilities, and pipe upsizing and/ or reconfiguration.

Due to the unknown scope and scale of this work, 40 hours of staff engineer time and 16
hours of senior engineer time for modeling support has been budgeted.

CIP Cost Estimation and Documentation

Based on results from the CIP planning workshop (Task 9-2) and flood control CIP
development (Task 9-3), the Engineer will refine project concepts and maintenance
programs and develop planning level cost estimates for up to twenty capital project
and/or program needs. Preliminary sizing of infrastructure (aside from a will be
conducted under this task.

Using recent bid tab information, RS Means, and City-specific cost information, the
Engineer will prepare unit cost tables for applicable CIP design components and features
for City review and feedback.

Planning-level cost estimates will include construction, engineering, administration, and
contingencies as well as annual expenses for activities associated with maintenance.

The CIP design concepts (to approximately a 10 percent level of design) and the
planning-level cost estimates will be incorporated into a final stormwater CIP matrix,
based on the draft matrix developed in Task 9-2. A comprehensive map will be
developed to show CIP locations.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.



Exhibit A Scappoose Scope of Services

Task 9-5 Stormwater CIP Prioritization and Scheduling

Activities Based on project prioritization criteria introduced during the CIP Planning Workshop

the City will score and schedule projects as either highest priority (construction in the
next 10 years), medium priority (construction anticipated in the next 11-20 years), or low
priority (outside of the 20-year CIP) in conjunction with anticipated funding levels. Project
prioritization and schedule will be incorporated in the final stormwater CIP matrix and
used to inform the financial analysis under Phase 12.

Phase 9 Deliverables

The following deliverables are included under Phase 9:

Comprehensive draft potential project matrix, reflecting project locations identified and project
concepts developed under Phases 3,4 and 5

Agenda and materials (i.e., mapping of potential project/ project areas reflecting any pre-determined
“high priority” areas, potential prioritization criteria) for the CIP Planning Workshop

Attendance and facilitation by two Engineering staff at a 3-hour workshop with the City

CIP Planning Workshop meeting summary including a draft CIP concept matrix, reflecting up to 15
project concepts and 5 program concepts.

Draft and final unit cost table

Final stormwater CIP matrix reflecting refined design concepts, cost estimates, prioritization, and
schedule for up to twenty projects or programs.

Map reflecting CIP locations, for inclusion in the SMP

Phase 9 Assumptions

The following assumptions are made for Phase 9:

The Engineer will prepare an agenda and workshop meeting materials for City review prior to the CIiP
Planning workshop.

City staff will coordinate logistics for the CIP Planning workshop, inciuding securing a meeting
location, establishing a meeting date and time, and inviting appropriate City staff.

Up to 20 CIP concepts will be documented in the draft CIP concept matrix at the conclusion of Task
9-2. Refined design concepts and cost estimates will be developed for up to twenty projects or
programs. Any additional CIP needs will be documented in the matrix but will not be costed.

The Engineer may utilize regional design tools or methods to support conceptual designs for projects
other than pipe upgrades for capacity.

The Engineer will aid City staff in implementing provided prioritization criteria and confirming project
scheduling under Task 9-5.

Phase 10 Update Public Works Standards

Objective To review the City's updated Public Works Design Standards and Municipal Code to verify

design guidelines and assumptions for the stormwater system and recommend
improvements/ modifications.

Activities The Engineer will conduct a review of the City’s updated Public Works Design Standards

and Municipal Code to confirm planning and design criteria related to the evaluation of
stormwater infrastructure under Phase 3 and capital project development under Phase
9.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.




Exhibit A Scappoose Scope of Services

In conjunction with staff interviews conducted under Task 2.3, the standards and code
review shall also document (in matrix form) recommended policy/ language updates in
conjunction with identified implementation gaps and the use of subjective/discretionary
language. Recommendations shall focus on stormwater facility design and maintenance
guidelines, submittal processes, and enforcement needs.

Two Engineer staff will attend a virtual meeting with City staff to review the initial findings
of the code review and discuss recommended policy/ code updates. Results of the initial
identification of planning and design criteria and policy/ code recommendations will be
documented in TM#1.

During the master planning process, additional policy recommendations and standards
revisions (not initially documented in TM#1) may be identified that would require update
to the Public Works Standards. Such additional policy recommendations would be
incorporated into TM#1 and/or detailed in the SMP as specific policy recommendations
(Phase 13).

Phase 10 Deliverables

The following deliverables are included under Phase 10:

« Participation in a virtual meeting by two Engineering staff during a 2—hour meeting with the City.
« Summary documentation for inclusion in TM#1.

Phase 10 Assumptions

The following assumptions are made for Phase 10:

« The Engineer will review the 2020 update of the City’s Public Works Standards (in progress).

« The Engineer will not provide direct revisions or modifications to the City’s 2020 Public Works
Standards. Policy recommendations will be documented in narrative form in TM#1 and may be
updated based on city feedback and finalized in the SMP at the discretion of the City.

Phase 11 Staffing Evaluation*

Objective To evaluate staffing needs in support of capital project needs and recommended
maintenance activities (programmatic activities)

Activities In conjunction with Capital Program Development (Phase 9), the Engineer will evaluate
City staffing needs to establish assumptions for use in the rate analyses. Capital project
staffing needs will be incorporated into the project cost estimation directly. Maintenance
costs and program staffing needs will be determined based on maintenance records
provided under Task 7-1.

Phase 11 Deliverables

The following deliverables are included under Phase 11:

« Staffing assumptions documented in email form for project and program implementation.
Phase 11 Assumptions

The following assumptions are made for Phase 11:

« Staffing estimates will inform the financial evaluation under Phase 12.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.



Exhibit A

Scappoose Scope of Services

Phase 12 Financial Evaluation

Objective

Task 12-1

Activities

Task 12-2

Activities

Task 12-3

Activities

To develop a stormwater system financial plan with supporting rates and SDC,

Data Request and Review

FCS Group will provide a data needs list to the City for information such as existing
stormwater services cost projections, historical financial records, and customer base
information. FCS GROUP will follow up as needed to confirm data interpretation and
assumptions, and request any required additional information.

SDC Study*

FCS Group will perform an SDC study for the stormwater program, including calculation of
an improvement fee and a reimbursement fee (if applicable). Specific activities include:

« Estimate growth in the storm drain customer base over the period covered by the
master plan.

« Calculate an improvement fee cost basis based on the project list(s) included in the
master plan.

« Calculate a reimbursement fee cost basis based on available capacity (if any) in
existing storm drain infrastructure.

» Calculate the stormwater SDC using the units of estimated growth as the basis of the
charge.
In conjunction with the planning level cost estimates developed under Phase 9, the

Engineer will prepare an estimate of the percent of the total project cost that could be
attributed to future development impacts to aid in SDC evaluations.

Stormwater Rate Study and Documentation*

FCS Group will perform a rate study for the stormwater program, including projection of
program revenue needs and development of the stormwater rates. Specific activities
include:

« Using a spreadsheet model to project stormwater program revenue requirements for
twenty fiscal years.

« Meet with City staff via video conference to review and refine SDC and rate findings to
review and refine rate findings.

Finalized findings and recommendations of the fee-in-lieu (Task 6), SDC analysis and rate
study will be documented into a draft stormwater financial plan for City review and a final
stormwater financial plan for inclusion in the SMP.

FCS Group will attend one public meeting in support of the final report.

Phase 12 Deliverables

The following deliverables are included under Phase 12:

« Financial data needs list.

« An electronic copy of the draft stormwater financial plan, for review and comment by the City.

« An electronic copy of the final stormwater financial plan, integrating City review comments for
inclusion in the SMP.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.




Exhibit A

Scappoose Scope of Services

« An electronic copy of the Microsoft Excel spreadsheet model.

+ Meeting attendance and facilitation by two FCS staff during one public or City Council meeting to
present results of the final stormwater financial plan.

Phase 12 Assumptions

The following assumptions are made for Phase 12:

« The data request will be fulfilled to the extent possible by the City. Discussion of data gaps and
resolution of data gaps may be discussed during a scheduled monthly coordination meeting.

« Avideo conference between the Engineering Team and City will be used to review the interim draft
stormwater SDC and rate study findings.

« The City will provide the Engineering Team with one consolidated set of comments on the draft
stormwater financial plan.

Phase 13 Stormwater Master Plan (SMP) Preparation

Objective

Task 13-1

Activities

Task 13-2

Activities

Task 13-3

Activities

Compile stormwater system information, analyses, and CIP into a comprehensive SMP
document. Solicit public input on the Stormwater Master Plan. Present the Stormwater
Master Plan to the public and City officials for review, comment, and final adoption.

Draft SMP Development

The Engineer will prepare a draft concise Stormwater Master Plan document, compiling
information and documentation prepared under Phases 2 through 11. General system
maps and narrative reflecting the City’s stormwater conveyance system, identified
system capacity deficiencies, retrofit needs, maintenance/ condition assessment needs
and considerations, and proposed capital project/ programmatic needs will be
summarized.

Detailed technical information, such as tabular modeling data, TMs, and cost estimates,
will be included as technical appendices, as appropriate.

The Engineer will conduct an internal QA/QC of the draft Stormwater Master Plan.

A draft digital copy will be provided to the City for review and comment.

Draft Final and Final SMP Development*

City comments provided under Task 1.3-1 will be incorporated to create a draft-final SMP
for City Council review and comment. An Executive Summary will highlight the major
findings and recommendations from the Draft Stormwater Master Plan. A draft-final SMP
in digital format will be provided to the City for review and comment by City Council.

Additional comments on the draft-final SMP will be incorporated to create a final SMP.
Three printed copies of the final SMP, including appendices, will be provided. A Web-
ready, searchable electronic version of the final SMP will also be provided to the City.

SDIC Meetings

During the project, two Engineer staff will attend up to two meetings with City staff and
SDIC representatives to discuss challenges and considerations associated with the City's
IGA with SDIC and potential capital project needs.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.




Exhibit A Scappoose Scope of Services

Task 13-4  Meetings and Stakeholder Outreach*

Activities The Engineer will prepare materials to present the SMP goals, objectives, and
recommendations to the public and community groups. Meeting materials will include
one large size map and a PowerPoint presentation using graphics developed as part of
Phases 2 through 11.

Two Engineer staff will attend a total of three public meetings to solicit comments and
feedback related to development of the SMP. These meetings will include one City
Council meeting related to adoption of the SMP.

Phase 13 Deliverables

The following deliverables are included under Phase 13:

« Draft SMP (in .doc format) for City review and comment

« Draft-Final SMP (in .pdf format) for Council review and comment

e Final SMP (in .pdf format) and three full hard copies including appendices
« Electronic copies of project GIS data

» Attendance and materials (map) for two Engineer staff at up to three public meetings including one
City Council meeting related to adoption of the SMP.

+ Attendance and meeting minutes for two Engineer staff at up to two meetings with City staff and
SDIC representatives.

Phase 13 Assumptions

The following assumptions are made for Phase 13:

+ The SMP will not incorporate the final stormwater financial plan per Phase 12, due to the potential
for variable timing of the adoption of updated rates and SDCs.

« One consolidated set of City comments on the draft SMP will be provided to the Engineer within a
mutually agreed timeframe.

s One consolidated set of City comments on the draft-final SMP will be provided to the Engineer.
« No formal PowerPoint® presentation will be required for SDIC meetings.

« The City will be responsible for additional stakeholder coordination efforts, aside from the scoped
meetings. This includes meetings and coordination with neighborhood committees as applicable.

¢ Presentation during the City Council meetings will be in PowerPoint® format and provided to the City
in advance of the work session or meeting.

Please note that tasks identified with a * are anticipated to be conducted during FY 2021-2022.



Brown and Caldwell

Budget
May 13, 2020
Scappoose Stormwater Master Plan
g
§9
5 I - & ¢ 3
E ° . 3
: g = ]
: ; ; i : FCs Gsl
e e I
Phase |Phase Description Hours Effort Travel Cost Cost TatalStb | Total Expense Total Effort
$212 $98 $187 $252 $171 5 $ S $252 $ $98 $128

001 Project Management 94 38 24 24 0 4 4 Q 3 26 16 4 237 42,430 0 0 0 0 0 42,430
001 Project Administration 54 38 8 0 0 4 4 0 ] 0 16 4 128 19,708 0 0 0 0 1] 19,708
002 Project Coordination Meetings 32 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48 9,776 0 0 0 0 0 9,776
003 QAQC 8 0 0 24 0 [s} 0 0 3 26 0 0 61 12,946 0 0 0 0 0 12,946
002  Data Gathering 58 0 62 0 0 124 12 0 0 0 0 10 266 40,594 150 0 0 0 150 40,744
001 Project Kickoff Meeting 10 0 10 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 24 4,470 50 0 0 0 50 4,520
002 GIS Data Compilation and Review 6 0 10 0 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 56 7,622 0 0 0 0 0 7,622
003 Preliminary Mapping 4 0 8 0 0 20 0 [¢] 0 0 0 0 32 4,584 0 0 0 0 0 4,584
004  Site Visits 0 0 8 0 0 0 12 [¢} 0 0 0 0 20 3,032 50 0 0 0 50 3,082
005 Stormwater Problem Area Workshop 18 0 22 0 0 38 0 0 0 0 0 0 78 12,186 50 0 0 0 50 12,236
006 Documentation 20 0 4 0 0 24 0 0 0 [¢] o] 8 56 8,700 0 0 0 0 0 8,700
003 Hydrologic-Hydraulic Modeling 26 0 94 0 0 0 320 0 [¢] 0 0 12 452 65,586 0 0 0 0 0 65,586
001 Data Collection Support 0 o 12 0 0 o 20 0 0 0 0 o 32 4,804 0 0 0 0 [} 4,804
002  Subbasin Delineation 4 0 12 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 56 8,212 0 0 0 0 0 8,212
003 Hydrologic Model Deelopment 6 0 20 0 0 0 40 [¢] 0 0 0 0 66 10,132 0 0 0 (1] 0 10,132
004 Hydraulic Model Devel-Validation 8 0 34 0 0 0 160 ¢} 0 0 0 0 202 28,534 0 0 0 0 0 28,534
005 Model Results and Documentation 8 0 16 0 0 0 60 0 0 4] 0 12 96 13,904 0 1] 0 0 0 13,904
004  Retrofit Analysis 8 0 0 4 0 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 40 5,840 0 0 0 0 0 5,840
001 Retrofit Analysis 8 0 0 4 0 28 0 0 [¢] 0 4] 0 40 5,840 0 0 0 0 0 5,840
005 UIC Analysis 6 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 [¢] 0 0 0 8 1,776 0 0 9,280 9,744 9,744 11,520
001 UIC Analysis 6 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 1,776 0 0 9,280 9,744 9,744 11,520
007  Condition Assessment 6 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 2,616 0 0 0 0 0 2,616
001 Maintenance Program Development 6 0 o] 0 0 12 0 0 0 4] [¢] 0 18 2,616 0 0 0 0 0 2,616
009  Stormwater System CIP 46 0 74 0 0 8 162 0 0 0 0 4 294 45,734 50 0 0 0 50 45,784
001 Potential Projects Matrix 6 0 8 [¢] 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 2 28 4,560 0 0 0 0 0 4,560
002 CIP Planning Workshop 18 0 20 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 (4] 0 62 10,628 50 0 0 0 50 10,678
003 CIP Model Development 4 0 16 (o] 0 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 60 8,960 0 0 0 0 0 8,960
004 CIP Cost Estimate-Documentation 12 0 30 0 0 8 86 0 0 0 0 [¢] 136 20,058 0 0 0 0 0 20,058
005  SW CIP Prioritization-Scheduling 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 8 1,528 0 0 0 0 0 1,528
010 Update Public Works Standards 10 0 0 12 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 44 8,820 0 0 0 0 0 8,820

001 Update Public Works Standards 10 0 0 12 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 44 8,820 0 ] 0 0 0 8,820



012
001

013
001
003

006
001

007
002

008
001

o011
001

012
002
003

013
002
004

Brown and Caldwell

Budget
Financial Plan 2 0 [} 0 0 0 ] o [ ) 0 0 2 424 0 995 [ 1,045 1,045 1,469
Data Request and Review 2 a 0 0 0 0 o 0 0 0 0 4 2 424 0 995 ] 1,045 1,045 1,469
MP Development 34 [t} 18 0 i} 24 80 0 0 0 i 16 152 22,990 100 0 [ 0 100 23,090
Draft SMP Development 24 0 8 0 0 24 60 0 0 0 0 16 132 19,000 o} 0 0 0 0 19,000
SDIC Meetings 10 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 Q 0 0 [ 20 3,990 100 0 0 [ 100 4,090
TOTAL FY 2020-2021 290 38 272 42 20 200 558 0 3 26 16 48 1,513 236,810 300 995 9,280 10,789 11,089 247,899
FY 2021-2022 Tasks
OPT Private Facility Surcharge Eval 0 0 Q 0 0 0 0 0 0 ) 0 0 0 0 0 o g 0 o a
OPT Private Facility Surcharge Eval a 1] [ [} 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 o 0 [ ¢ 0 [ Q
OPT Condition Assessment ] 0 o 0 ] 0 0 0 0 0 g 0 [ 0 0 0 ] 0 4] 4
OPT Rating and Scoring Framework 1] 0 0 4] 4] 0 0 0 0 0 a [} [} 0 Q 0 [} 0 [ 0
Comprehensive Plan Review ] 0 Q 2 0 ] ] ] 0 0 ) 2 10 2,032 0 0 0 [ 0 2,032
Comprehensive Plan Review 8 1] 0 2 0 [} 0 [} 0 4] ] 2 10 2,032 0 1] 0 i3 [i] 2,032
Staffing Evaluation 4 ] 0 [} [} 4 0 [ 0 0 0 1 9 1,424 0 ¢ 0 1] 0 1,424
Staffing Evaluation 4 Q 0 [} [} 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 9 1,424 0 1] [ [ [/} 1,424
Financial Plan 10 0 0 0 [} 0 6 0 0 0 0 Q 16 2,888 50 26,045 o} 27,347 27,397 30,285
SDC Study 4 0 0 0 4 0 6 0 0 0 0 [1} 10 1,616 0 7,605 0 7,985 7,985 9,601
SW Rate Study and Documentation 6 o o 0 0 0 0 0 0 4] o [ 6 1,272 50 18,440 0 19,362 19,412 20,684
MP Development 38 0 36 0 0 12 20 4 0 [} 0 24 130 21,764 300 0 0 0 300 22,064
Draft Final-Final SMP Development 14 0 16 0 0 [} 20 0 0 0 4] 16 66 10,568 150 0 0 0 150 10,718
Meetings and Stakeholder Qutreach 24 Q 20 Q 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 8 64 11,196 150 Q 0 [ 150 11,346
TOTAL FY 2021-2022 58 0 36 2 0 16 26 0 0 0 0 27 165 28,108 350 26,045 0 27,347 27,697 55,805
PROJECT TOTAL 348 38 308 44 20 216 584 0 3 26 16 75 1,678 264,918 650 27,040 9,280 38,136 38,786 303,704

Hours and Dollars rounded to the nearest whole number,
Subconsultants subject to a 5% markup.



CITY OF SCAPPOOSE

Council Action & Status Report
Date Submitted: 5/14/2020
Agenda Date Requested: 5/18/2020
To: Scappoose City Council

From: Public Works Director Dave Sukau, Water Superintendent Darryl Sykes

Subject: Miller Road Wells Maintenance

TYPE OF ACTION REQUESTED:

[ 1 Resolution [ 1 Ordinance
[x] Formal Action [ 1 ReportOnly
ISSUE: Rehabilitation of the Miller Road Wells

ANALYSIS: Due to a decline in water production, the Miller Rd wells have
reached the point where they need rehabilitation services. City staff has solicited
competitive quotes from three contractors to rehabilitate the 3 wells at the Miller
Road Treatment Plant.

FINANCIAL IMPACT: The bid results are as follows:

Crow Water Systems -  $125,000
Carpenter Drilling LLC -  $169,000
Stratus Corporation - Non-Responsive

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends Council authorize City Manager
Sykes to enter into a contract with Crow Water Systems for the purpose of well
rehabilitation.

SUGGESTED MOTION: | move that Council authorize City Manager Sykes to
enter into a contract with Crow Water Systems for well rehabilitation services of
the Miller Road wells in a total amount of $125,000.

Request for Council Action




Bid Form - 2020 Miller Road Well Rehabilitation Project

For: City of Scappoose

Contractor: Carpenter Drilling LLC

Contact: Jody Carpenter

Phone: 503-810-6713

Email: jodv@carpenterdrilling.com

Item Description Quantity | Units | Unit Price Total Price
1 Mobilization/Demobilization 1 LS $15,000.00 $15,000.00
2 Pump Removal and Inspection 3 EA $5.500.00 $16.500.00
Water Well Video Inspection (initial
3 . 6 EA $2.,000.00 $12,000.00
and Final)
Well Cleaning - Furnish and Install
4 Equipment; Brushing and Debris 3 EA $10,000.00 $30,000.00
Removal
Well Brushing, Chemical Treatment,
5 Sonar Jet and Swabbing/Surging 3 EA $22,500.00 $67,500.00
Water Well Disinfection and Pump
6 . . 3 EA $6,000.00 $18,000.00
Reinstallation
Water M t and Erosi
7 ater Vianagemen 'on 1 LS $10,000.00 $10,000.00
Control
TOTAL: $169,000.00




Bid Form - 2020 Miller Road Well Rehabilitation Project

l

For: City of Scappoose

Contractor: C/\’gu} Wodoen 6\1‘53\%

Contact: Dju.}{/ @wa\M\t\_,

Phone: 502, . 4715 - 208\

Email: SN Cvoudweden , ¢ o

item Description Quantity. Units Unit Price | TYotal Price
1 Mobilization/Demobilization 1 LS 2,000 3,000
2 Pump Removal and Inspection 3 EA 2,500 1,500
Water Well Video Inspection {Initial B
3 and Final) 6 A | 4000 12,000
Well Cleaning - Furnish and Install
Equipment; Brushing and Debris
Removal 3 EA \C, 0G0 A0,000
Well Brushing, Chemical
Treatment, Sonar Jet and
Swabbing/Surging 3 EA \4,00cC 571,000
Water Well Disinfection and Pump
Reinstallation 3 EA 2,500 10, 5S¢0
Water Management and Erosion
Control il LS 5,000 5,000
TOTAL V25,00

Todel Bid for Miller RA Wl Relnelp Proyect

One Wendved *wwsht vl Ahousend dollers.

Devid Gvdnom. 5/ ]2020

L0 Gt




Water
Systems
Engineering, Inc.

Date: April 9, 2020

Lab Report No. 21792

Darryl Sykes

City of Scappoose, OR
33568 E. Columbia Ave.
Scappoose, Oregon 97056

Project Description: Miller Road/Dutch Canyon, MR-1, MR-2, MR-3, DC-1
Samples dated: 03/06/2020; Monitoring Analysis (8); PO#362020PWS

Test Description:

The Monitoring Analysis is an abridged series of chemical and biological tests used to identify common
fouling issues within potable well systems. The tests include a limited number of chemical parameters
such as pH, total dissolved solids/conductivity, and the oxidation reduction potential (ORP). The sample is
also evaluated for the presence of chlorine, iron, and manganese. Biological testing is performed in an
effort to quantify the total bacterial population, assess anaerobic conditions, and identify the presence of
iron related bacteria or sulfate reducing organisms.

Testing Procedures:

All laboratory testing procedures are performed according to the guidelines set forth in Standard Methods
for the Examination of Water and Wastewater as established by the American Public Health Association
(APHA), American Water Works Association (AWWA), and Water Environment Federation (WEF).
Corrosion analyses are performed in accordance with the guidelines as set forth by the National
Association of Corrosion Engineers (NACE). In general, these methods are approved by both the
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and AWWA for the reporting of water and/or wastewater data.

Sample collection and shipment is the responsibility of the customer, performed according to protocol and
procedures defined by the laboratory in advance of the sampling event with regards to the specific project
and nature of the problem.

Disclaimer:

The data and interpretations presented are based on an evaluation of the samples and submitted data.
Conclusions reached in this report are based upon the data available at the time of submittal and the
accuracy of the report depends upon the validity of information submitted. Any recommendations
presented are based on laboratory and field evaluations of similar fouling occurrences within potable
water systems. Further investigative efforts, such as efficiency testing, site inspection, video survey, or
other evaluation methods may offer additional insight into the system’s condition and the degree of fouling
present.

Water Systems Engineering, Inc. An Investigative Water Consulting & Design Laboratory
3201 Labette Terrace, Ottawa, Kansas 66067 ¢ phone: 785.242.6166 fax:785.242.9411

£.67100 X/ 09.£464



Water Systems Engineering, Inc.

Client: City of Scappoose, OR

Date: April 9, 2020
Lab Report No. 21792

Re: Miller Road/Dutch Canyon, MR-1, MR-2, MR-3, DC-1
Samples dated: 03/06/2020; Monitoring Analysis (8); PO#362020PWS

785.242.6166

http://www.h2osystems.com

ND - Not Detected MR-1 MR-1 Detection
NA - Not Applicable Casing Aquifer Limits
* as CaCOs
pH Value 7.42 7.37 NA
Total Dissolved Solids 242 197 1.0 mg/I
Conductivity (um or uS/cm) 336 274 NA
ORP (mV) 207.9 206.4 NA
Chlorine (as Cl) ND ND 0.02 mg/I
Iron (resuspended) 1.81 1.21 0.02 mg/l
Manganese (as Mn) ND ND 0.1 mg/l
Plate Count (colonies/ml) 99 1 NA
Anaerobic Growth (%) 10 <10 NA
Sulfate Reducing Bacteria Negative Negative NA
Fe/Mn Oxidizing Bacteria Positive Positive NA
ATP (cells per ml) Initial 73,000 30,000 NA
ND - Not Detected MR-2 MR-2 Detection
NA - Not Applicable Casing Aquifer Limits
* as CaCOs
pH Value 7.36 7.37 NA
Total Dissolved Solids 202 261 1.0 mg/l
Conductivity (um or uS/cm) 281 362 NA
ORP (mV) 210.6 221.5 NA
Chlorine (as Cl) ND ND 0.02 mg/l
Iron (resuspended) 1.38 1.18 0.02 mg/l
Manganese (as Mn) ND ND 0.1 mg/l
Plate Count (colonies/ml) 14 6 NA
Anaerobic Growth (%) <10 <10 NA
Sulfate Reducing Bacteria Negative Negative NA
Fe/Mn Oxidizing Bacteria Positive Positive NA
ATP (cells per ml) Initial 39,000 41,000 NA

21792.w.pw.m.MillerRoad.MR1.MR2.MR3.DC1

Page 2 of 7




Water Systems Engineering, Inc. 785.242.6166 http://www.h2osystems.con
ND - Not Detected MR-3 MR-3 Detection
NA - Not Applicable Casing Aquifer Limits
* as CaCOs

pH Value 7.41 7.39 NA

Total Dissolved Solids 217 214 1.0 mgl/l

Conductivity (um or pS/cm) 301 297 NA

ORP (mV) 214.9 215.5 NA

Chlorine (as CI) ND ND 0.02 mg/I

Iron (resuspended) 1.91 1.32 0.02 mg/l

Manganese (as Mn) 0.05 0.02 0.1 mg/l

Plate Count (colonies/ml) 2 1 NA

Anaerobic Growth (%) <10 <10 NA

Sulfate Reducing Bacteria Negative Negative NA

Fe/Mn Oxidizing Bacteria Positive Negative NA

ATP (cells per ml) Initial 28,000 39,000 NA
ND - Not Detected DC-1 DC-1 Detection
NA - Not Applicable Casing Aquifer Limits
* as CaCOs3

pH Value 1.35 LAT NA

Total Dissolved Solids 184 1657 1.0 mg/I

Conductivity (um or uS/cm) 255 218 NA

ORP (mV) 221.2 219.3 NA

Chlorine (as Cl) ND ND 0.02 mg/l

Iron (resuspended) 14.5 0.62 0.02 mg/l

Manganese (as Mn) ND ND 0.1 mgl/l

Plate Count (colonies/ml) 16 6 NA

Anaerobic Growth (%) 10 <10 NA

Sulfate Reducing Bacteria Negative Negative NA

Fe/Mn Oxidizing Bacteria Positive Positive NA

ATP (cells per ml) Initial 47 M 34,000 NA

21792.w.pw.m.MillerRoad.MR1.MR2.MR3.DC1

Page 3 of 7




Water Systems Engineering, Inc. 785.242.6166 http://www.h20systems.com

Microscopic Evaluation:

MR-1 Casing: Heavy visible bacterial activity, heavy crystalline debris, very low numbers
of Protozoa, very low plant particulate, low iron oxide, moderate iron
oxide entrained biomass with moderate numbers of Gallionella.

MR-1 Aquifer: Heavy to excessive visible bacterial activity, very low crystalline debiris,
very low iron oxide, low iron oxide entrained biomass with very low
numbers of Gallionella.

MR-2 Casing: Heavy visible bacterial activity, low crystalline debris, low iron oxide,
heavy iron oxide entrained biomass with large numbers of Gallionella.

MR-2 Aquifer: Heavy to excessive visible bacterial activity, very low crystalline debris,
very low plant particulate and fiber matter, very low iron oxide, moderate
iron oxide entrained biomass with very low numbers of Gallionella.

MR-3 Casing: Heavy to excessive visible bacterial activity, very low plant particulate, low
iron oxide, moderate iron oxide entrained biomass with very low to low
numbers of Gallionella.

MR-3 Aquifer: Heavy to excessive visible bacterial activity, very low plant particulate,
very low iron oxide, moderate iron oxide entrained biomass.

DC-1 Casing: Heavy visible bacterial activity, very low crystalline debris, heavy
multicellular activity, very low plant particulate, heavy iron oxide, heavy
iron oxide entrained biomass with large numbers Crenothrix, low numbers
of Gallionella, and very low numbers of Leptothrix.

DC-1 Aquifer: Heavy visible bacterial activity, very low numbers of Protozoa, very low to
low plant particulate, low iron oxide, moderate iron oxide entrained
biomass with moderate numbers of Gallionella.

Observations:

Chemical analyses of samples from Municipal PWS well Nos. MR-1, MR-2, MR-3, and DC-3
noted similar chemical results between the wells, as well as between casing and aquifer sample
pairs. A near neutral pH was recorded in each sample with values ranging from 7.17 pH to 7.42
pH. Moderate levels of total dissolved solids (TDS) were found in the samples and values
generally decreased with pumping. This suggests that mineral accumulation and chemical
concentration is occurring within the well column. The sample from well MR-2 was the exception
which saw TDS readings increase from 202 mg/l to 261 mg/l with pumping. Oxidation reduction
potentials (ORP) were slightly elevated and oxidative, trending toward precipitation and
development of metallic oxide scales withing the well.

Resuspended iron, which accounts for iron that has been chemically or biologically mobilized,
was elevated in each well. In each sample pair, concentrations decreased with pumping. Each
Miller Road casing and aquifer sample contained resuspended iron in concentrations above 1.0
mg/l, which is the threshold of concern for iron related fouling. The Dutch Canyon sample
contained an excessive 14.5 mg/l of resuspended iron in the casing which decreased to 0.62

21792.w.pw.m.MillerRoad.MR1.MR2.MR3.DC1 Page 4 of 7



Water Systems Engineering, Inc. 785.242.6166 http://www.h20osystems.com
p y

mg/l in the aquifer. The elevated levels of resuspended iron coincided with elevated rates of
occurrence of iron bacteria in each casing sample. Manganese, an element that behaves very
similar to iron, was absent from every well except MR-1, which contained 0.05 mg/l in the casing
and 0.02 mg/l in the aquifer. The presence of manganese is most likely from formation influence
and may increase the probability of metallic oxide scale accumulation within the well.

Biologic analyses began by obtaining heterotrophic plate counts (HPC) for each sample, a
method of estimating the number of living, culturable heterotrophic bacteria in the water.
Numbers were generally low and seven of the eight submitted samples had counts with sixteen
or less colony forming units. The MR-1 casing sample grew ninety-nine colony forming units.

Andesine triphosphate (ATP) testing, a means of quantifying the total number of bacteria
present, found average ATP levels in the Miller Road wells and excessive ATP levels in the
Dutch Canyon well. MR-1 exhibited 73,000 cells per milliliter (cpm) in the casing and 30,000
cpm in the aquifer. MR-2 had 39,000 cpm in the casing with 41,000 in the aquifer. MR-3
contained 28,000 cpm in the casing and 39,000 cpm in the aquifer. DC-1 exhibited 4.7 million
cpm in the casing and 34,000 cpm in the aquifer. As a point of reference, active potable water
wells typically exhibit ATP values between 10,000 and 70,000 cpm for an active well sample,
with values in excess of 100,000 cpm generally indicating biofouling.

Anaerobic growth, as an indicator of a more advanced bacterial population, contributed less
than ten percent of total growth in all samples except for the casings from MR-1 and DC-1.
These wells exhibited anaerobic growth at ten percent of the total population, which is still
relatively low and may correlate to the increased ATP values also seen in these samples.
Sulfate reducing bacteria, a secondary indicator of anaerobic growth, were not found in any of
the wells.

Gallionella, an iron oxidizing bacterium, were found in every sample except the aquifer of MR-3.
Crenothrix and Leptothrix were seen along with Gallionella in well DC-1. These bacteria utilize
iron as an energy source and secrete an iron-oxy-hydroxide byproduct. This secretion is often
responsible for accumulations of iron oxide in wells and piping systems, as the distinctive stalks
the bacteria produce act to form a mat that rapidly clogs well screens and pump intakes. These
secreted stalks are often shed during cycling of the well, resulting in surges of red water and
spikes in total iron readings. In addition to fouling concerns, Gallionella are a chief form of
microbial induced corrosion. In its attachment to iron bearing surfaces, Gallionella pits the metal
to secure the iron necessary for energy, therefore, all iron bearing structures, including stainless
steel, are susceptible to this form of pitting.

Microscopic evaluation of the samples identified heavy to excessive amounts of visible bacterial
activity in every well and subsequently every casing and aquifer sample. Low levels of iron
oxide were observed in the casing samples from the three Miller Road wells. These levels
decreased in the corresponding aquifer samples. Moderate levels of iron oxide entrained
biomass were also seen in each Miller Road well. The single Dutch Canyon well exhibited
heavy amounts of iron oxide and iron oxide entrained biomass in the casing which decreased
slightly with pumping.

Low amounts of plant particulate matter were observed in every well for which samples were

submitted. This kind of occurrence is most likely related to the natural recharge conditions
associated with the aquifer.

21792.w.pw.m.MillerRoad.MR1.MR2.MR3.DC"1 Page 5 of 7



Water Systems Engineering, Inc. 785.242.6166 http://www.h20systems.com

Multicellular activity was noted in wells MR-1 and DC-1. Very low numbers of protozoa were
seen in the casing sample from well MR-1 while heavy amounts of protozoa were seen in the
casing and aquifer samples from well DC-1. Nematodes were also present in well DC-1.
Protozoa are single-celled eukaryotic organisms present in water. Protozoa are most often
associated with surface water bodies, indicating large, diverse, and mature microbiological
communities. Protozoa occurrence is a concern as some are parasitic and some, like Giardia
and Cryptosporidium, are pathogenic. Some very small Protozoa (ciliates) are occasionally
found in aquifer systems, but are still suspected of some type of surface water or near surface
infiltration. Nematodes are a multicellular organism often referred to as a microscopic worm.
Nematodes inhabit a broad range of ecosystems, including fresh and salt water environments,
but are mainly found in shallow soil settings. Nematodes have a very distinctive alimentary
canal which aids in their identification. Many Nematodes are considered pathogenic. A number
of intestinal diseases affecting human beings are attributed to Nematodes including ascariasis,
trichuriasis and hookworm disease. In public water supplies, standard treatment and disinfection
procedures should aid in control of the bacteria in its planktonic form. The presence of these
organisms may indicate a breach in the well column or at the well head.

Interpretations:

Municipal PWS wells MR-1, MR-2, MR-3, DC-1 belonging to the City of Scappoose, Oregon
were all reported to have exhibited some reduction in performance. The data collected by the
lab indicates that each well is experiencing some degree of biofouling with increased
mobilization of iron. The sizes of the resident bacterial populations in wells MR-1, MR-2, and
MR-3 are relatively normal, but visible bacterial activity and heavy levels of observed biomass
indicate a very active microbiological community. Resuspended iron levels above 1 mg/l in the
casing and aquifer samples for the three Miller Road wells reiterate the possibility of biofouling
as microorganisms work to consume iron from exposed surfaces. The iron oxy hydroxide biofilm
produced by the identified iron oxidizing bacteria is likely clogging portions of the well screen,
causing the reported decrease in specific capacity. It is possible that the bacteria have migrated
past the well screen and into the surround filter pack and formation in wells MR-2 and MR-3 as
suggested by an increase in ATP from the casing to the aquifer samples. Well MR-1 exhibited
large amounts of multicellular life and heavy amounts of crystalline debris. This could indicate a
breach in the well column, erosion of the filter pack and well screen, or a breach at the well
head. The well head and surrounding area should be checked for visible signs of damage.

Well DC-1 shows signs of heavy biofouling, the first of which is an ATP measurement of 4.7
million cells per milliliter in the casing. This number dropped to a more normal level in the
aquifer, so the population is likely currently only occupying the well column. Again, ATP levels
larger than 100,000 cpm usually indicate biofouling, so the level seen in the casing of well DC-1
is extraordinarily high. Resuspended iron was also extremely elevated in the casing sample,
indicating active corrosion caused by Gallionella. The increased ATP in combination with the
observed presence of protozoa may indicate a breach in the well column or at the well head.
The well head and the surrounding area should be carefully checked for signs of damage and
the well column should be inspected by video to ensure no structural damage has occurred. The
reported decrease in well performance is likely due to clogging caused by a buildup of biofilm on
the well screen and pump intake. Iron oxide scale may also be inhibiting performance.

Due to the elevated protozoa presence in Well DC-1, further evaluation of the well head, surface

seal, and overall structural integrity is advised. Additionally, the well should be removed from
active use and at a minimum, disinfected prior to a return to service.

21792.w.pw.m.MillerRoad.MR1.MR2.MR3.DC1 Page 6 of 7



Water Systems Engineering, Inc. 785.242.6166 http://www.h20systems.com

It was reported that the wells were each chemically treated three years ago, however, no
mention of mechanical cleaning efforts was noted. With iron fouling such as indicated in these
current tests, mechanical cleaning techniques including brushing and surging, are important
aspects of successful rehabilitation efforts. With regards to iron bacteria, brushing and
subsequent evacuation of the well prior to chemical treatment is necessary. A review of
previous treatment efforts as well as an evaluation of current treatment efficiency of the
produced water is advised prior to developing a maintenance approach for the sampled wells.

If you have any questions regarding the data or information presented, please contact our office.

Madison Green
Geoscientist

Michael Schnieders, PG, PH-GW
Hydrogeologist

21792.w.pw.m.MillerRoad.MR1.MR2.MR3.DC1 Page 7 of 7



~ CITY OF SCAPPOOSE

May 2020

Sunqu Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursrqu Friday Sc:’rt{rf{g}{w
1 2
3 4 5 6 7 8 9
City Council 7pm
10 n 12 13 14 15 16
Planning
Commission
meeting 7pm
| 17 18 19 20 21 22 | 23
City Council 7pm | |
24/31 25 26 27 28 29 30
City Offices Budget Budget - Budget
Closed ~ Committee Committee . Committee
Memorial Day @ meeting, ' meeting, meeting,
- 5:30 p.m. | 5:30 p.m. 1 5:30 p.m.
‘ (if needed) (if needed)

L
@
g
J—



Monday

~ CITY OF SCAPPOOSE

Tuesday

June 2020

Wednesday

Sunday

1
City Council 7pm

2

3

7 Thursdqy

4

14

15

16

10

11

12

|
|

Friday ]
6

Saturday

13

Household Hazardous |
Waste Collection Event |

Transfer Station 8am -
2pm

17

18 EDC ~ noon

Park & Rec

Committee
Cépm

19

20

21

22

City Council 7pm
*Please note
date*

24

25

26

27

28

29




	AGENDA May 18, 2020
	1
	ANX1-19-ZC1-19-SB1-19 City Council Staff Report for first reading
	ORD 890 Annexation of SE Maple Street property
	Exhibit A - Legal Description
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	Exhibit B - PC Staff Report FINAL 5-14-2020
	3-1
	4
	5
	6
	7



